# Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2015

# Fermentable Non-Digestible Dietary Fiber and Bioactive Compounds Affect Aging and Fat Deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans

Chenfei Gao Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations Part of the Life Sciences Commons

#### **Recommended** Citation

Gao, Chenfei, "Fermentable Non-Digestible Dietary Fiber and Bioactive Compounds Affect Aging and Fat Deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans" (2015). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 2424. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations/2424

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

## FERMENTABLE NON-DIGESTIBLE DIETARY FIBER AND BIOACTIVE COMPOUNDS AFFECT AGING AND FAT DEPOSITION IN *CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS*

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The School of Nutrition & Food Sciences

by Chenfei Gao B.Sc. Hebei University of Science & Technology, 2006 M.Sc. Louisiana State University, 2011 December 2015

- To my parents Mr. Yunshen Gao and Mrs. Zhenhua Chen: without your sacrifices any of this would not be possible.
- To my wife Ms. Tian Shu, the center of my life: thank you for being my best friend.
- To my Aunt Ms. Yuncai Gao: for her encouragement, support, and suggestions.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost I would like to thank my advisor Dr. Jolene Zheng for kindly providing me the opportunity of my Ph.D. degree. From day one, she has been a wonderful mentor and a great advisor. I greatly appreciate her patience, encouragement and supports. I am deeply indebted to Dr. Jack N. Losso for his support, advice, guidance, and patience throughout my graduate studies. I enjoyed the many discussions we had. I am very grateful to Dr. John W. Finley for all his support and expertise throughout the project.

I wish to express my most sincere and humble gratitude to Dr. Michael J. Keenan as my Graduate committee. He is wonderful, caring, and compassionate. I am also thankful for the Dean's Representative, Dr. Adam T. Melvin, for being the witness in the completion of the dissertation. I also appreciate his wonderful suggestions for my study.

Thanks to Mr. Mingming Wang, my lab mate, for helping me in my projects. I am thankful to all the lab student workers, Michael King, Jason King, Zach Fitzpatrick, Cindy Kim, Mai Phuongmai Tran, Jenny Nguyen, Melanie Kaltakjian, Tuan Cao, and Nancy Mai for helping in research. I would like to thank Dr. Mark LeBlanc and Ms. Tammy Smith (Agricultural Chemistry Department, College of Agriculture, Louisiana State University) for their assistance on PWB, oats, and wheat bran samples preparation. I also would like to thank Ms. Anne Raggio for her technical support and help in performing bacteria DNA extraction and PCR study.

The projects received support from LSU AgCenter, grants awarded to Dr. Jolene Zheng by LA BoR (LEQSF(2010-13)-RD-B-02), ConAgra Foods<sup>®</sup> Inc., ConAgra Mills<sup>TM</sup>, and PepsiCo Inc. The nematode strains used were provided by the Caenorhabditis Genetics Center (University of Minnesota, MN), which is funded by the NIH National Center for Research Resources (NCRR).

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABSTRACT	x
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION 1.1 General Introduction	1 1

CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
2.1 Background of obesity	6
2.1.1 Prevalence of obesity	6
2.1.2 Obesity related health issues	7
2.1.3 Causes of obesity	8
2.1.4 Obesity treatments	9
2.1.5 Treat obesity by modified diet 1	0
2.2 Health benefits of resistant starch and dietary fiber 1	12
2.2.1 Resistant starch	12
2.2.2 β-glucans 1	13
2.2.3 SCFAs and gut microbiota 1	4
2.2.4 SCFAs 1	17
2.2.4.1 Butyrate	17
2.2.4.2 Acetate	17
2.2.4.3 Propionate 1	8
2.3 Prowashonupana barley 1	8
2.4 Oats 1	9
2.5 Wheat bran	21
2.6 C. elegans model	22
2.7 Insulin signaling pathway and related genes in C. elegans	25
2.8 sir-2.1 extends lifespan	27
2.9 Gene regulation of satiety signals	29
2.10 Quantitative real-time PCR for DNA and mRNA analysis	30
2.10.1 Taqman real-time PCR method for C. elegans mRNA analysis	30
2.10.2 SYBR green real-time PCR method for gut microbiota DNA analysis	31
2.11 Reference	33

CHAPTER	3:	SCFAS	AFFECTED	THE	LIFESPAN	AND	INTESTINAL	FAT	
DEPOSITIO	)N I	N C. ELE	GANS MODE	L					51
3.1 Introduc	tion		•••••						51

3.2 Materials and methods	53
3.2.1 E. coli OP50 culture	53
3.2.2 <i>C. elegans</i> culture	
3.2.3 Resistant starch treatment and pharyngeal pumping rate	55
3.2.4 Nile red staining for fluorescence microscopy	55
3.2.5 Statistical analyses	
3.3 Results	56
3.3.1 Effect of sodium butyrate on the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	
3.3.2 Effect of sodium acetate on the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	58
3.3.3 Effect of sodium propionate on the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	60
3.3.4 Effect of tributyrin on the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	61
3.3.5 Feeding of SCFAs reduced the fluorescence intensity of Nile red positive	
intestinal fat deposition of <i>C. elegans</i>	63
3.3.6 Amylose starch sustained the PPR	65
3.4 Discussion	66
3.5 References	69

## CHAPTER 4: *PROWASHONUPANA* BARLEY DIETARY FIBER REDUCES BODY FAT AND INCREASES INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN *CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS*

MODEL	72
4.1 Introduction	72
4.2 Materials and methods	76
4.2.1 Culture of <i>E. coli</i> (OP50)	76
4.2.2 Culture of <i>C. elegans</i>	76
4.2.3 Diet composition	77
4.2.4 Pharyngeal movement (pumping rate, PPR)	78
4.2.5 Fluorescence microscopy	78
4.2.6 Quantitative RT-PCR	79
4.2.6.1 Reagents	79
4.2.6.2 RNA isolation	79
4.2.6.3 Quantitative RT-PCR	80
4.2.7 Statistical analysis	81
4.3 Results	81
4.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)	82
4.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)	83
4.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression	85
4.3.4 Principal component analyses (PCA)	86
4.4 Discussion	87
4.5 Conclusions	90
4.6 References	91

CHAPTER 5: THE EFFECT OF OATS ON LIPID METABOLISM AND INS	SULIN
SENSITIVITY IN THE CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS MODEL	
5.1 Introduction	

5.2 Methods and materials	
5.2.1 Culture of <i>E. coli</i> (OP50)	
5.2.2 Culture of <i>C. elegans</i>	
5.2.3 Diet composition	
5.2.4 Pharyngeal movement (pumping rate, PPR)	
5.2.5 Fluorescence microscopy	
5.2.6 Reagents	
5.2.7 RNA isolation	
5.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR	
5.2.9 Statistics	
5.3 Results	
5.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)	
5.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)	
5.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression	
5.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)	
5.4 Discussion	
5.5 References	

FAT DEPOSITION ON CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS MODEL1236.1 Introduction1236.2 Materials and methods1256.2.1 Culture of E.coli, OP501256.2.2 Culture of C. elegans1256.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation1266.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1266.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1266.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	CHAPTER 6: THE EFFECT OF WHEAT BRAN BYPRODUCT ON LIFESPAN AND	
6.1 Introduction    123      6.2 Materials and methods    125      6.2.1 Culture of <i>E.coli</i> , OP50    125      6.2.2 Culture of <i>C. elegans</i> 125      6.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation    126      6.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)    126      6.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)    126      6.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR    127      6.2.7 RNA extraction    127      6.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR    128      6.2.9 Statistical Analyses    129      6.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)    129      6.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)    129      6.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)    133      6.4 Discussion    134	FAT DEPOSITION ON CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS MODEL	123
6.2 Materials and methods    125      6.2.1 Culture of <i>E.coli</i> , OP50    125      6.2.2 Culture of <i>C. elegans</i> 125      6.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation    126      6.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)    126      6.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)    126      6.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR    127      6.2.7 RNA extraction    127      6.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR    128      6.2.9 Statistical Analyses    129      6.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)    129      6.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)    129      6.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression    133      6.4 Discussion    134      6.5 References    138	6.1 Introduction	123
6.2.1 Culture of <i>E.coli</i> , OP50	6.2 Materials and methods	125
6.2.2 Culture of C. elegans1256.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation1266.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1266.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1266.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.1 Culture of <i>E.coli</i> , OP50	125
6.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation.1266.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1266.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1266.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.2 Culture of <i>C. elegans</i>	125
6.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1266.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1266.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation	126
6.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1266.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)	126
6.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR.1276.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)	126
6.2.7 RNA extraction1276.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR	127
6.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR1286.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.7 RNA extraction	127
6.2.9 Statistical Analyses1296.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR	128
6.3 Results1296.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.2.9 Statistical Analyses	129
6.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)1296.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.3 Results	129
6.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)1296.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)	129
6.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression1326.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)	129
6.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)1336.4 Discussion1346.5 References138	6.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression	132
6.4 Discussion    134      6.5 References    138	6.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)	133
6.5 References	6.4 Discussion	134
	6.5 References	138

CHAPTER 7: G	UT MIC	CROBIOTA	IN WILD TYPE	CAENORHA	BDITIS EL	EGANS:	
STIMULATION	BY	MEDIA	CONTAINING	DIETARY	FIBER	FROM	
PROWASHONU	PANA B	ARLEY					141
7.1 Introduction.							141
7.2 Materials and	method	S					143

7.2.1 C. elegans preparation	
7.2.2 Anaerobic bacteria culture	
7.2.3 Genomic DNA extraction	
7.2.4 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) assay	
7.2.5 Statistical analysis	
7.3 Results	
7.4 Discussion	
7.5 Conclusions	
7.6 References	
CHAPTER 8: CONCLUSIONS	
APPENDIX:	
Permission letter for using published manuscripts in dissertation	
VITA	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Average nutrient content of hullness barley, oat groats, and <i>Prowashonupana</i> barley. 18
Table 2: Macronutrient content of whole grain oat flour and oat bran. 21
Table 3 Chemical composition of wheat flour and wheat bran samples (H and Prakash, 2002). 22
Table 4 Information of C. elegans strains
Table 5 The effect of SCFAs on the mean survival time of Bristol wild type C. elegans N2 58
Table 6 The mean survival times of different SCFAs on <i>sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans</i> 60
Table 7 The mean survival times of different SCFAs on daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C.    60
Table 8 The mean survival times of different SCFAs on daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65) IIIC. elegans.62
Table 9 Nutritional data of <i>Prowashonupana</i> barley (Sustagrain <sup>®</sup> Barley <sup>1</sup> ), reported on a 100g basis
Table 10 PWB diet composition 78
Table 11 Diet ingredient composition
Table 12 Composition of oats (Quaker <sup>®</sup> Oats)*
Table 13 Oats treatment composition 102
Table 14 Diet ingredient composition
Table 15 PCA description: factor 1 and factor 2 110
Table 16 Quantitative real-time PCR primers used to profile intestinal samples

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Prevalence of Self-Reported Obesity among U.S. Adults by State and Territory, BRFSS, 2013. Source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Systems, CDC	7
Figure 2 Structure of β-D-glucan	14
Figure 3 Structure of Avenanthramide.	21
Figure 4 Life cycle diagram of <i>C. elegans</i> at 22°C.	23
Figure 5 Summary of the insulin signaling pathway in <i>C. elegans</i> .	26
Figure 6 Regulation of DAF-16/FOXO by SIR-2.1/SIRT1 in C. elegans	28
Figure 7 The principle of Taqman real-time PCR.	31
Figure 8 The principle of SYBR Green real-time PCR.	32
Figure 9 Sodium butyrate modified the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	57
Figure 10 Sodium Acetate modified the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	59
Figure 11 Sodium propionate modified the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i>	61
Figure 12 Tributyrin modified the lifespan of <i>C. elegans</i> .	63
Figure 13 Amylose starch sustained the PPR	66
Figure 14 The procedures of animal culture, DNA or RNA extraction, and qRT-PCR in <i>C. elegans</i> model organism (http://www.gene-quantification.de/chemistry.html).	81
Figure 15 Intestinal fat deposition was significantly reduced in the <i>C. elegans</i> (N2) that received the PWB (0.5% or 3%) compared to a control group.	82
Figure 16 IFD was reduced in mutant <i>C. elegans</i>	83
Figure 17 PPR of <i>C. elegans</i> was reduced in all groups with aging	84
Figure 18 PWB dose-dependently altered mRNA expressions of cpt-1, cpt-2, ckr-1, and gcy-8 in the <i>C. elegans</i> model	85
Figure 19 Principal component analyses (PCA) showed the relationships of the lipid metabolic related mRNAs (ckr-1, cpt-1, cpt-2, and gcy-8), PPR slope, and IFD with two strong factors.	86

Figure 20 Nile Red staining of the intestinal fat deposition in <i>C. elegans</i> post Oat feeding in the absence or presence of 2% glucose
Figure 21 Oat feeding affected pharyngeal pumping rate, a surrogate marker of lifespan in <i>C. elegans</i>
Figure 22 Oat feeding altered gene expression of <i>ckr-1</i> , <i>gcy-8</i> , <i>cpt-1</i> , and <i>cpt-2</i> by qRT-PCR in <i>C. elegans</i>
Figure 23 Scatterplot of principle component analysis (PCA) showing the two strong factors in relationships with <i>ckr-1</i> , <i>cpt-1</i> , <i>cpt-2</i> , <i>gcy-8</i> , PPR slope, and IFD
Figure 24 The Nile Red stained fluorescence intensity of the <i>C. elegans</i> intestinal fat deposition
Figure 25 Pharyngeal movement was sustained by the WBP treatment in C. elegans
Figure 26 The effect of WBP feeding on the mRNA <i>ckr-1</i> , <i>gcy-8</i> , <i>cpt-1</i> , and <i>cpt-2</i> expression
Figure 27 Principal component analysis
Figure 28 Standard curves for Lactobacillus spp., Clostridium Cluster XIVa and XIVb, Bacteroides-Prevotella group, Bifidobacteriumgenus and E. coli (ATCC 25922)
Figure 29 Total population by colony-forming units (cfu/ml) of the tested bacteria in the wild type <i>C. elegans</i>
Figure 30 PWB (1%) treatment increased the total DNA of the tested bacteria (P<0.05). The increase of the anaerobic bacteria was in the following order: <i>Clostridium</i> Cluster <i>XIVa and XIVb</i> (633%) > <i>Bacteroides-Prevotella group</i> (472%) > <i>Bifidobacterium genus</i> (250%)

#### ABSTRACT

Overweight and obesity have been imposing \$147 billion a year to the health care system in the United States. Limited medications are available in the market with side effects. Surgical treatments are second-line obesity treatments. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) produced from the fermentable resistant starch improves the secretion of satiety hormones peptide YY (PYY) and glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) from L-endocrine cells of cecum and colon. We hypothesized that consumption of fermentable non-digestible dietary fiber and bioactive compounds will increase insulin sensitivity, reduce body fat, and improve healthspan in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*), and hyperglycemia (2% glucose) that may cause insulin resistance and impair lipid metabolism will attenuate these effects. Wild type C. elegans N2 or sir-2.1(ok434)IV, daf-16(mgDf50)I, and daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65)III mutants were used. The control animals were fed with *E. coli* OP50. Experimental groups were fed with additional treatments: butyrate (0.3mM, 0.6mM), sodium acetate (5mM, 50mM), sodium propionate (7mM), or tributyrin (0.5mM, 3mM); PWB, oats or wheat bran (0.5%, 1.0%, or 3.0% w/v) with or without additional 2% glucose. SCFAs increased the lifespan of N2 and daf-16(mgDf50)I, but reduced lifespan in the daf-16/daf-2 deficient and sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutants. PWB or wheat bran sustained the pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) in N2, sir-2.1(ok434)IV, daf-16(mgDf50)I, and daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III. The N2, daf-16, or sir-2.1 mutant increased the PPR following oat consumption. This increase persisted in the presence of glucose at a low dose in daf-16 or daf-16/daf-2 mutant. The Nile red stained intestinal fat deposition (IFD) was reduced by butyrate (0.3, 0.6mM), acetate (100mM), propionate (0.3mM), and tributyrin (0.1, 1mM) in N2; and was increased in sir-2.1 mutant. PWB reduced IFD in N2, sir-2.1 or daf-16 mutants. Hyperglycaemia attenuated the effects on IFD in N2 or daf-16/daf-2 mutant. Oat-feeding

decreased IFD in N2, and *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutant with or without hyperglycaemia. Wheat bran reduced IFD in N2, and in *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutants without hyperglycemia, while hyperglycemia increased IFD in *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*. In summary, PWB, oats, wheat bran, and SCFAs reduced the IFD and improved the healthspan in *C. elegans*, and these effects were mediated by the *sir-2.1, daf-2*, or *daf-2/daf-16* pathways.

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 General Introduction**

Obesity are affecting more than one-third of the adults (34.9% or 78.6 million) and 17% of the youth in the United States. Obesity is related to the increasing rate of chronic diseases including cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, fatty liver diseases, atherosclerosis, hypertension, insulin resistance, stroke, asthma, sleep apnea, osteoarthritis, neuro-degeneration, gall-bladder disease and cancers (Hotamisligil et al., 1994). The increasing prevalence of obesity associated diseases is responsible for the increased medical cost in the U.S. The estimated annual medical cost of obesity in the U.S. was \$147 billion in 2008; the medical costs of the obese people were \$1429 (estimated to be 42%) greater than normal weight people in 2006 (Finkelstein et al., 2009).

Anorectic agents and other anti-obesity drugs have been available for more than half a century (Snow et al., 2005). The systematic side effects and safety concerns of obesity drugs, however, have limited their clinical use. For example, The side effects of anti-obesity drugs include: Exenatide causes headache, nausea, and vomiting (Fineman et al., 2004), Sibutramine raises blood pressure, and Orlistat is associated with gastrointestinal in origin (Maahs et al., 2006). Surgical treatments also have been used as treatment interventions (Snow et al., 2005, Sinha et al., 2015, Zheng et al., 2010), but the high cost, potential risk, and weight regain have limited the utilization of surgery (Cirocchi et al., 2013). Therefore, safe and effective obesity treatments such as functional foods are in a growing demand. Functional foods provide medical benefits beyond their essential function as nutrients (Bray and Greenway, 2007, Hotamisligil et al., 1994). For example, the consumption of higher amounts of complex carbohydrate can lower

the prevalence of obesity, coronary heart disease, type 2diabetes, and cancers (Anderson, 2004, Hauner et al., 2012). Dietary resistant starches (RS) present an emerging solution to obesity. Gut bacteria have been demonstrated to ferment RS, high-amylose maize (Tachon et al., 2013).

Average daily consumption of dietary fiber in the U.S. is currently 3 to 10 g/day, 4 to 13 fold less than recommended (Goldring, 2004, Anderson and Akanji, 1991). RS commonly exists in foods such as legumes, potato, and whole grains. RS can escape digestion by the digestive enzymes in small intestine and can be fermented by some intestinal anaerobic bacteria in large intestine as energy source for these bacteria and produce short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs, C2-C6) which have been demonstrated as component in the maintenance of health (Keenan et al., 2007, Fuentes-Zaragoza et al., 2010).

Dietary RS dilute energy density, reduce body fat, increase gut satiety hormones, elevate fat oxidation and lower plasma cholesterol/triglyceride (Dethlefsen et al., 2007, Keenan et al., 2006, Zhou et al., 2006). Feeding *C. elegans* with amylose starch significantly reduced the fluorescent intensity of Nile red staining for the intestinal fat deposition (IFD) and increased the locomotion of *C. elegans* (Zheng et al., 2010). The endogenous compounds filtered from the microflora of cecal contents of mice fed high amylose starch showed similar trends to reduce the fluorescent intensity of the Nile red positive IFD and to increase locomotion in *C. elegans*. Keenan et al. has demonstrated that RS feeding to rodents reduces abdominal fat significantly (Keenan et al., 2007). Zhou *et al.* has demonstrated that total glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and total peptide-YY (PYY) in rats fed a RS diet were significantly increased compared with controls; Plasma PYY and gene transcription for PYY in the cecum from rats were significantly increased (Zhou *et al.*, 2008). RS can also augment food digestion and GI motility, stimulate the growth of beneficial microorganisms in the colon and maintain bowel health (Burnell et al., 2005,

Zheng et al., 2010). Furthermore, RS promote insulin sensitivity, boost mitochondrial function, and enhance hosts' health (Zhou et al., 2008, Tachon et al., 2013, Keenan et al., 2013, Dethlefsen et al., 2007, Flint, 2012, Forsberg et al., 2014, Sekirov et al., 2010).

Endogenous SCFAs are major products from the fermentation of RS by intestinal anaerobic bacteria. The endogenous SCFAs produced mainly include acetate, propionate, and butyrate (Haarman and Knol, 2006, Duncan et al., 2003, Louis et al., 2007, Dethlefsen et al., 2007, Sekirov et al., 2010). These SCFAs contribute to normal large-bowel functions including the stimulation of fluid, the absorption of electrolyte and the modulation of muscular contraction by the perfusion of visceral circulation (Topping and Clifton, 2001). SCFAs produced by gut bacteria from the fermentable RS also increase the secretion of satiety hormones PYY and GLP-1 from L-endocrine cells of the cecum and colon (Keenan et al., 2013, Zheng et al., 2008).

Barley is the fourth most important cultivated foodstuff. It contains 62-77 % starch (w/w) which is composed of 25-35% amylose starch with 3-5% RS<sub>3</sub> and  $\beta$ -glucan (Asare et al., 2011, Vasanthan and Bhatty, 1998), a mixture that provides a distinctive amylose–amylopectin interaction (Tang et al., 2001, Lifschitz et al., 2002, Behall et al., 2005, Rendell et al., 2005, Dongowski et al., 2002). Barley also contains high levels of functional lipids, such as, total phytosterols (1.2-9.6% of barley oil) and total tocotrienols (0.3-0.6% of barley oil) which are 6-12 fold higher than in palm oil (0.05%) and 4-8 folds higher than in rice bran oil (0.08%) (Moreau et al., 2007). Barley also provides vitamins, trace minerals, and bioactive compounds (Inglett et al., 2011, Cui and Wang, 2009). In addition, there are many phenolic compounds in barley, such as benzoic and cinnamic acid derivatives, proanthocyanidins, quinones, flavonols, chalcones, flavones, flavanones, and amino phenolic compounds (Holtekjølen et al., 2008, Verardo et al., 2008). These phenolic compounds in barley serve as natural antioxidants with

antiradical and antiproliferative potentials for disease prevention and health promotion (Madhujith and Shahidi, 2007).

The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) is a multicellular eukaryote with small size and short lifespan. *C. elegans* conserves 65% of the genes associated with human disease and 35% of genes homologue to human (Villegas et al., 2008). The *C. elegans* model is considered as an convenient organism to screen different sources of prebiotics and pharmaceutical compounds and study human diseases or study of aging and test of the therapeutic compounds that may curtail aging (Zheng et al., 2010, Finley et al., 2013, Zheng et al., 2014, Zheng and Greenway, 2012). *C. elegans* is a model organism that is less expensive, more time-efficient, and a convenient option for initial high-throughput screening and detailed mechanism research (Villegas et al., 2008).

Insulin/Insulin-like growth factor Signaling (IIS) pathway is a primary mechanism for controlling metabolic physiology not only in humans, but also in *C. elegans* (Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002). Many components of the IIS pathway are conserved from nematodes to humans (Barbieri et al., 2003, Zheng and Greenway, 2012). Reduction in the activities of the components of the IIS pathway leads to the activation of a series of genes involved in lifespan control, stress tolerance and protein misfolding suppression, collectively resulting in life-span extension (Kenyon, 2010, Lin et al., 1997). dauer formation-2 gene (*daf-2*) *C. elegans* mutants cause fat accumulation and glycogen production in adult (*Burnell et al., 2005, Kimura et al., 1997*). *daf-16* is critical in mediating the downstream insulin signaling pathways and is the major target of the *daf-2* pathway, a homolog of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptors (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Rizki et al., 2011, Von Stetina et al., 2007). 'Aging' has been reported to be related with the downstream effects of IIS pathway (Benedetti et al., 2008).

*C. elegans* has both an aerobic and an anaerobic metabolism, and can survive under a hypoxic condition (Burnell et al., 2005). Oxygen or "hypoxia gradient"-oxygen deprivation diffuses bidirectionally between the intestinal tract and the external environment (Burnell et al., 2005). John Finley, et al in 2013 have demonstrated that high amylose maize RS<sub>2</sub>, legume (Finley et al., 2013), and the endogenous fermentation products from RS reduced the fluorescent intensity of the Nile red positive intestinal fat deposition (IFD) in *C. elegans in vivo* (Zheng et al., 2010, Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Dethlefsen et al., 2007, Flint, 2012, Finley et al., 2013). Our data suggest a possibility that the anaerobic bacteria in the *C. elegans* intestinal tract could ferment dietary fibers. Direct identification of *C. elegans* intestinal microbiota has not been reported. We hypothesize that feeding fermentable dietary fibers to *C. elegans* should closely resemble the effect of colonic fermentation products by the intestinal anaerobic microbiota in the large intestine in rodents or in humans. Likewise, a potential relationship of microbiome with *C. elegans* has been proposed (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013).

The objectives of this study were to determine the effects of consumption of *Prowashonupana* barley (PWB), Oats, or wheat bran byproduct which are rich in fermentable dietary fibers and other bioactive components on the IFD, lifespan, insulin resistance, and hyperglycemia-impaired lipid metabolism using high through-put *C. elegans* model. In addition, a pilot study was performed to investigate whether PWB increases the intestinal anaerobic microbiota in *C. elegans*.

#### **CHAPTER 2: REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### 2.1 Background of obesity

#### 2.1.1 Prevalence of obesity

Obesity is an accumulation of excessive body fat. A popular acceptable definition of obesity is the body mass index (BMI), which is the body weight in kilogram divided by the square of body height in meter, exceeding  $30 \text{kg/m}^2$ . Overweight is defined as a BMI of 25 or higher. Extreme obesity is BMI more than 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. The prevalence disorders of obesity have been increasing at a rapid rate in both developed and developing countries. The obese population is affecting more than one-third of the United States adults aged 18 years and over (34.9% or 78.6 million) and 17% of youth aged 0-17 (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Ogden et al., 2014). The prevalence of obesity distribution map showed that no state in the U.S. has a prevalence of obesity less than 20% (Figure 1). The West had the lowest prevalence of obesity (24.9%), followed by the Northeast (26.5%), the Midwest (30.1%), and the South (30.2%). The States of Mississippi and West Virginia had more than 35% of obesity prevalence. The Louisiana's adult obesity rate in 2014 is 34.9 percent as the fourth highest rate in the nation (Health, 2015). The increasing prevalence of obesity is responsible for the increased medical cost in the U.S. The estimated annual medical cost of obesity in the U.S. was \$147 billion in 2008; the medical costs of the obese people were estimated to be 1,429 (42%) greater than normal weight people in 2006 (Finkelstein et al., 2009). Obesity predisposes to diabetes and/or other health care costs to an even greater extent (Scheen, 2000).



Figure 1 Prevalence of Self-Reported Obesity among U.S. Adults by State and Territory, BRFSS, 2013. Source: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Systems, CDC.

#### 2.1.2 Obesity related health issues

Obesity is associated with an increased risk for developing diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, stroke, osteoarthritis, liver and gallbladder disease, sleep apnea and respiratory problems, and certain types of cancer (WHO, 2000, Must et al., 1999). Obesity also induce to hypertension, hyperlipidemia and hyperinsulinemia/insulin resistance (Kotsis et al., 2010). Additionally, obesity is correlated to impaired glucose tolerance, high levels of circulating insulin, and reduced insulin sensitivity. Obesity and insulin resistance are recognized as the leading causes of type 2 diabetes and the obese people have higher risk factors of insulin resistance than normal weight people (Kadowaki et al., 2003). Moreover, obese people display higher blood pressure levels than normal weight individuals even in the normotensive range; the obesity and hypertensions increase the probabilities of coronary diseases (Kotsis et al., 2010). In

addition, excess weight has a positive relationship with mortality which may differ among racial and ethnic groups (Must et al., 1999). The health risk increase is associated with a relatively small body weight gain, even not marked as obese (Health, 1998).

#### 2.1.3 Causes of obesity

Obesity is a complex and incompletely understood chronic disease. Varieties of factors play roles in obesity including behavior, society, environment, metabolism, and genetic factors. One of the commonly acceptable reasons for obesity is energy imbalance that is energy or calorie intake higher than energy expenditure that a person uses to breathe, circulate blood, digest food, and be physically active (Danforth, 1985). The excess energy will be accumulated as fat or glycogen in the body. Overweight and obesity happen over time when the calories intake is always more than the expenditure. Environment and behavior factors include lack of physical activities, lack of healthy foods, oversized food portions, smoking, and stress associate with overweight and obesity (Health, 1998). Over the last 50 years, there has been a trend of increased intake of calorically dense foods that are high in fat, sugars, and salt but low in vitamins, minerals, and other micronutrients. There also has been a simultaneous trend of decreasing physical activity due to the increasingly sedentary nature of many forms of work, changing modes of transportation, and increasing urbanization (French et al., 2001, Kumanyika, 2001). In addition, family history also influences the amount of fat stored in body because family members may share the similar habits, foods, and similar physical activities. Genes play an important role in the development of obesity; genes determine that some races have higher risk than others. Hormone problems such as underactive thyroid (hypothyroidism), Cushing's syndrome, and polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) may also cause overweigh/obesity (Health, 1998).

#### 2.1.4 Obesity treatments

Obesity is an epidemic chronic disease that requires effective prevention and management in long-term strategies. Although pharmaceutical, medical, and surgical interventions to treat obesity are available, the practical use of these treatments remain rare (Finkelstein et al., 2009). A reduced energy intake through reduced dietary energy density, increased energy expenditure through exercise, lifestyle modification, anorectic agents, other drugs to treat obesity, and bariatric surgery have all been used as treatment interventions (Wirth et al., 2014, Zheng et al., 2010). Anti-obesity pharmaceuticals have limited efficacy on weight loss and the safety concern also curtailed the usage. Two obesity drugs including sibutramine and orlistat have been approved by FDA for long-term use (Bray and Greenway, 2007, Zheng et al., 2010). However, both of them cause side effects. Sibutramine may cause blood pressure increase, dizziness or blurred vision; back pain, dry mouth, headache, nausea, nervousness, etc. Orlistat is associated with embarrassing gastrointestinal side effects such as anal leakage and incontinence. Phentermine is approved as an appetite suppressant to reduce weight for shortterm use. The adverse effects of phentermine include nervousness, vomiting, headache, etc. (Nelson and Gehlert, 2006). Lorcaserin that is another weight-loss drug has side effect of causing headache, dizziness, nausea, anxiety, and pain in muscles (Rankin and Wittert, 2015, Halpern and Halpern, 2015). Liraglutide that is a long-acting glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist has side effects including headache, dizziness, nausea, and tired feeling (Rankin and Wittert, 2015, van Velsen et al., 2014). Another medicine used to manage weight in obese or overweight is Contrave that contains a combination of bupropion and naltrexone (Drugs.com, 2015). Side effects of this medicine is blurred vision, dizziness, nervousness, headache,

tiredness, and irritability (Drugs.com). Other anti-obesity drugs in the U.S. such as benzphetamine, diethylpropion, and phendimetrazine are also associated with side effects (Hampp et al., 2013, Drugs.com, 2015, Cerner Multum, 2013). The weight loss effects of these anti-obesity treatment groups are modest, which reduced body weight less than 5% compared to the placebo groups (Li et al., 2005). Therefore, anti-obesity drugs available in the market are not efficient and safe strategies for treating and preventing obesity.

Extreme obese patients (BMI of 40 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or greater) with obesity-related comorbid conditions could consider surgical intervention. Comorbid conditions include hypertension, impaired glucose tolerance, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and obstructive sleep apnea (Khaodhiar et al., 1999). Lifestyle modification including diet and behavior should always be recommended to all the obese patients. Before surgery, patients should undergo an assessment that includes metabolic, cardiovascular, psychosocial, and dietary details (Wirth et al., 2014). Early mortality rates for Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) range from 0.3% to 1.9% and an evident learning curve for the operator (Snow et al., 2005). Additionally, the cost of such surgeries cannot be covered by insurance. Commonly used surgical methods include sleeve gastrectomy, gastric banding, and gastric bypass (Torres and Rubio, 2011). After bariatric surgery, lifestyle modification is required for weight management.

#### 2.1.5 Treat obesity by modified diet

Obesity is largely preventable through lifestyle modifications which enhance human and animal insulin sensitivity, reduce visceral adiposity, lower triglyceride levels, and reduce the risk of impaired glucose tolerance (Mann, 2000). The lifestyle modifications include reducing the saturated fatty acid and carbohydrate intake, increasing the consumptions of polyunsaturated fatty acid, fruits, vegetables, whole-grain, increasing physical activity, and decreased sedentary activity (Mann, 2000, Kamath et al., 2008). Energy dilution in the diet with fruits, vegetables, and whole grains is considered an suggested approach to manage of body weight because the ample amounts of fiber and water in these food products dilute the energy content per volume of food (USDA, 2010, Darmon et al., 2004). Weight loss in overweight and obese people reduces the risk of diabetes and coronary heart disease, reduces blood pressure and serum triglycerides, increases high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol, and generally results in the total serum cholesterol reduction and low-density lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol (Health, 1998).

Plant source foods or their carbohydrate components have functions in the management and prevention of non-infectious chronic illnesses. The consumption of higher amounts of complex carbohydrate such as whole-grain foods lowers the prevalence of obesity, coronary heart disease, type 2 diabetes, and certain cancers (Anderson, 2004, Hauner et al., 2012). Wholegrain foods are high in RS and dietary fiber, and they are less energy dense compared with refined grain foods. Whole grain foods have components that resist intestinal digestive enzymes, which helps to explain their effectiveness in increasing fecal bulk, an important component of their laxative action (Topping and Clifton, 2001). Previous studies have reported a negative relationship between fiber consumption and the risk of obesity and diabetes (Haenen et al., 2013) since consumption of dietary fiber decreases the accumulation of fat mass, increases insulin sensitivity, and it can enhance feelings of satiety (Haenen et al., 2013). Whole grain cereals contain nutrients and bioactive compounds that have health promoting benefits (Rebello et al., 2014). Additionally, epidemiological studies demonstrated that cereal fiber and whole grain consumption lower the risk factors such as inflammation, insulin resistance, elevated blood pressure, and dyslipidemia, of chronic diseases including obesity, diabetes, and CVD (Rebello et al., 2014). Bioactive compounds from plants, animals, and marine foods have attracted much

attention because of their potential benefits to human health including anti-obesity, antiinflammation, and anti-oxidant properties (Wang et al., 2008, Jayaprakasam et al., 2005). These compounds could be free radical scavengers and that act as potential chemo preventive agents (Rebello et al., 2014, Fardet et al., 2008). Therefore, the consumption of compounds containing RS and dietary fibers may play a positive role in weight management.

#### 2.2 Health benefits of resistant starch and dietary fiber

#### 2.2.1 Resistant starch

Starch is classified as rapidly digestible starch (RDS), slowly digestible starch (SDS) and RS in order to characterize its nutritional property. The RS is a form of dietary fiber. RS exists in several foods such as legumes, potato, and whole grains. RS can escape from digestion by the digestive enzymes in the small intestine and can be fermented by gut microbiota in large intestine as energy source for these bacteria and produce SCFAs (Keenan et al., 2007, Fuentes-Zaragoza et al., 2010). A Dietary Reference Intakes Committee has recommended more research into dietary energy dilution for weight control and weight loss (Health, 1998, Health, 2015). Adding RS to the diet has the effects of diluting dietary energy density and a bulking effect similar to non-fermentable fiber. The RS from whole-grain has shown increased post-prandial satiety in humans (Anderson et al., 2010). Four main types of RS have been identified based on the structure or source (Murphy et al., 2008): RS type 1 (RS<sub>1</sub>) bound by indigestible plant cell walls; found in whole-grains such as beans, grains, and seeds. RS type 2 (RS<sub>2</sub>) that is resistant to digestion in the raw state and under low heat treatment due to its high amylose content. This type of RS is found in potatoes, bananas, plantains, and high amylose corn. RS<sub>2</sub> becomes accessible upon high heating that destroy the starch granulate. RS type 3 ( $RS_3$ ) forms from retrograded amylose and amylopectin during food processing. When some starches are cooked,

cooling them (fridge or freezer) changes the structure and makes it more resistant to digestion; found in cooked and cooled potatoes, grains, bread, cornflakes, and beans. RS type 4 ( $RS_4$ ) doesn't occur naturally and has been chemically modified. RS has a low calorific (8 kJ/g) value compared with fully digestible starch (15 kJ/g) (Fuentes-Zaragoza et al., 2010). Fermentable RS dilute the dietary energy in the diet and increases energy expenditure and plasma levels of PYY, increases GLP-1, and attenuates body fat accretion in rodent models (Keenan et al., 2006, Zhou et al., 2006). RS also provides health benefits in reducing body fat in rodents and humans (Zhou et al., 2006). It may lower plasma lipid levels and triglyceride concentration, especially plasma cholesterol, by delaying gastric emptying, thereby limiting hepatic lipogenesis owing to less glucose as substrate and less insulin as an activator (Higgins et al., 2004). RS has been shown to promote colon function by alleviating infectious diarrhea and promoting colonic mineral absorption due to the interactions between RS and the microflora (Keenan et al., 2013). RS, a prebiotic, intakes correlate negatively with colorectal cancer risk (Topping and Clifton, 2001). High amylose Maize starch is fermented by Ovariectomized (OVX) rats with increased bacteria levels, especially promotes the survival of *Lactobacillus* species (Keenan et al., 2013).

## $2.2.2 \beta$ -glucans

β-glucan is a major component of water soluble cereal fiber (Figure 2). Soluble oat fiber, oat β-glucan, consists mainly of linear polysaccharide  $(1\rightarrow3)$ ,  $(1\rightarrow4)$ -β-D-glucan (Zhang et al., 2012). The  $(1\rightarrow3)$ -link prevents close packing of the molecule and makes the molecule partly soluble in water (Morgan, 2000). The molecular weight of β-glucan varies between 50 and 3000 kDa. β-glucan usually comprises 2-8% (dry weight) of the oat whole grain. Barley grains rich in β-glucan provides an excellent source of soluble dietary fiber for attenuating blood glucose and reducing low-density lipoprotein cholesterols (LDL). Barley β-glucan is a functional ingredient implicated to lower glycemic response, plasma cholesterol and food intake. Health benefits associated with  $\beta$ -glucan might depend on their polyphenol and antioxidant contents that vary with the method of preparation and purity (Zhang et al., 2012).



Figure 2 Structure of  $\beta$ -D-glucan.

## 2.2.3 SCFAs and gut microbiota

The gastro-intestinal tract harbors a vast majority of microbiota in human and other mammals' cecum and colon that count for an estimated mass of 250–750 g of digestion and equal to at least  $10^{10}$  to  $10^{11}$  cfu/g wet weight (Topping and Clifton, 2001). More than 50 genera and over 300-1000 species of bacteria have been identified in human feces (Hill, 1995, Nagpal et al., 2015). The dominant anaerobic organisms include *Bacteroides*, *Bifidobacteria*, *Eubacteria*, *Streptococci*, and *Lactobacilli*, while others, such as *Enterobacteria*, may also be found (Hill, 1995, Topping and Clifton, 2001). Some bacteria grown on intermediate products of fermentation such as H<sub>2</sub>, lactate, succinate, formate, and ethanol, and convert them to the end products such as SCFAs (Cummings et al., 1987). Some other bacteria convert CO<sub>2</sub> to acetate or methane (CH<sub>4</sub>). Microbes in the digestive system have a homeostatic symbiosis relationship in which the host provides a stable environment with nutrients and the microbes provide benefits as well to the host (Leser and Molbak, 2009). Gut microbiota are directly related to mechanisms

including defense against pathogens, synthesis of vitamins, fermentation of dietary fibers and dietary proteins; priming the immune system early in life; and stimulating the gut motility (Leser and Molbak, 2009, Topping and Clifton, 2001). The colonic microflora are affected by the gross nutritional shifts, aging, or variations in food intake. Aged people have relatively lower amounts of *Bifidobacteria* but the count for *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), *Streptococci*, and *Clostridi*a are increased (Mitsuoka, 1996).

The SCFAs including acetate ( $C_2$ ), propionate ( $C_3$ ), and butyrate ( $C_4$ ) are the major fermented metabolic products of dietary fiber and RS in the human gastrointestinal (GI) tract (Vinolo et al., 2011). Animal studies, principally with rats and pigs, have shown that large bowel SCFAs are increased by the provision of fermentable carbohydrates (Keenan et al., 2007, Keenan et al., 2006). Various anaerobic bacterial populations are involved in the production of SCFAs and conversion of polysaccharides, oligosaccharides, and disaccharides to their constituent sugars. This fermentation also provides energy for microbial growth and maintenance and also metabolic end products such as SCFAs,  $H_2$ , lactate, succinate, formate, and ethanol (Topping and Clifton, 2001). Intestinal microbial communities hydrolyze non-digestible plant polysaccharides such as lignin, hemicelluloses, pectin, cellulose, and RS into SCFAs which are readily absorbed and used as energy sources by colonocytes, and also by other tissues including liver and muscle (Vinolo et al., 2011).

SCFAs have been demonstrated for their role in colonic health and reducing the risk of metabolic diseases, including irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, obesity, cardiovascular disease, and cancer (Reimer et al., 2014, Vinolo et al., 2011). These fatty acids as anti-inflammatory agents affect the function of leukocytes, inhibit stimuli-induced expression of adhesion molecules, chemokine production and consequently suppress monocyte/macrophage

and neutrophil recruitment (Vinolo et al., 2011). SCFAs produced by gut bacteria from the fermentable RS increase secretion of satiety hormones PYY and GLP-1 from epithelial cells of the cecum and colon (Keenan et al., 2013, Zhou et al., 2008, Zheng et al., 2008).

Increasing lines of evidence support the hypothesis that the total beneficial anaerobic bacterial population in fecal samples directly associates with prebiotics intake as an energy source, produces fermentation products, and has the capability of controlling type 2 diabetes, obesity, and aging (Turnbaugh et al., 2009, Van der Meulen et al., 2006, Flint, 2012). Meanwhile, prebiotics alter the composition and population of intestinal microbiota by enhancing the growth of beneficial bacteria (Turnbaugh et al., 2006), which regulate host metabolism by the xenobiotic compounds perceived in the intestine (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013, Shen et al., 2009). Colonic anaerobic microbiota Bifidobacteria, Bacteroides, Lactobacilli, *Clostridium* cluster IV, and *Clostridium* Cluster XIVa/XIVab are necessary for the fermentation of dietary fibers in humans or rodents (Keenan et al., 2006). Clostridium cluster IV primers for PCR include subgroups that represent a mixture of genera including *Clostridium*, *Eubacterium*, and Ruminococcus (Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002). Clostridium cluster XIVa and XIVab comprises more than 20 clostridial species (Matsuki et al., 2002, Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002). Bacteroidetes primers are used to enumerate the Bacteroides group including Prevotella and Porphyromonas spp. Bacteroides spp. are anaerobic Gram-negative bacillus bacteria (Duncan et al., 2003, Bartosch et al., 2004). Bifidobacteria primers are used to identify Bifidobacterium spp. which are classified under phylum Actinobacteria (Bartosch et al., 2004), a strictly Grampositive anaerobic branched rod producing lactic and acetic acid but not  $CO_2$  (Van der Meulen et al., 2006). Lactobacillus primers can detect a genus of bacteria under phylum Firmicutes (Haarman and Knol, 2006), which consume wide varieties of carbohydrate as fermentation

energy source and grow under aerobic conditions or intestinal anaerobic conditions (Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002, Silva et al., 1987).

#### 2.2.4 SCFAs

#### 2.2.4.1 Butyrate

The health benefits of butyrate have attracted the most attention from investigators. Butyrate is a major energy source for epithelial cells of colonic mucosa that stimulate cell proliferation (Scheppach et al., 2001). Sodium butyrate is the sodium salt of butyric acid, which is a four carbon normal fatty acid and is a natural metabolite in many organisms including bacteria populating the gastrointestinal tract. The health benefits of butyrate include the prevention and inhibition of colon carcinogenesis, protection against mucosal oxidative stress, and strengthening of the colonic defense barrier; butyrate also has anti-inflammatory properties (Hamer et al., 2008). Studies *in vitro* demonstrated that exposure of many tumor cell lines to butyrate leads to anticarcinogenic effects by induction of apoptosis, inhibition of proliferation and promotion of a more differentiated phenotype (Hamer et al., 2008). The anti-inflammatory effect of butyrate is demonstrated by the suppression of nuclear factor kappa-B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and inhibition of HDAC (Andoh et al., 1999, Place et al., 2005). NF-kB is a transcription factor that controls the expression of genes encoding proinflammatory cytokines, chemokins, inducible inflammatory enzymes (Jobin and Sartor, 2000). Moreover, butyrate may affect DNA repair systems and levels of enzymatic or non-enzymatic antioxidant systems (Hamer et al., 2008). Dietary RS increase PYY and GLP-1 satiety gene and hormone expression which are also associated with increased butyrate levels in the cecum in rats (Keenan et al., 2006).

2.2.4.2 Acetate

Acetate is the most abundant SCFA product by the colonic microflora; it is approximately 60-75% of the total SCFAs in feces; it is quickly absorbed soon after production and transported to the liver (Louis et al., 2007). Acetate is essential for cholesterol synthesis in the body (Hijova and Chmelarova, 2007). The major benefit of acetate is that it acts as an energy substrate for muscles as acetate reaches the systemic circulation (the portion of the cardiovascular system which carries oxygenated blood away from the heart, to the body, and returns deoxygenated blood back to the heart) (Kiviluoma et al., 1988). Acetate has been shown to suppress harmful bacteria growth (Araya-Kojima et al., 1995).

#### 2.2.4.3 Propionate

Propionate has previously been indicated as another health-promoting metabolite being produced by the gut microbiota fermented RS in the large intestine. Propionate has the potential to reduce cholesterol concentrations in blood (Hosseini et al., 2011). Propionate is metabolized by the liver and used for gluconeogenesis, whereas acetate is a substrate for cholesterol synthesis and lipogenesis (Haenen et al., 2013).

#### 2.3 Prowashonupana barley

Barley is a healthy cereal grain with a rich nutlike flavor. Barley is one of the domesticated grains since the ancient time. Barley has been widely distributed in more than 100 countries in the world. Barley has been used in animal feed, fish feed, beverages, alcohol, and foods. Barley is nutritious and popular health food. Hullness barley is a form of domesticated barley. Barley has attracted much attention for the health promoting properties.

Table 1 Average nutrient content of hullness barley, oat groats, and Prowashonupana barley.

Nutrient,%	Hullness barley	Oat groats	Prowash barley
Protein	13	15	20
Fat	3	6	7

Starch	60	59	21
LMW sugars	1	1	7
Total fiber	13	10	30
β-Glucan	5	5	15

Prowashonupana barley (Hordeum vulgare) is a waxy, hullness, shrunken-endosperm, short awn barley with low glycemic index, low starch, high fiber, high protein and relatively low calories (Rendell et al., 2005). The Prowashonupana barley has 30% dietary fiber and 21% starch, which are 2~3 times the amount of fiber and approximately half the amount of starch compared with other common cereal grains (Table 1). Approximately half of the dietary fiber is β-glucan. Hallfrisch et al. indicated that hydrocolloids ( $\beta$ -glucan) extracted from *Prowashonupana* were as effective in reducing glucose and insulin responses in non-diabetics as an oat extract, barley or oats (Hallfrisch J, 2003). Products containing barley flour improve glycemic control in type II diabetic subjects, reduce glycemic index (GI) values (GI=28 to 39), and lower absorption of energy nutrients (Lifschitz et al., 2002, Kim et al., 2011, Hole et al., 2012). Barley also provides vitamins, trace minerals, and bioactive compounds (Inglett et al., 2011, Cui and Wang, 2009). There are many phenolic compounds in barley, such as benzoic and cinnamic acid derivatives, proanthocyanidins, quinones, flavonols, chalcones, flavones, flavanones, and amino phenolic compounds (Holtekjølen et al., 2008, Verardo et al., 2008). These phenolic compounds serve as natural antioxidants with antiradical and antiproliferative potentials for disease prevention and health promotion (Madhujith and Shahidi, 2007). Prowashonupana barley can also be used in a variety of foods such as hot cereals, cookies, crackers, breads, tortillas, granola bars, fruit-filled cereal bars, extruded snacks, and pastas. It can enhance the flavor, texture, appearance and nutritional compositions of these foods.

2.4 Oats

A species of cereal grain, oat (Avena Sativa), is mainly used as oatmeal for human consumption as well as livestock feed. Oat has been demonstrated as a health promoting food that is able to attenuate blood postprandial glycemic and insulinemic responses, to lower blood total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, and to improve high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol and blood lipid profiles as well as to maintain body weight (Zhang et al., 2012). Oat is also capable of modifying immune response and reducing the risk of colon cancer (Mälkki and Virtanen, 2001). It is also known for its effect of satiety, retarding absorption of nutrients, as well as a deterrent of various disorders of the gastrointestinal tract (Mälkki and Virtanen, 2001). The oats high in soluble fiber content, low in saturated fat and cholesterol may reduce the risk of heart disease (Table 2) (Zhang et al., 2012). The main soluble fiber components in oat is a class of polysaccharides known as beta-D-glucan in a structure of  $(1\rightarrow 3)$ ,  $(1\rightarrow 4)$ - $\beta$ -D-glucan, while the main glucan in mushrooms and yeasts is  $(1\rightarrow 3)$ ,  $(1\rightarrow 6)$ - $\beta$ -D-glucan (Zhang et al., 2012). The effects of oat on GI tract are due to both soluble and insoluble fibers because soluble fiber has high swelling and water-binding ability, and as a substrate in colon fermentations and insoluble fiber has bulking effect (Mälkki and Virtanen, 2001).

Polyphenols have various biological functions, such as antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer activities that can protect the human body, which is constantly exposed to free radicals present externally, as well as produced internally. Antioxidants such as vitamin E, vitamin C, RS, lignans, flavonoids, and other phenolic compounds from foods could neutralize the environmental free radicals and slow down the process of aging (Lobo et al., 2010, Madhujith et al., 2004, Emmons et al., 1999, Rebello et al., 2014, Jung et al., 2011). Oats as one of the important dietary antioxidant contributors (Emmons et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 2012),

vitamin E (tocopherols), phytic acid, phenolic compounds, and avenanthramides (Figure 3) are the most abundant antioxidants in oat, as well as the flavonoids and sterols are present in oat (Emmons et al., 1999). These antioxidants attenuate the DNA damage and lipid peroxidation caused by the free radicals in the human body (Emmons et al., 1999, Xiao et al., 2015).

	%, as is basis		
	Whole grain oat flour	Oat bran	
Protein	10 - 17	13 - 24	
Starch and sugars	56 - 62	10 - 50	
Fat	4 - 9	5 - 14	
Total dietary fiber	11 - 17	15 - 32	
ß-Glucan	2 - 7	6 - 20	

Table 2 Macronutrient content of whole grain oat flour and oat bran.



Figure 3 Structure of Avenanthramide.

#### 2.5 Wheat bran

Wheat bran is the by-product from milled refined grain production. Although refined grains have an extended shelf life and a finer texture, refined grain foods contain solid fats, added sugars, and sodium. Wheat bran is high in a non-digestible form of carbohydrates and presents a high concentration of vitamins, minerals, and dietary fiber while refined grains are low

in some of these essential nutrients (USDA, 2010). Wheat bran provides a good source of proteins and minerals apart from being a good source of dietary fiber (Table 3). Wheat bran is also low in saturated fat, trans-fat, mono- and oligo- saccharides, calories (H and Prakash, 2002). Wheat bran can be used to make many food products, such as cookies, bread, cereal, pasta, and cereal bar. Wheat bran is of relatively low fermentability, which helps to account for its relative superiority as a fecal bulking and laxating agent (Topping and Clifton, 2001). During the refining process of grains the bran and germ fractions are removed. Thus, most refined cereal products have lost the protective components (Slavin, 2004).

Constituent (Per 100g)	Whole	Whole wheat bran	Bran fractions		
	wheat flour		Coarse	Medium	Fine
Moisture (g)	$8.54 \pm 0.002$	$2.17 \pm 0.001$	6.65±0.212	$6.88 \pm 0.084$	$8.23 \pm 0.003$
Protein (g)	$14.0\pm0.120$	$15.0\pm0.146$	$15.1 \pm 0.002$	18.57±0.397	$20.3 \pm 0.282$
Fat (g)	1.57±0.106	$4.08 \pm 0.002$	4.13±0.003	$2.40\pm0.001$	$2.79 \pm 0.006$
Carbohydrate (g)	67.6	28.1	16.2	34.0	48.7
Total ash (g)	$1.52 \pm 0.001$	$4.99 \pm 0.004$	$5.22 \pm 0.001$	$4.55 \pm 0.005$	$3.48 \pm 0.001$
Insoluble fiber (g)	5.45	42.8	49.9	37.05	15.2
Soluble fiber (g)	1.3	2.8	2.8	2.6	1.3
Iron (mg)	$8.0 \pm 0.0$	15.1±0.0	12.0	10.0	9.5
Phosphorous (mg)	435	560	920	1200	1400
Calcium (mg)	40	78.3	96	96	160
Bioavailable iron (mg)	1.83	3.16	-	-	-

Table 3 Chemical composition of wheat flour and wheat bran samples (H and Prakash, 2002).

## 2.6 C. elegans model

*C. elegans* is a small, free-living (as opposed to parasitic) soil nematode widely distributed around the world (Wood, 1988, Riddle et al., 1997). *C. elegans* is a multicellular eukaryotic organism, about 1mm in length, with transparent and round shape body (Riddle et al., 1997). *C. elegans* is the first animal to have its genome completely sequenced and more than 65% of the genes relating to human disease are conserved in *C. elegans* (Shen et al., 2009). Wild-type

*C. elegans* (N2) live for approximately 21-25 days. They grow to adult in 38-46hours after hatching; *C. elegans* has a life cycle about 3 days under optimal conditions (Figure 4). *C. elegans* have large brood sizes of 300 progeny per hermaphrodite when grown in an agar dish and fed with non-pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*, OP50) as a standard laboratory food source.



Figure 4 Life cycle diagram of *C. elegans* at 22°C.

*C. elegans* can be maintained in the laboratory using Nematode Growth Medium (NGM) agar in petri dish or liquid culture fed with *E. coli* OP50. The pharynx is responsible for the ingestion of bacteria by crushing the bacteria in the grinder in the terminal bulb and passing the food into the intestine through the pharyngeal-intestinal valve through coordinated muscular contraction (Mango, January 22, 2007). Wild type and over 3,000 mutant strains of *C. elegans* are available in Caenorhabditis Genetics Center (CGC), University of Minnesota (Minneapolis,
MN) at no cost to researchers at educational institutions or non-profit organizations. *C. elegans* strains used in this study included: N2 Bristol (Wild type), null strains of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I* and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III* (Table 4).

*C. elegans* is a convenient model system in many research fields including genomics, cell biology, neuroscience and aging (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). It is also practical to use this animal studying the effect of bioactive materials on lifespan, fat metabolism, and Parkinson's disease. The pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) of *C. elegans* is negatively correlated to their lifespan and is well accepted in the study of aging (Greer et al., 2007). Locomotion analyses have shown that there is altered or impaired *C. elegans* response to exogenous insults or toxins (Boyd et al., 2010). Using RNAi with Nile Red staining, Ashrafi et al. have reported that 305 genes are responsible for reducing body fat and 112 genes are responsible for increasing fat storage (Ashrafi et al., 2003). *C. elegans* deposits fat for energy storage along its intestinal tract. Lipid staining dyes such as Nile Red or BODIPY can be visualized directly and quantitated photometrically in the intact and transparent animal (O'Rourke et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2010). *C. elegans* model serves as an intermediate step in research which will also reduce the number of rodents or other higher animals required (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, WormAtlas. Altun, 2005). Table 4 Information of *C. elegans* strains.

Strains	Gene deficient	Human homologs	Functions
Wild type (N2)	-	-	-
daf-16(mgDf50)I	daf-16	Forkhead box protein O (FOXO)	<i>C. elegans daf-16</i> has a central role in mediating the downstream insulin signaling pathways and is the major target of the <i>daf-2</i> pathway.
daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65)III	<i>daf-16</i> and <i>daf-2</i>	FOXO and insulin/IGF-1 receptor	The <i>C. elegans daf-2</i> gene encodes the homolog of the mammalian insulin

			receptor, which has preserved ligand-binding and tyrosine kinase domains
sir-2.1(ok434)IV	sir-2.1	NAD-dependent protein deacetylase	The <i>sir-2.1</i> transgene functions upstream of <i>daf</i> -
		sirtuin-1	16 in the insulin-like
			signaling pathway and was
			responsible for lifespan
			extension of C. elegans

# 2.7 Insulin signaling pathway and related genes in C. elegans

Insulin/Insulin-like growth factor Signaling (IIS) pathway is a primary mechanism for controlling metabolic physiology not only in humans, but also in C. elegans (Figure 5) (Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002). Under conditions of abundant food, the IIS pathway is active. dauer formation-2 gene (daf-2) activates the signaling cascade represses dauer formation-16 gene (daf-16) which codes for the Forkhead family of transcription factors (FOXO), through AGEingrelated gene-1 (age-1) and akt-1/2 (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Wang and Tissenbaum, 2006). Reduction in the active components of IIS pathway as in *daf-2* mutants or upon decreased food availability leads to the activation of a series of genes involved in lifespan control, stress tolerance and protein misfolding suppression, and collectively resulting in life-span extension (Kenyon, 2010, Lin et al., 1997). Down-regulation of insulin signaling loss of function of daf-2, a homolog of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptors in C. elegans, leads to the phosphorylation of *daf-16*, causes fat accumulation in adults and glycogen production (Lin et al., 2001, Berdichevsky et al., 2006a). C. elegans age-1 is the signaling molecule downstream from the insulin receptor and is the homolog of human phosphatidylinositol-3-hydroxy kinase (PI3K) (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Lin et al., 2001). DAF-18 inhibits the age-1 downstream protein PDK-1 which phosphorylates the SGK-1/akt-1/-2 complex that acts as an inhibitor of dauer formation-16 gene (daf-16) (Seo et al., 2015, Zheng et al., 2013, Rizki et al., 2011). The

functions of *daf-16* in biological processes include metabolism, life span, stress responses, and dauer formation and exit, by mediating downstream gene expression in response to environmental and nutritional conditions (Barbieri et al., 2003). *daf-16* is suppressed by *daf-2* and *age-1* through the SGK-1/*akt-1/-2* complex (Seo et al., 2015, Zheng et al., 2013, Rizki et al., 2011). SGK-1/*akt-1/-2* complex is the homolog of human serine/threonine protein kinase (AKT/PKB) and regulates multiple cellular process as well as glucose metabolism. 'Aging' has been reported to relate with the downstream effects of IIS pathway (Figure 5) (Benedetti et al., 2008). Insulin resistance that is a primary component in the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes is a pathological condition in which cells fail to respond to normal action of the hormone insulin (Jayaprakasam et al., 2005, Chiu et al., 2007).



Figure 5 Summary of the insulin signaling pathway in C. elegans.

DAF-16 (FOXO transcription factor) is the major target of the DAF-2 pathway (homologue of insulin signaling pathway in *C. elegans*);DAF-18 inhibits PDK-1, which phosphorylates the SGK-1/*akt-1/-2* complex; PIP2, phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate; PIP3, phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphate (PtdIns(3,4,5)P3); PDK-1, 3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1; DAF-18, homologous to human PTEN; AKT1/2 and SGK-1, orthologs of the serine/threonine kinase Akt/PKB. Activations are indicated by ' $\rightarrow$ ' and inhibitions are indicated by ' $\perp$ '.

## 2.8 sir-2.1 extends lifespan

Lifespan in *C. elegans* is controlled by many pathways independently or overlapping such as insulin/insulin like signaling pathway and TOR (target of rapamycin) signaling pathway (Greer and Brunet, 2009, Mair and Dillin, 2008). *sir-2.1* like proteins (sirtuins), a family of NAD<sup>+</sup> dependent deacetylases, is related to gene silencing, DNA repair, rDNA recombination and aging in model organisms from *E. coli* to humans (Figure 6) (Wood et al., 2004, Lin et al., 2000, Hekimi and Guarente, 2003, Landry et al., 2000). *sir-2.1* repressed the expression of ER stress genes and was responsible for lifespan extension of *C. elegans* induced by resveratrol (Figure 6) (Viswanathan et al., 2005).



Figure 6 Regulation of DAF-16/FOXO by SIR-2.1/SIRT1 in *C. elegans*. SIR-2.1 coordinate to fine-tune the transcriptional activity of DAF-16 on a distinct subset of potential target genes. DAF-16 target genes responsive to the SIR-2.1 pathway largely overlap with a small subset of IIS-regulated genes, and are specialized in longevity determination, cellular defense, and lipid/fatty acid/amino acid homeostasis.

Extra expression of *sir-2.1* extends the lifespan of budding yeast by 30%, apparently by mimicking caloric restriction (Wood et al., 2004) while deletion or knockdown of the gene shortens lifespan (Wang and Tissenbaum, 2006, Bamps et al., 2009). The lifespan of *sir-2.1* null mutant was not obviously shorter than the wild-type *C. elegans* N2 (Wood et al., 2004). The extension of lifespan by elevation of *sir-2.1* activity might also have a FOXO-independent function which codes *daf-16* in *C. elegans* (Wang et al., 2010, Berdichevsky et al., 2006a). SIR-

2.1 acts with 14-3-3 proteins to affect DAF-16 activity and life span and act in parallel to the insulin-like pathway to regulate DAF-16 and extend life span (Figure 6) (Berdichevsky et al., 2006b).

## 2.9 Gene regulation of satiety signals

The satiety signals, PYY, GLP-1, and cholecystokinin (CCK) are produced in the colon and increase in the blood stream in response to food intake (Zhou et al., 1985, Zhou et al., 2008). CCK that is a peptide hormone found in the central nervous system and gastrointestinal tract plays a central role in initiating satiety and modulating food intake (Moran and Kinzig, 2004, Gibbs et al., 1973). CCK regulates food intake by being released from enteroendocrine cells in response to the presence of lipid or protein in the gut postprandial (Moran, 2000). Exogenous administration of CCK decreases food intake in rats (Gibbs et al., 1973). However, mice lacking the gene for CCK have normal body weight, body mass, and fat absorption as compared with wild-type littermate controls, differences in longevity were not examined (Lo et al., 2008). Food-restricted rats showed increased plasma CCK, which suggests a physiological role for CCK in the adaptation to reduced food ingestion (Chowdhury and Rayford, 2001). Two distinct receptor proteins, CCK1R and CCK2R, mediate the action of CCK in mice, and both receptors play a regulatory role in the control of food intake (Chowdhury and Rayford, 2001). Two potential homologs of CCK receptors are found in the C. elegans genome, ckr-1 and ckr-2. RNAi knockdown of ckr-1 or ckr-2 also decreases the longevity of the eat-2 mutant significantly but has no effect on the life span of age-1(hx546) and clk-1(e2519) mutants (Park et al., 2010). Regarding obesity, the polymorphism of the cholecystokinin 1 receptor (CCK1R) gene may be related to an increase in body fat content in middle-aged and elderly people (Funakoshi et al.,

2000). CCK1R mediate the CCK-induced suppression of food intake (Peikin, 1989), and the peripheral administration of CCK1R antagonists increased food intake (Wolkowitz et al., 1990).

## 2.10 Quantitative real-time PCR for DNA and mRNA analysis

PCR or the polymerase Chain Reaction is a technique for amplifying DNA. Amplifying DNA create multiple copies of strands of DNA. Amplification of DNA is able to detect enough DNA signal for quantification. Polymerase is a thermostable enzyme and will synthesize a complementary sequence of bases. There are two types of PCR: conventional PCR and real-time PCR. Conventional PCR detects the amplified DNA on agarose by an end-point analysis while real-time PCR allows the detection of the accumulation of amplified product as the reaction proceeds. The advantage of real-time PCR over conventional PCR is the accuracy and high sensitivity. There are several ways to detect the fluorescent PCR product including Taqman PCR method and SYBER green method.

## 2.10.1 Taqman real-time PCR method for C. elegans mRNA analysis

The principle of Taqman qPCR is to use a fluorogenic labeled probe to enable the detection of a specific PCR product as it accumulates during PCR cycles. Thermus aquatic DNA polymerase cleave fluorescence probe (TaqMan probe), which is designed to be complementary to a specific sequence spanned by the PCR primers. The Taqman oligonucleotide probe is constructed containing a reporter dye at its 5 end and a quencher dye at its 3 end (Figure 7). If the probe is intact, the proximity of the quencher dye greatly reduces the fluorescence emitted by the reporter dye by fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) through space. The Quencher dyes are usually FAM (6-carboxyfluorecein) and TAMARA (6- carboxyl- tetra methyl -rhodamin). Using DNA binding dye more DNA copies are created and florescence increases. If the target sequence is present, the probe anneals downstream from one of the primer sites and

is cleaved by the 5<sup>-</sup> nuclease activity of Taq DNA polymerase as this primer is extended. Separation of the reporter dye from the quencher dye increases the reporter dye signal.



Figure 7 The principle of Taqman real-time PCR.

(1) Reporter and the quencher dyes are in close proximity, no fluorescence signal is emitted due to the quenching effect (black arrow in 1, 2, and 3), (2) Soon after the annealing of the TaqMan probe and the primers, (3) the primers are extended by the DNA polymerase. As the polymerase reaches the TaqMan probe, it uses its exonuclease activity to remove the probe one nucleotide at the time, (4) this releases the reporter from the proximity of the quencher and allows for the release of a fluorescence signal from the reporter.

2.10.2 SYBR green real-time PCR method for gut microbiota DNA analysis

SYBR green is another frequently used dye in RT-PCR. The SYBR Green I dye binds to all double-stranded DNA present in the sample. During the PCR, DNA polymerase amplifies the target sequence, or "amplicons". The increase in fluorescence intensity is proportional to the amount of amplicons produced (Figure 8). The advantages of the SYBR Green method over Taqman method is that it can be used to monitor the amplification of any double-stranded DNA sequence; No probe is required, which reduces assay setup and running costs. The disadvantage of SYBR green method is that this dye can bind to nonspecific double-stranded DNA sequences.



Figure 8 The principle of SYBR Green real-time PCR.

# 2.11 Reference

- 1. ANDERSON, G. H., CHO, C. E., AKHAVAN, T., MOLLARD, R. C., LUHOVYY, B. L. & FINOCCHIARO, E. T. 2010. Relation between estimates of cornstarch digestibility by the Englyst in vitro method and glycemic response, subjective appetite, and short-term food intake in young men. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 91, 932-939.
- 2. ANDERSON, J. W. 2004. Whole grains and coronary heart disease: the whole kernel of truth. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1459-60.
- 3. ANDERSON, J. W. & AKANJI, A. O. 1991. Dietary fiber--an overview. *Diabetes Care*, 14, 1126-1131.
- ANDOH, A., FUJIYAMA, Y., HATA, K., ARAKI, Y., TAKAYA, H., SHIMADA, M. & BAMBA, T. 1999. Counter-regulatory effect of sodium butyrate on tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha)-induced complement C3 and factor B biosynthesis in human intestinal epithelial cells. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 118, 23-9.
- 5. ARAYA-KOJIMA, T., ISHIBASHI, N., SHIMAMURA, S., TANAKA, K. & TAKAHASHI, H. 1995. Identification and molecular analysis of Lactococcus lactis rpoD operon. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*, 59, 73-7.
- 6. ASARE, E. K., JAISWAL, S., MALEY, J., BAGA, M., SAMMYNAIKEN, R., ROSSNAGEL, B. G. & CHIBBAR, R. N. 2011. Barley Grain Constituents, Starch Composition, and Structure Affect Starch in Vitro Enzymatic Hydrolysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 4743-4754.
- 7. ASHRAFI, K., CHANG, F. Y., WATTS, J. L., FRASER, A. G., KAMATH, R. S., AHRINGER, J. & RUVKUN, G. 2003. Genome-wide RNAi analysis of Caenorhabditis elegans fat regulatory genes. *Nature*, 421, 268-72.
- 8. BAMPS, S., WIRTZ, J., SAVORY, F. R., LAKE, D. & HOPE, I. A. 2009. The Caenorhabditis elegans sirtuin gene, sir-2.1, is widely expressed and induced upon caloric restriction. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 130, 762-70.
- 9. BARBIERI, M., BONAFE, M., FRANCESCHI, C. & PAOLISSO, G. 2003. Insulin/IGF-I-signaling pathway: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of longevity from yeast to humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 285, E1064-71.

- 10. BARTOSCH, S., FITE, A., MACFARLANE, G. T. & MCMURDO, M. E. 2004. Characterization of bacterial communities in feces from healthy elderly volunteers and hospitalized elderly patients by using real-time PCR and effects of antibiotic treatment on the fecal microbiota. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 70, 3575-81.
- 11. BEHALL, K. M., SCHOLFIELD, D. J. & HALLFRISCH, J. 2005. Comparison of hormone and glucose responses of overweight women to barley and oats. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 24, 182-188.
- 12. BENEDETTI, M. G., FOSTER, A. L., VANTIPALLI, M. C., WHITE, M. P., SAMPAYO, J. N., GILL, M. S., OLSEN, A. & LITHGOW, G. J. 2008. Compounds that confer thermal stress resistance and extended lifespan. *Exp Gerontol*, 43, 882-91.
- 13. BERDICHEVSKY, A., VISWANATHAN, M., HORVITZ, H. R. & GUARENTE, L. 2006a. C. elegans SIR-2.1 interacts with 14-3-3 proteins to activate DAF-16 and extend life span. *Cell*, 125, 1165-1177.
- 14. BERDICHEVSKY, A., VISWANATHAN, M., HORVITZ, H. R. & GUARENTE, L. 2006b. C. elegans SIR-2.1 interacts with 14-3-3 proteins to activate DAF-16 and extend life span. *Cell*, 125, 1165-77.
- 15. BOYD, W. A., SMITH, M. V., KISSLING, G. E. & FREEDMAN, J. H. 2010. Mediumand high-throughput screening of neurotoxicants using C. elegans. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 32, 68-73.
- 16. BRAY, G. A. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2007. Pharmacological treatment of the overweight patient. *Pharmacol Rev*, 59, 151-84.
- 17. BURNELL, A. M., HOUTHOOFD, K., O'HANLON, K. & VANFLETEREN, J. R. 2005. Alternate metabolism during the dauer stage of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Exp Gerontol*, 40, 850-6.
- 18. CABREIRO, F. & GEMS, D. 2013. Worms need microbes too: microbiota, health and aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. *EMBO Mol Med*, 5, 1300-10.

- 19. CERNER MULTUM, I. 2013. *Diethylpropion Side Effects* [Online]. <u>http://www.drugs.com/</u>. Available: <u>http://www.drugs.com/sfx/diethylpropion-side-effects.html</u>.
- CHIU, H. K., TSAI, E. C., JUNEJA, R., STOEVER, J., BROOKS-WORRELL, B., GOEL, A. & PALMER, J. P. 2007. Equivalent insulin resistance in latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*, 77, 237-44.
- 21. CHOWDHURY, P. & RAYFORD, P. L. 2001. Effect of food restriction on plasma cholecystokinin levels and exocrine pancreatic function in rats. *Ann Clin Lab Sci*, 31, 376-82.
- 22. CIROCCHI, R., BOSELLI, C., SANTORO, A., GUARINO, S., COVARELLI, P., RENZI, C., LISTORTI, C., TRASTULLI, S., DESIDERIO, J., CORATTI, A., NOYA, G., REDLER, A. & PARISI, A. 2013. Current status of robotic bariatric surgery: a systematic review. *BMC Surg*, 13, 53.
- 23. CORP., L. T. 2015. *TaqMan*® *Gene Expression Assays* [Online]. ThermoFisher Scientific. Available: https://tools.thermofisher.com/content/sfs/brochures/cms\_085696.pdf.
- 24. CUI, S. & WANG, Q. 2009. Cell wall polysaccharides in cereals: chemical structures and functional properties. *Structural Chemistry*, 20, 291-297.
- 25. CUMMINGS, J. H., POMARE, E. W., BRANCH, W. J., NAYLOR, C. P. & MACFARLANE, G. T. 1987. Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. *Gut*, 28, 1221-7.
- 26. DANFORTH, E., JR. 1985. Diet and obesity. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 41, 1132-45.
- 27. DARMON, N., BRIEND, A. & DREWNOWSKI, A. 2004. Energy-dense diets are associated with lower diet costs: a community study of French adults. *Public Health Nutr*, 7, 21-7.

- 28. DETHLEFSEN, L., MCFALL-NGAI, M. & RELMAN, D. A. 2007. An ecological and evolutionary perspective on human-microbe mutualism and disease. *Nature*, 449, 811-8.
- 29. DONGOWSKI, G., HUTH, M., GEBHARDT, E. & FLAMME, W. 2002. Dietary fiberrich barley products beneficially affect the intestinal tract of rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 3704-3714.
- 30. DRUGS.COM. *Contrave* [Online]. Drugs.com. Available: http://www.drugs.com/sfx/contrave-side-effects.html [Accessed 11/11/15 2015].
- 31. DRUGS.COM. 2015. *Benzphetamine* [Online]. "Product Information. Didrex (benzphetamine)" Pharmacia and Upjohn, Kalamazoo, MI. Available: <u>http://www.drugs.com/sfx/benzphetamine-side-effects.html</u>.
- 32. DUNCAN, S. H., SCOTT, K. P., RAMSAY, A. G., HARMSEN, H. J., WELLING, G. W., STEWART, C. S. & FLINT, H. J. 2003. Effects of alternative dietary substrates on competition between human colonic bacteria in an anaerobic fermentor system. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 69, 1136-42.
- 33. EMMONS, C. L., PETERSON, D. M. & PAUL, G. L. 1999. Antioxidant capacity of oat (Avena sativa L.) extracts. 2. In vitro antioxidant activity and contents of phenolic and tocol antioxidants. *J Agric Food Chem*, 47, 4894-8.
- 34. FARDET, A., ROCK, E. & RÉMÉSY, C. 2008. Is the in vitro antioxidant potential of whole-grain cereals and cereal products well reflected in vivo? *Journal of Cereal Science*, 48, 258-276.
- 35. FINEMAN, M. S., SHEN, L. Z., TAYLOR, K., KIM, D. D. & BARON, A. D. 2004. Effectiveness of progressive dose-escalation of exenatide (exendin-4) in reducing doselimiting side effects in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev*, 20, 411-7.
- 36. FINKELSTEIN, E. A., TROGDON, J. G., COHEN, J. W. & DIETZ, W. 2009. Annual medical spending attributable to obesity: payer-and service-specific estimates. *Health Aff (Millwood)*, 28, w822-31.

- 37. FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, C., HOLIDAY.D.L, KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013. Legumes reduced intestinal fat deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.
- 38. FLINT, H. J. 2012. The impact of nutrition on the human microbiome. *Nutr Rev*, 70 Suppl 1, S10-3.
- 39. FORSBERG, T., AMAN, P. & LANDBERG, R. 2014. Effects of whole grain rye crisp bread for breakfast on appetite and energy intake in a subsequent meal: two randomised controlled trails with different amounts of test foods and breakfast energy content. *Nutr J*, 13, 26.
- 40. FRENCH, S. A., STORY, M. & JEFFERY, R. W. 2001. Environmental influences on eating and physical activity. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 22, 309-35.
- 41. FUENTES-ZARAGOZA, E., RIQUELME-NAVARRETE, M. J., SÁNCHEZ-ZAPATA, E. & PÉREZ-ÁLVAREZ, J. A. 2010. Resistant starch as functional ingredient: A review. *Food Research International*, 43, 931-942.
- 42. FUNAKOSHI, A., MIYASAKA, K., MATSUMOTO, H., YAMAMORI, S., TAKIGUCHI, S., KATAOKA, K., TAKATA, Y., MATSUSUE, K., KONO, A. & SHIMOKATA, H. 2000. Gene structure of human cholecystokinin (CCK) type-A receptor: body fat content is related to CCK type-A receptor gene promoter polymorphism. *FEBS Letters*, 466, 264-266.
- 43. GIBBS, J., YOUNG, R. C. & SMITH, G. P. 1973. Cholecystokinin decreases food intake in rats. *J Comp Physiol Psychol*, 84, 488-95.
- 44. GOLDRING, J. M. 2004. Resistant starch: safe intakes and legal status. *Journal of AOAC International*, 87, 733-739.
- 45. GREER, E. L. & BRUNET, A. 2009. Different dietary restriction regimens extend lifespan by both independent and overlapping genetic pathways in C. elegans. *Aging Cell*, 8, 113-27.

- 46. GREER, E. L., DOWLATSHAHI, D., BANKO, M. R., VILLEN, J., HOANG, K., BLANCHARD, D., GYGI, S. P. & BRUNET, A. 2007. An AMPK-FOXO pathway mediates longevity induced by a novel method of dietary restriction in C. elegans. *Current Biology*, 17, 1646-1656.
- 47. H, A. S. & PRAKASH, J. 2002. WHEAT BRAN (TRITICUM AESTIVUM): COMPOSITION, FUNCTIONALITY AND INCORPORATION IN UNLEAVENED BREAD. *Journal of Food Quality*, 25, 197-211.
- 48. HAARMAN, M. & KNOL, J. 2006. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of fecal Lactobacillus species in infants receiving a prebiotic infant formula. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 2359-65.
- 49. HAENEN, D., ZHANG, J., SOUZA DA SILVA, C., BOSCH, G., VAN DER MEER, I. M., VAN ARKEL, J., VAN DEN BORNE, J. J., PEREZ GUTIERREZ, O., SMIDT, H., KEMP, B., MULLER, M. & HOOIVELD, G. J. 2013. A diet high in resistant starch modulates microbiota composition, SCFA concentrations, and gene expression in pig intestine. J Nutr, 143, 274-83.
- 50. HALLFRISCH J, S. D., BEHALL KM 2003. Physiological responses of men and women to barley and oat extracts (Nu-trimX). II. Comparison of glucose and insulin responses. *Cereal Chem*, 80, 80-83.
- 51. HALPERN, B. & HALPERN, A. 2015. Safety assessment of FDA-approved (orlistat and lorcaserin) anti-obesity medications. *Expert Opin Drug Saf*, 14, 305-15.
- 52. HAMER, H. M., JONKERS, D., VENEMA, K., VANHOUTVIN, S., TROOST, F. J. & BRUMMER, R. J. 2008. Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 27, 104-19.
- 53. HAMPP, C., KANG, E. M. & BORDERS-HEMPHILL, V. 2013. Use of Prescription Antiobesity Drugs in the United States. *Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy*, 33, 1299-1307.
- 54. HAUNER, H., BECHTHOLD, A., BOEING, H., BRONSTRUP, A., BUYKEN, A., LESCHIK-BONNET, E., LINSEISEN, J., SCHULZE, M., STROHM, D. & WOLFRAM,

G. 2012. [Carbohydrate intake and prevention of nutrition-related diseases]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*, 137, 389-93.

- 55. HEALTH, N. I. O. 1998. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults--The Evidence Report. . *Obes Res*, 6 Suppl 2, 51S-209S.
- 56. HEALTH, T. F. A. S. 2015. *The Sate of Obesity* [Online]. Available: http://stateofobesity.org/states/la/.
- 57. HEKIMI, S. & GUARENTE, L. 2003. Genetics and the specificity of the aging process. *Science*, 299, 1351-1354.
- 58. HIGGINS, J. A., HIGBEE, D. R., DONAHOO, W. T., BROWN, I. L., BELL, M. L. & BESSESEN, D. H. 2004. Resistant starch consumption promotes lipid oxidation. *Nutr Metab* (*Lond*), 1, 8.
- 59. HIJOVA, E. & CHMELAROVA, A. 2007. Short chain fatty acids and colonic health. *Bratisl Lek Listy*, 108, 354-8.
- 60. HILL, M. J. 1995. Bacterial fermentation of complex carbohydrate in the human colon. *Eur J Cancer Prev*, 4, 353-8.
- 61. HOLE, A. S., RUD, I., GRIMMER, S., SIGL, S., NARVHUS, J. & SAHLSTROM, S. 2012. Improved bioavailability of dietary phenolic acids in whole grain barley and oat groat following fermentation with probiotic Lactobacillus acidophilus , Lactobacillus johnsonii , and Lactobacillus reuteri. *J Agric Food Chem*, 60, 6369-75.
- HOLTEKJØLEN, A. K., BÆVRE, A. B., RØDBOTTEN, M., BERG, H. & KNUTSEN, S. H. 2008. Antioxidant properties and sensory profiles of breads containing barley flour. *Food Chemistry*, 110, 414-421.
- 63. HOSSEINI, E., GROOTAERT, C., VERSTRAETE, W. & VAN DE WIELE, T. 2011. Propionate as a health-promoting microbial metabolite in the human gut. *Nutrition Reviews*, 69, 245-258.

- 64. HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S., BUDAVARI, A., MURRAY, D. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 1994. Reduced tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor in obesity-diabetes. Central role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Clin Invest*, 94, 1543-9.
- 65. INGLETT, G. E., CHEN, D. J. & BERHOW, M. 2011. Influence of Jet-Cooking Prowashonupana Barley Flour on Phenolic Composition, Antioxidant Activities, and Viscoelastic Properties. *Cereal Chemistry*, 88, 315-320.
- 66. JAYAPRAKASAM, B., VAREED, S. K., OLSON, L. K. & NAIR, M. G. 2005. Insulin secretion by bioactive anthocyanins and anthocyanidins present in fruits. *J Agric Food Chem*, 53, 28-31.
- 67. JOBIN, C. & SARTOR, R. B. 2000. The I kappa B/NF-kappa B system: a key determinant of mucosalinflammation and protection. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 278, C451-62.
- 68. JUNG, J.-K., LEE, S.-U., KOZUKUE, N., LEVIN, C. E. & FRIEDMAN, M. 2011. Distribution of phenolic compounds and antioxidative activities in parts of sweet potato (Ipomoea batata L.) plants and in home processed roots. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 24, 29-37.
- 69. KADOWAKI, T., HARA, K., YAMAUCHI, T., TERAUCHI, Y., TOBE, K. & NAGAI, R. 2003. Molecular mechanism of insulin resistance and obesity. *Exp Biol Med* (*Maywood*), 228, 1111-7.
- KAMATH, C. C., VICKERS, K. S., EHRLICH, A., MCGOVERN, L., JOHNSON, J., SINGHAL, V., PAULO, R., HETTINGER, A., ERWIN, P. J. & MONTORI, V. M. 2008. Behavioral Interventions to Prevent Childhood Obesity: A Systematic Review and Metaanalyses of Randomized Trials. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 93, 4606-4615.
- 71. KEENAN, M., ZHOU, J., RAGGIO, A., MCCUTCHEON, K., TULLEY, R. T., HEGSTED, M., BATEMAN, G., BROWN, I., BIRKETT, A., NEWMAN, S. & MARTIN, R. 2007. Health Benefits of Dietary Resistant Starch, a Non Digestible Fermentable Glucose Polymer. Symposium: Polymer Design for Foods and Nutrition. *Polymer Preprints*, 48, 737-738.
- 72. KEENAN, M. J., JANES, M., ROBERT, J., MARTIN, R. J., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., PELKMAN, C., TULLEY, R., GOITA, M., DURHAM, H. A.,

ZHOU, J. & SENEVIRATHNE, R. N. 2013. Resistant starch from high amylose maize (HAM-RS2) reduces body fat and increases gut bacteria in ovariectomized (OVX) rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21, 981-4.

- 73. KEENAN, M. J., ZHOU, J., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., RAGGIO, A. M., BATEMAN, H. G., TODD, E., JONES, C. K., TULLEY, R. T., MELTON, S., MARTIN, R. J. & HEGSTED, M. 2006. Effects of resistant starch, a non-digestible fermentable fiber, on reducing body fat. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 1523-34.
- 74. KENYON, C. J. 2010. The genetics of ageing. *Nature*, 464, 504-512.
- 75. KHAODHIAR, L., MCCOWEN, K. C. & BLACKBURN, G. L. 1999. Obesity and its comorbid conditions. *Clin Cornerstone*, 2, 17-31.
- 76. KIM, H., TUROWSKI, M., ANDERSON, W. H., YOUNG, S. A., KIM, Y. & YOKOYAMA, W. 2011. Supplementation of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose into yeast leavened all-whole grain barley bread potentiates cholesterol-lowering effect. *J Agric Food Chem*, 59, 7672-8.
- 77. KIMURA, K. D., TISSENBAUM, H. A., LIU, Y. & RUVKUN, G. 1997. daf-2, an insulin receptor-like gene that regulates longevity and diapause in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science*, 277, 942-6.
- 78. KIVILUOMA, K. T., KARHUNEN, M., LAPINLAMPI, T., PEUHKURINEN, K. J. & HASSINEN, I. E. 1988. Acetate-induced changes in cardiac energy metabolism and hemodynamics in the rat. *Basic Res Cardiol*, 83, 431-44.
- 79. KOTSIS, V., STABOULI, S., PAPAKATSIKA, S., RIZOS, Z. & PARATI, G. 2010. Mechanisms of obesity-induced hypertension. *Hypertens Res*, 33, 386-93.
- 80. KUMANYIKA, S. K. 2001. Minisymposium on obesity: overview and some strategic considerations. *Annu Rev Public Health*, 22, 293-308.
- LANDRY, J., SUTTON, A., TAFROV, S. T., HELLER, R. C., STEBBINS, J., PILLUS, L. & STERNGLANZ, R. 2000. The silencing protein SIR2 and its homologs are NADdependent protein deacetylases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 5807-11.

- 82. LESER, T. D. & MOLBAK, L. 2009. Better living through microbial action: the benefits of the mammalian gastrointestinal microbiota on the host. *Environmental Microbiology*, 11, 2194-2206.
- 83. LI, Z., MAGLIONE, M., TU, W., MOJICA, W., ARTERBURN, D., SHUGARMAN, L. R., HILTON, L., SUTTORP, M., SOLOMON, V., SHEKELLE, P. G. & MORTON, S. C. 2005. Meta-analysis: pharmacologic treatment of obesity. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 532-46.
- 84. LIFSCHITZ, C. H., GRUSAK, M. A. & BUTTE, N. F. 2002. Carbohydrate digestion in humans from a beta-glucan-enriched barley is reduced. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 2593-6.
- 85. LIN, K., DORMAN, J. B., RODAN, A. & KENYON, C. 1997. daf-16: An HNF-3/forkhead family member that can function to double the life-span of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science*, 278, 1319-1322.
- LIN, K., HSIN, H., LIBINA, N. & KENYON, C. 2001. Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. *Nat Genet*, 28, 139-45.
- 87. LIN, S. J., DEFOSSEZ, P. A. & GUARENTE, L. 2000. Requirement of NAD and SIR2 for life-span extension by calorie restriction in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Science*, 289, 2126-8.
- LO, C. M., SAMUELSON, L. C., CHAMBERS, J. B., KING, A., HEIMAN, J., JANDACEK, R. J., SAKAI, R. R., BENOIT, S. C., RAYBOULD, H. E., WOODS, S. C. & TSO, P. 2008. Characterization of mice lacking the gene for cholecystokinin. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 294, R803-10.
- 89. LOBO, V., PATIL, A., PHATAK, A. & CHANDRA, N. 2010. Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: Impact on human health. *Pharmacogn Rev*, 4, 118-26.
- 90. LOUIS, P., SCOTT, K. P., DUNCAN, S. H. & FLINT, H. J. 2007. Understanding the effects of diet on bacterial metabolism in the large intestine. *J Appl Microbiol*, 102, 1197-208.

- 91. MAAHS, D., DE SERNA, D. G., KOLOTKIN, R. L., RALSTON, S., SANDATE, J., QUALLS, C. & SCHADE, D. S. 2006. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of orlistat for weight loss in adolescents. *Endocr Pract*, 12, 18-28.
- 92. MADHUJITH, T., AMAROWICZ, R. & SHAHIDI, F. 2004. Phenolic antioxidants in beans and their effects on inhibition of radical-induced DNA damage. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 81, 691-696.
- 93. MADHUJITH, T. & SHAHIDI, F. 2007. Antioxidative and antiproliferative properties of selected barley (Hordeum vulgarae L.) cultivars and their potential for inhibition of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol oxidation. *J Agric Food Chem*, 55, 5018-24.
- 94. MAIR, W. & DILLIN, A. 2008. Aging and survival: the genetics of life span extension by dietary restriction. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 77, 727-54.
- 95. MÄLKKI, Y. & VIRTANEN, E. 2001. Gastrointestinal Effects of Oat Bran and Oat Gum: A Review. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 34, 337-347.
- 96. MANGO, S. E. January 22, 2007. The C. elegans pharynx: a model for organogenesis.
- 97. MANN, J. I. 2000. Can dietary intervention produce long-term reductionin insulin resistance? *British Journal of Nutrition*, 83, S169-S172.
- 98. MATSUKI, T., WATANABE, K., FUJIMOTO, J., MIYAMOTO, Y., TAKADA, T., MATSUMOTO, K., OYAIZU, H. & TANAKA, R. 2002. Development of 16S rRNAgene-targeted group-specific primers for the detection and identification of predominant bacteria in human feces. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 68, 5445-51.
- 99. MITSUOKA, T. 1996. Intestinal flora and human health. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr*, 5, 2-9.
- 100. MORAN, T. H. 2000. Cholecystokinin and satiety: current perspectives. *Nutrition*, 16, 858-65.
- MORAN, T. H. & KINZIG, K. P. 2004. Gastrointestinal satiety signals II. Cholecystokinin. American Journal of Physiology. Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 286, G183-G188.

- 102. MOREAU, R. A., FLORES, R. A. & HICKS, K. B. 2007. Composition of Functional Lipids in Hulled and Hulless Barley in Fractions Obtained by Scarification and in Barley Oil. *Cereal Chemistry*, 84, 1-5.
- 103. MORGAN, K. 2000. Cereal β-glucans. In: Handbook of hydrocolloids. , Phillips GO, Williams PA, editors. Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing Limited.
- 104. MURPHY, M. M., DOUGLASS, J. S. & BIRKETT, A. 2008. Resistant starch intakes in the United States. *J Am Diet Assoc*, 108, 67-78.
- MUST, A., SPADANO, J., COAKLEY, E. H., FIELD, A. E., COLDITZ, G. & DIETZ, W. H. 1999. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. *JAMA*, 282, 1523-9.
- 106. NAGPAL, R., OGATA, K., TSUJI, H., MATSUDA, K., TAKAHASHI, T., NOMOTO, K., SUZUKI, Y., KAWASHIMA, K., NAGATA, S. & YAMASHIRO, Y. 2015. Sensitive quantification of Clostridium perfringens in human feces by quantitative realtime PCR targeting alpha-toxin and enterotoxin genes. *BMC Microbiol*, 15, 219.
- 107. NELSON, D. L. & GEHLERT, D. R. 2006. Central nervous system biogenic amine targets for control of appetite and energy expenditure. *Endocrine*, 29, 49-60.
- O'ROURKE, E. J., SOUKAS, A. A., CARR, C. E. & RUVKUN, G. 2009. C. elegans major fats are stored in vesicles distinct from lysosome-related organelles. *Cell Metab*, 10, 430-5.
- 109. OGDEN, C. L., CARROLL, M. D., KIT, B. K. & FLEGAL, K. M. 2014. Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA*, 311, 806-14.
- 110. PARK, S. K., LINK, C. D. & JOHNSON, T. E. 2010. Life-span extension by dietary restriction is mediated by NLP-7 signaling and coelomocyte endocytosis in C. elegans. *FASEB J*, 24, 383-92.
- 111. PEIKIN, S. R. 1989. Role of cholecystokinin in the control of food intake. *Gastroenterol Clin North Am*, 18, 757-75.

- 112. PLACE, R. F., NOONAN, E. J. & GIARDINA, C. 2005. HDAC inhibition prevents NFkappa B activation by suppressing proteasome activity: down-regulation of proteasome subunit expression stabilizes I kappa B alpha. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 70, 394-406.
- 113. RANKIN, W. & WITTERT, G. 2015. Antiobesity drugs. Curr Opin Lipidol.
- 114. REBELLO, C. J., GREENWAY, F. L. & FINLEY, J. W. 2014. Whole grains and pulses: a comparison of the nutritional and health benefits. *J Agric Food Chem*, 62, 7029-49.
- 115. REIMER, R. A., MAATHUIS, A. J., VENEMA, K., LYON, M. R., GAHLER, R. J. & WOOD, S. 2014. Effect of the novel polysaccharide PolyGlycopleX(R) on short-chain fatty acid production in a computer-controlled in vitro model of the human large intestine. *Nutrients*, 6, 1115-27.
- 116. RENDELL, M., VANDERHOOF, J., VENN, M., SHEHAN, M. A., ARNDT, E., RAO, C. S., GILL, G., NEWMAN, R. K. & NEWMAN, C. W. 2005. Effect of a barley breakfast cereal on blood glucose and insulin response in normal and diabetic patients. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 60, 63-7.
- 117. RIDDLE, D. L., BLUMENTHAL, T., MEYER, B. J. & PRIESS, J. R. 1997. Introduction to C. elegans. *In:* RIDDLE, D. L., BLUMENTHAL, T., MEYER, B. J. & PRIESS, J. R. (eds.) *C. elegans II.* 2nd ed. Cold Spring Harbor (NY).
- 118. RIZKI, G., IWATA, T. N., LI, J., RIEDEL, C. G., PICARD, C. L., JAN, M., MURPHY, C. T. & LEE, S. S. 2011. The evolutionarily conserved longevity determinants HCF-1 and SIR-2.1/SIRT1 collaborate to regulate DAF-16/FOXO. *PLoS Genet*, 7, e1002235.
- 119. SCHEEN, A. J. 2000. From obesity to diabetes: why, when and who? *Acta Clin Belg*, 55, 9-15.
- 120. SCHEPPACH, W., KRENN, V., ECK, M., MENZEL, T., BURROWS, G. & LANGENFELD, H. 2001. [Tumor cell embolism to pulmonary arteries]. *Z Gastroenterol*, 39, 583-6.

- 121. SEKIROV, I., RUSSELL, S. L., ANTUNES, L. C. & FINLAY, B. B. 2010. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol Rev*, 90, 859-904.
- 122. SEO, H. W., CHEON, S. M., LEE, M. H., KIM, H. J., JEON, H. & CHA, D. S. 2015. Catalpol Modulates Lifespan via DAF-16/FOXO and SKN-1/Nrf2 Activation in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med*, 2015, 524878.
- 123. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L. & ZHOU, J. 2009. Dietary resistant starch increases hypothalamic POMC expression in rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 40-5.
- 124. SILVA, M., JACOBUS, N. V., DENEKE, C. & GORBACH, S. L. 1987. Antimicrobial substance from a human Lactobacillus strain. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 31, 1231-3.
- 125. SINHA, A. C., SINGH, P. M. & BHAT, S. 2015. Are we operating too late? Mortality Analysis and Stochastic Simulation of Costs Associated with Bariatric Surgery: Reconsidering the BMI Threshold. *Obes Surg*.
- 126. SLAVIN, J. 2004. Whole grains and human health. Nutr Res Rev, 17, 99-110.
- 127. SNOW, V., BARRY, P., FITTERMAN, N., QASEEM, A., WEISS, K. & CLINICAL EFFICACY ASSESSMENT SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF, P. 2005. Pharmacologic and surgical management of obesity in primary care: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 525-31.
- 128. TACHON, S., ZHOU, J., KEENAN, M., MARTIN, R. & MARCO, M. L. 2013. The intestinal microbiota in aged mice is modulated by dietary resistant starch and correlated with improvements in host responses. *FEMS Microbiol.Ecol.*, 83, 299-309.
- 129. TANG, H., ANDO, H., WATANABE, K., TAKEDA, Y. & MITSUNAGA, T. 2001. Physicochemical properties and structure of large, medium and small granule starches in fractions of normal barley endosperm. *Carbohydrate Research*, 330, 241-248.
- 130. TOPPING, D. L. & CLIFTON, P. M. 2001. Short-chain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev*, 81, 1031-64.

- 131. TORRES, A. J. & RUBIO, M. A. 2011. The Endocrine Society's Clinical Practice Guideline on endocrine and nutritional management of the post-bariatric surgery patient: commentary from a European Perspective. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 165, 171-6.
- 132. TURNBAUGH, P. J., HAMADY, M., YATSUNENKO, T., CANTAREL, B. L., DUNCAN, A., LEY, R. E., SOGIN, M. L., JONES, W. J., ROE, B. A., AFFOURTIT, J. P., EGHOLM, M., HENRISSAT, B., HEATH, A. C., KNIGHT, R. & GORDON, J. I. 2009. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature*, 457, 480-4.
- TURNBAUGH, P. J., LEY, R. E., MAHOWALD, M. A., MAGRINI, V., MARDIS, E. R. & GORDON, J. I. 2006. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*, 444, 1027-31.
- 134. USDA, H. A. 2010. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. Available: http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/publications/dietaryguidelines/2010/policydoc/policydoc.pdf.
- 135. VAN DER MEULEN, R., MAKRAS, L., VERBRUGGHE, K., ADRIANY, T. & DE VUYST, L. 2006. In vitro kinetic analysis of oligofructose consumption by Bacteroides and Bifidobacterium spp. indicates different degradation mechanisms. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 1006-12.
- 136. VAN DYKE, M. I. & MCCARTHY, A. J. 2002. Molecular biological detection and characterization of Clostridium populations in municipal landfill sites. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 68, 2049-53.
- 137. VAN VELSEN, E. F., LAMERS, J., BLOK, V., VAN LEENDERT, R. J. & KIEWIET-KEMPER, R. M. 2014. A prospective study of concomitant GLP-1 analogue and insulin use in type 2 diabetes in clinical practice. *Neth J Med*, 72, 523-7.
- 138. VASANTHAN, T. & BHATTY, R. S. 1998. Enhancement of Resistant Starch (RS3) in Amylomaize, Barley, Field Pea and Lentil Starches. *Starch Stärke*, 50, 286-291.
- 139. VERARDO, V., BONOLI, M., MARCONI, E. & CABONI, M. F. 2008. Determination of free flavan-3-ol content in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) air-classified flours:

comparative study of HPLC-DAD/MS and spectrophotometric determinations. *J Agric Food Chem*, 56, 6944-8.

- 140. VILLEGAS, R., GAO, Y. T., YANG, G., LI, H. L., ELASY, T. A., ZHENG, W. & SHU, X. O. 2008. Legume and soy food intake and the incidence of type 2 diabetes in the Shanghai Women's Health Study. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 87, 162-7.
- 141. VINOLO, M. A., RODRIGUES, H. G., NACHBAR, R. T. & CURI, R. 2011. Regulation of inflammation by short chain fatty acids. *Nutrients*, *3*, 858-76.
- 142. VISWANATHAN, M., KIM, S. K., BERDICHEVSKY, A. & GUARENTE, L. 2005. A role for SIR-2.1 regulation of ER stress response genes in determining C. elegans life span. *Dev Cell*, 9, 605-15.
- 143. VON STETINA, S. E., WATSON, J. D., FOX, R. M., OLSZEWSKI, K. L., SPENCER, W. C., ROY, P. J. & MILLER, D. M., 3RD 2007. Cell-specific microarray profiling experiments reveal a comprehensive picture of gene expression in the C. elegans nervous system. *Genome Biol*, 8, R135.
- 144. WANG, X., WANG, X., LI, L. & WANG, D. 2010. Lifespan extension in Caenorhabditis elegans by DMSO is dependent on sir-2.1 and daf-16. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 400, 613-8.
- 145. WANG, Y. & TISSENBAUM, H. A. 2006. Overlapping and distinct functions for a Caenorhabditis elegans SIR2 and DAF-16/FOXO. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 127, 48-56.
- 146. WANG, Z. Q., RIBNICKY, D., ZHANG, X. H., RASKIN, I., YU, Y. & CEFALU, W. T. 2008. Bioactives of Artemisia dracunculus L enhance cellular insulin signaling in primary human skeletal muscle culture. *Metabolism*, 57, S58-S64.
- 147. WHO 2000. obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- 148. WIRTH, A., WABITSCH, M. & HAUNER, H. 2014. The prevention and treatment of obesity. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*, 111, 705-13.

- 149. WOLKOWITZ, O. M., GERTZ, B., WEINGARTNER, H., BECCARIA, L., THOMPSON, K. & LIDDLE, R. A. 1990. Hunger in humans induced by MK-329, a specific peripheral-type cholecystokinin receptor antagonist. *Biol Psychiatry*, 28, 169-73.
- 150. WOOD, J. G., ROGINA, B., LAVU, S., HOWITZ, K., HELFAND, S. L., TATAR, M. & SINCLAIR, D. 2004. Sirtuin activators mimic caloric restriction and delay ageing in metazoans. *Nature*, 430, 686-9.
- 151. WOOD, W. B. 1988. Introduction to C. elegans Biology. Cold Spring Harbor Monograph Archive.
- 152. WORMATLAS. ALTUN, Z. F. A. H., D. H. (ED.S). 2005. *INTRODUCTION TO C. elegans ANATOMY* [Online]. wormatlas. Available: <u>http://www.wormatlas.org/ver1/handbook/anatomyintro/anatomyintro.htm</u> 2015].
- 153. XIAO, Y., RUI, X., XING, G., WU, H., LI, W., CHEN, X., JIANG, M. & DONG, M. 2015. Solid state fermentation with Cordyceps militaris SN-18 enhanced antioxidant capacity and DNA damage protective effect of oats (Avena sativa L.). *Journal of Functional Foods*, 16, 58-73.
- 154. ZHANG, P. P., HU, X. Z., ZHEN, H. M., XU, C. & FAN, M. T. 2012. Oat beta-glucan increased ATPases activity and energy charge in small intestine of rats. *J Agric Food Chem*, 60, 9822-7.
- 155. ZHANG, S., TRIMBLE, R., GUO, F. & MAK, H. 2010. Lipid droplets as ubiquitous fat storage organelles in C. elegans. *BMC Cell Biology*, 11, 1-11.
- 156. ZHENG, J., BARAK, N., BECK, Y., VASSELLI, J. R., KING, J. F., KING, M. L., WE, W. Q., FITZPATRICK, Z., JOHNSON, W. D., FINLEY, J. W., MARTIN, R. J., KEENAN, M. J., ENRIGHT, F. M. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2013. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research.
- 157. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-8.

- 158. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F. L. & MARTIN, R. 2008. Butyrate, a short chain fatty acid from fermented resistant starch reduced fat droplets in C. elegans: a new model for evaluating the effect of resistant starch on body fat. . *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 16, S185-S185.
- 159. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2012. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *International journal of obesity*, 36, 186-94.
- 160. ZHENG, J., GREENWAY, F. L., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., JOHNSON, W. D., KING, J. F., KING, M. J., GAO, C., CHU, Y. F. & FINLEY, J. W. 2014. Effects of three intense sweeteners on fat storage in the C. elegans model. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 215C, 1-6.
- ZHOU, A. A., ENG, J., PAN, Y. C. E., CHANG, M., HULMES, J. D., RAUFMAN, J. P. & YALOW, R. S. 1985. Unique cholecystokinin peptides isolated from guinea pig intestine. *Peptides*, 6, 337-341.
- 162. ZHOU, J., HEGSTED, M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., KEENAN, M. J., XI, X., RAGGIO, A. M. & MARTIN, R. J. 2006. Peptide YY and proglucagon mRNA expression patterns and regulation in the gut. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 683-9.
- 163. ZHOU, J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., SHEN, L., DANNA, S. C., TRIPATHY, S., HEGESTED, M. & KEENAN, M. J. 2008. Dietary resistant starch up-regulates total GLP-1 and PYY in a sustained daylong manner through fermentation in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295, E1160-1166.

# CHAPTER 3: SCFAS AFFECTED THE LIFESPAN AND INTESTINAL FAT DEPOSITION IN C. ELEGANS MODEL

# **3.1 Introduction**

The Western-style diet is high in fat and sugar, low in fiber intake that is far less than the recommended amount for daily diets (Eaton, 2006, Simpson and Campbell, 2015). Current daily fiber intakes are 10 to 20 grams (Eaton, 2006) lower than the national fiber recommendations, 30 to 38 grams a day for men and 25 grams a day for women between 18 and 50 years old (King et al., 2012). The dietary fermentable carbohydrates have relatively lower energy density and produce similar health benefits as calorie restriction. Dietary fermentable carbohydrate can escape the digestion in small intestine and are fermentable by anaerobic bacteria in the colon (Macfarlane and Macfarlane, 2003). There is a tight association between fermentable non-digestible carbohydrates and positive effects on host metabolism.

Diets and intestinal microbiota play important roles in maintaining the health of host, including preventing obesity and related metabolic complications (Korpela et al., 2014). A considerable content of microbial flora, which are about  $10^{11}$ -  $10^{13}$  bacteria per gram content, exist in the colon (Backhed et al., 2004, Sekirov et al., 2010). This microbial flora includes more than 1,000 bacterial species and most of the microorganisms are *saccharolytic* (Henningsson et al., 2002, Backhed et al., 2004). Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes account for more than 90% of the bacterial population in the colon (Ley et al., 2008). Obesity is a multifactorial state, where host genes, life style and the gut microbiota interact in a complex and largely unknown way (Everard and Cani, 2013, Flint, 2011). One study has reported that the abundance of *Clostridium sphenoides* was decreased in obese subjects as compared to healthy controls (Korpela et al., 2014). The "Western" style diet causes dysbiosis which affects both host GI tract metabolism

and immune homeostasis (Sekirov et al., 2010). In a study with mice, the microbiota composition of mice fed with a high fat and sugar diet is associated with increase of *Firmicutes* including *Clostridium innocuum, Eubacterium dolichum, Catenibacterium mitsuokai and Enterococcus spp.*, as well as a significant reduction in several *Bacteroides spp.*(Walker et al., 2011). In contrast, low carbohydrate diets result in enriched populations of bacteria from the *Bacteroidetes* phyla (Walker et al., 2011), and calorie-restricted diets prevent the growth of *Clostridium coccoides, Lactobacillus* spp. and *Bifidobacteria* spp., which are major butyrate producers required for colonocyte homeostasis (Santacruz et al., 2009). Complex carbohydrates also increase the levels of beneficial *Bifidobacteria* spp. such as *B. longum* subspecies *longum, B. breve* and *B. thetaiotaomicron* (Pokusaeva et al., 2011).

Human colonic bacteria ferment the indigestible fermentable carbohydrate to SCFAs, mainly acetate (C<sub>2</sub>), propionate (C<sub>3</sub>), butyrate (C<sub>4</sub>) (Topping and Clifton, 2001) and gases (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and H<sub>2</sub>) (Cummings et al., 1987). SCFAs can be rapidly absorbed from the colon and can contribute as an energy source for intestinal epithelial cells (Vinolo et al., 2011). *E. ruminantium* belongs to the family *Lachnospiraceae*, is xylanolytic and produces mainly formic acid as well as butyrate (Louis et al., 2004). *Clostridiaceae felsineum* is a pectinolytic butyrate-producer (Rainey FA, 2009). *Bacteroidetes* and *Clostridial* species are active degraders of dietary polysaccharides (Korpela et al., 2014). Other SCFAs, such as propionic acid, are beneficial at low concentrations but have neurotoxic effects in high quantities and may play a role in the development and persistence of the symptoms of autism. Acetate: propionate: butyrate values were similar in different regions of the large intestine (approximately 57:22:21) (Macfarlane and Macfarlane, 2003, Cummings et al., 1987).

SCFAs prevent colonic diseases and metabolic diseases including irritable bowel syndrome, inflammatory bowel disease, obesity, cardiovascular disease and cancer (Wong et al., 2006). Butyric acid is important in the prevention and treatment of diseases of the colonic mucosa (Henningsson et al., 2002). SCFAs have been recognized as potential mediators involved in the effects of gut microbiota on intestinal immune function and inflammatory processes (Vinolo et al., 2011). Individual SCFAs may provide specific health benefits. Butyrate is the main energy substrate for the colonocytes and is metabolized by the cells in preference to glucose or glutamine, accounting for 70% of the total energy demand of the colonic mucosa (Roediger, 1982, Scheppach, 1994) and has been shown to protect against damaging inflammatory responses.

Feeding *C. elegans* with SCFAs showed similar effect on the nematodes as feeding with amylose starch or fermented RS from filtered cecal contents from amylose starch fed mice (Zheng et al., 2010, Keenan et al., 2013). The purpose of current study was to determine the effects of SCFAs, products of fermentable fibers, on the intestinal fat deposition, insulin-resistance, and lifespan using the *C. elegans* N2, and null mutants, *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, or *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III*.

#### **3.2 Materials and methods**

### 3.2.1 E. coli OP50 culture

An *E. coli* pellet was inoculated into LB (Luria-Bertani) broth containing 0.2% streptomycin. The culture was incubated at 37°C for 24 hours, and then stored at 4°C. The enumeration of the *E. coli* culture was carried out using the *E. coli*/coliform Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> (Cat. <sup>#</sup> 6404, 3M Corp., Minneapolis, MN). The incubation time for the Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> is 24 hours at 37°C (Zheng et al., 2010, Yuan et al., 2012).

### 3.2.2 C. elegans culture

The *C. elegans* model organism does not require approval by Institutional Animal Care & Use Committee (IACUC). All the *C. elegans* strains and *E. coli*, OP50, which is standard laboratory food source for *C. elegans*, were obtained from *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center (CGC, University of Minnesota). The four *C. elegans* strains used in this study included: N2 Bristol (Wild type), null strains of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I* and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III*.

Mature gravid *C. elegans* were age-synchronized with a NaOH (1M) and sodium hypochlorite solution (5.25%, 5:2 ratios) to dissolve the *C. elegans* body and to release the viable eggs. Eggs were washed with S-complete solution 3 times and hatched overnight at room temperature. The age-synchronized *C. elegans* were diluted to 100 animals/ml, plated in liquid culture in 96-well plate (120µl/well, 10-15 animals) (Solis and Petrascheck, 2011) fed with *E. coli* OP50 ( $10^9$  cfu/ml) (Zheng et al., 2010, Yuan et al., 2012) at 20 or  $15^{\circ}$ C (*daf-16* mutant) in low temperature incubators (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Thirty microliters of 5-Fluoro-2'-deoxyuridine (FUDR, 0.6mM) stock solution were added to each well at L4 stage.

The effect of SCFAs on lifespan and intestinal fat deposition (IFD) of *C. elegans* was tested using 96 well plate liquid culture method (Solis and Petrascheck, 2011). Sodium butyrate was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Cat<sup>#</sup>: AAA1107936, Pittsburgh, PA). Sodium acetate trihydrate (Cat<sup>#</sup>: S8625), sodium propionate (Cat<sup>#</sup>: P5436), and tributyrin (Cat<sup>#</sup>: 113026) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Corp. (St. Louis, MO). Control animals were fed with *E. coli* (OP50) in densities of  $10^9$  (cfu/ml). The treatment groups received additional sodium butyrate (0.3mM, 0.6mM), sodium acetate (5mM, 50mM), sodium propionate (7mM), or tributyrin

(0.5mM, 3mM). The numbers of live animal were manually recorded every other day under an Inverted microscope with a  $4 \times$  objective (Nikon Eclipse *Ti*, Melville, NY, USA).

3.2.3 Resistant starch treatment and pharyngeal pumping rate

The experimental groups were fed amylose starch containing 60% RS (Hi-Maize<sup>®</sup> 260, Ingredion Incorporated, Bridgewater, NJ). The effect of amylose starch on the pharyngeal pumping rate of *C. elegans* was tested with the NGM agar culture method. The control animals were fed with *E. coli* (OP50) only. One experimental group was fed with additional amylose starch (0.5%, 1.0%, & 3.0% w/v) in addition to *E. coli* (OP50). Other experimental groups were fed amylose starch (0.5%, 1.0% and 3.0%), and an additional 2% glucose to mimic the hyperglycemia effect. The animals were examined periodically using a stereomicroscope (Nikon SMZ1500, Melville, NY) with transmitted light. The pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) was recorded manually by independent observers and the animals were returned to the incubators.

3.2.4 Nile red staining for fluorescence microscopy

Lipophilic dye, Nile red, was selected to stain the intestinal fat deposition in *C. elegans* and Fluorescent intensity was evaluated. To prepare the samples for taking digital images, the animals grown in liquid culture were harvested and washed with S-Basal buffer. The sample containing the animals was centrifuged at 2000 ×G for 20 seconds and the procedure was washed with S-Basel buffer 2 times. The animals were fixed with paraformaldehyde (4%) solution for 30 minutes at 4°C and washed with PBS 3 times. Nile red solution (50µl) was added to the tube containing the animals and allowed to sit for 30 minutes (Zheng et al., 2010). Ten microliters of fluoromount-G solution (Southern Biotechnology Associates, Birmingham, AL) was applied on the glass slide. Ten microliters of the specimen containing Nile Red stained *C. elegans* was applied on to the glass slide. A cover glass was mounted on the glass slide. The slides were

viewed with an epifluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse *Ti*) equipped with a Texas Red filter. Fluorescent micrographs were taken with a digital camera (Andor, DU-885K). The micrographs were analyzed using ImagePro Plus (Media Cybernetics, Inc., MD) and analyzed with NISelements AR3.22.11 software (Nikon Instrument, Melville, NY). The micrographs were Line profiles of the optical densities of Nile Red labeled intestinal fat deposition (Arbitrary units, percent of control) was determined for each treatment group.

### 3.2.5 Statistical analyses

All results were expressed as mean $\pm$ s.e.m. The data for the pharyngeal pumping rate were analyzed with ANCOVA method by SAS 9.4. Survival curves of lifespan were displayed by binomial probabilities as surrogates for survival probabilities and the mean survival time (mean lifespan) was estimated by Kaplan-Meier using SAS (SAS Institute Inc., USA). The data for fluorescence intensity and quantitative real-time PCR analyzed by (SAS 9.4). Statistical significance was set as P $\leq$ 0.05.

### **3.3 Results**

# 3.3.1 Effect of sodium butyrate on the lifespan of C. elegans

The sodium butyrate at doses of 0.3 and 0.6 mM increased the lifespan of the wild type *C. elegans* N2 (P<1×10<sup>-5</sup> and P<1×10<sup>-6</sup>, respectively) compared with the *E. coli* OP50 only control (Figure 9 {A}). The mean survival time was increased by 0.3 and 0.6mM sodium butyrate to 33.8 days and 36.9 days, respectively, compared to 24.9 days of control (Figure 9 {A} and Table 5). Strain *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* lacks the *sir-2.1* gene which has previously been implicated in aging. For this strain, sodium butyrate at concentrations of 0.3 and 0.6mM mildly decreased the lifespan compared with the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 9 {B} and Table 6). Sodium butyrate at concentrations of 0.3 and 0.6mM increased the lifespan of the *daf*-

*16(mgDf50) I* (GR1307) *C. elegans* strain (P=7×10<sup>-5</sup> and P=5×10<sup>-5</sup>, respectively) compared with the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 9 {C}). The mean survival time was increased to 25.9 days and 26.1 days by the treatment of 0.3 and 0.6mM sodium butyrate, respectively, compared with the 22.0 days for the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 9 {C} and Table 7). The *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans* lacks the insulin receptor and longevity pathway. In this strain, sodium butyrate at concentrations of 0.3 and 0.6mM slightly decreased the lifespan compared with the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 9 {D}). The mean survival times were decreased to 20.9 days and 20.5 days by the 0.3 and 0.6mM sodium butyrate, respectively, compared to the 21.7 days for the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 9 {D} and Table 8).



Figure 9 Sodium butyrate modified the lifespan of *C. elegans*.

A) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *C. elegans* N2; B) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans*; C) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *daf-16(mgDf50)I (GR1307) C. elegans*; D) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans*.

#	Samples	(mM)	Mean survival days	SEM	(%)
1	Control	0	24.9	0.914	100.0
2	Sodium butyrate	0.3	33.8	1.056	135.3
3	Sodium butyrate	0.6	36.9	1.173	148.0
4	Sodium acetate	5	31.7	1.627	127.1
5	Sodium acetate	50	16.8	0.607	67.5
6	Sodium propionate	7	25.3	1.112	101.4
7	Tributyrin	0.5	31.1	1.122	124.7
8	Tributyrin	3	25.4	0.735	102.0

Table 5 The effect of SCFAs on the mean survival time of Bristol wild type C. elegans N2.

# 3.3.2 Effect of sodium acetate on the lifespan of C. elegans

Sodium acetate (5mM) also significantly increased the lifespan of *C. elegans* N2 (P<1×10<sup>-5</sup>, Figure 10 {A}). The mean survival time was also increased to 31.7 days (Figure 10 {A} and Table 5). However, 50mM sodium acetate significantly decreased the lifespan of *C. elegans* (P<1×10<sup>-5</sup>, Figure 10 {A}). The mean survival time of the animals in this treatment was decreased to 16.8 days (Figure 10 {A} and Table 5). This means that low dose of sodium acetate can extend the lifespan of *C. elegans* but high dose of sodium acetate is toxic to the *C. elegans*. Sodium acetate at 5mM and 50mM significantly decreased the lifespan of *C. elegans* strain *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* (P=0.004 and P<0.001, Figure 10 {B}). The mean survival times were decreased to 20.0 days and 12.9 days, respectively, compared to the 28 days of control group (Figure 10 {B} and Table 6). Sodium acetate at 5 and 50mM significantly (P= $3.9\times10^{-3}$  and p= $1.1\times10^{-4}$ , respectively) increased the lifespan of the *daf-16(mgDf50) I* (GR1307) *C. elegans* strain (Figure 10 {C}). The mean survival time was increased to 26.1 days and 24.9 days, respectively for the two concentrations used while the mean survival time for control is 22.0 days (Figure 10 {C}).

and Table 7). Sodium acetate at 5mM mildly decreased the lifespan of daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans (Figure 10 {D}). Sodium acetate at 50mM significantly decreased (P=0.0008) the lifespan of this strain (Figure 10 {D}). The mean survival times were decreased to 19.8 days and 15.1days, respectively, for the sodium acetate treatments (Figure 10 {D} and Table 8), compared to the control of 21.7 days.



Figure 10 Sodium Acetate modified the lifespan of *C. elegans*.

Experimental group received additional sodium acetate (5, 50mM). The control group obtained standard laboratory food OP50 only (n=6). A) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *C. elegans* N2; B) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans*; C) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of
daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans; D) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans.

#	Treatment	(mM)	Mean survival days	SEM	(%)
1	Control	0	28.1	1.5	100.0
2	Sodium butyrate	0.3	26.2	1.4	93.4
3	Sodium butyrate	0.6	27.5	1.9	98.2
4	Sodium acetate	5	20.0	1.4	71.5
5	Sodium acetate	50	12.9	0.3	45.9
6	Sodium propionate	7	13.0	1.0	46.2
7	Tributyrin	0.5	17.7	1.4	63.0
8	Tributyrin	3	28.2	1.3	100.5

Table 6 The mean survival times of different SCFAs on *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans*.

# 3.3.3 Effect of sodium propionate on the lifespan of C. elegans

The lifespan of *C. elegans* N2 treated with 7mM sodium propionate did not have significant difference compared with the control (P=0.7794, Figure 11 {A}). The *C. elegans* strain *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* lifespan was significantly decreased by the treatment of 7mM sodium propionate compared to the *E.coli* OP50 fed control (P<0.001, Figure 11 {B}). However, the lifespan of the strain *daf-16(mgDf50) I* (GR1307) *C. elegans* with the treatment of 7mM sodium propionate was 24.4 days (Figure 11 {C} and Table 7), not significantly different from that of the control (P=0.08775, Figure 11 {C}). The *C. elegans* strain *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III* lifespan was mildly increased by the treatment of 7 mM sodium propionate compared to the *E.coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 11 {C}).

Table 7 The mean survival times of different SCFAs on daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans.

#	Treatment	(mM)	Mean survival days	SEM	(%)
1	Control	0	22.0	0.829	100.0
2	Sodium butyrate	0.3	25.9	0.827	117.4
3	Sodium butyrate	0.6	26.1	0.707	118.4
4	Sodium acetate	5	26.1	0.494	118.5

5	Sodium acetate	50	24.9	0.931	113.1
6	Sodium propionate	7	24.4	0.704	110.8
7	Tributyrin	0.5	25.0	0.967	113.3
8	Tributyrin	3	24.3	0.625	110.3



Figure 11 Sodium propionate modified the lifespan of C. elegans.

The control group obtained standard laboratory food OP50 only and experimental group received additional sodium propionate (7mM) (n=6). A) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *C. elegans* N2; B) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans*; C) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans*; D) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of IFD results of *daf-16(mgDf50) I; daf-2(m65) III C. elegans*.

3.3.4 Effect of tributyrin on the lifespan of C. elegans

The lower dose of tributyrin (0.5mM) significantly increased (P=0.0046, Figure 12 {A}) the lifespan but higher dose of tributyrin (3mM) did not significantly change the lifespan of C. elegans N2 (P =1.00, Figure 12 {A}). The mean survival time of C. elegans N2 in the treatments with 0.5 and 3 mM tributyrin were 31.1 and 25.4 days compared to 25.7 days of control (Figure 12 {A} and Table 5). Tributyrin at 0.5mM significantly decreased the lifespan of sir-2.1 mutant C. elegans (P=0.0005, Figure 12 {B}). The mean survival time of the animals was 13.0 days while it is 28 days in the control group (Figure 12 {B} and Table 6). In the daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans, tributyrin (3mM) had no significant difference with the E. *coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 12 {B}). The lower dosage of tributyrin (0.5mM) significantly increased the lifespan of daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans. The mean survival time was 25.0 days. However, the high dose of tributyrin (3mM) did not significantly affect the lifespan of C. elegans (P=0.398, Figure 12 {C}) or the mean survival time (24.3 days, Figure 12 {C} and Table 7). The tributyrin at 0.5 and 3mM also mildly increased the lifespan of C. elegans strain daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III (Figure 12 {D}). The mean survival time of the animals for the sodium propionate was 24.0 days (Figure 12  $\{D\}$  and Table 3.4). The mean survival time for the tributyrin (0.5 and 3mM) were 22.4 and 21.7 days, respectively (Figure 12 {D} and Table 8).

Table 8 The mean	survival times of di	ifferent SCFAs on	daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf	-2(m65) III C.
elegans.				

#	Treatment	(mM)	Mean survival days	SEM	(%)
1	Control	0	21.7	0.608	100.0
2	Sodium butyrate	0.3	20.9	0.791	96.3
3	Sodium butyrate	0.6	20.5	1.155	94.2
4	Sodium acetate	5	19.8	0.792	91.2
5	Sodium acetate	50	15.1	0.727	69.3
6	Sodium propionate	7	24.0	0.633	110.6
7	Tributyrin	0.5	22.4	0.815	103.0
8	Tributyrin	3	21.7	0.671	99.7

3.3.5 Feeding of SCFAs reduced the fluorescence intensity of Nile red positive intestinal fat deposition of *C. elegans* 

In this study, the SCFAs reduced the fluorescence intensity of Nile Red positive Intestinal Fat Deposition (IFD) in *C. elegans* N2 (Figure 9 {A}, 10 {A}, 11 {A}, and 12 {A}). The reduction was found in all treated animals as observed on day 5. As shown in Figure 9 {A}, the IFD level of the wild type *C. elegans* N2 was significantly decreased to 75.7% and 74.9% of the control group that were fed with only *E. coli* OP50 by 0.3 and 3mM sodium butyrate, respectively, (P=0.0016 and P=0.0011, n=5). The application of 100mM sodium acetate reduced the IFD to 80.7% (Figure 10 {A}, P < 0.05, n = 5) of the control.



Figure 12 Tributyrin modified the lifespan of *C. elegans*.

The control group obtained standard laboratory food OP50 only and experimental group received additional tributyrin (0.5, 3mM) (n=6). A) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *C. elegans* N2; B) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of *sir*-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans; C) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of daf-16(mgDf50) I (GR1307) C. elegans; D) Lifespan survival curve, mean survival time, and IFD results of daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans.

The IFD of 0.3mM sodium propionate resulted in a reduction to 83% of the control (Figure 11

{A}, P=0.0394, n=5). Tributyrin at concentrations of 0.5 and 3mM also resulted in a reduction

to 77% and 66.3% of the control (Figure 12 {A}, P<0.05 and P<0.0001, n=5).

For the *daf-16(mgDf50) I* (GR1307) *C. elegans* strain, the effect of SCFAs on the IFD is different from that observed on the wild type *C. elegans* N2. The treatment with sodium butyrate did not significantly reduce the IFD at the concentrations of 0.3 and 0.6mM (Figure 9 {C}) in contrast to the significant IFD reduction in wild type *C. elegans* N2 (Figure 9 {A}). The IFD was slightly increased by the application of sodium acetate at the concentrations of 5 and 50mM (Figure 10 {C}). Similar trend was observed in the treatments with sodium propionate and tributyrin. The application of 7mM sodium propionate significantly (Figure 11 {C}, P<0.05, n=5) increased the IFD in the *daf-16* mutant. The IFD was also increased by 0.5 (P<0.05, n=5) and 3mM (P=0.122, n=5) tributyrin (Figure 12 {C}). These results demonstrated that sodium butyrate, sodium acetate, and tributyrin regulate the *C. elegans* fat metabolism in a *daf-16* gene dependent way, but they modify the lifespan in a *daf-16* gene in an independent way.

Sodium butyrate, sodium acetate, and tributyrin treatment did not significantly modify the IFD in the *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III* double null mutants (Figure 9 {D}, 10 {D}, 11 {D}, and 12 {D}). The IFD in the treatment with 0.3 and 0.6mM sodium butyrate was 96.6% (P=1, n=5) and 89.1% (P=0.95, n=5) (Figure 9 {D}), respectively, compared with the *E. coli* OP50 fed control; 10mM sodium acetate slightly increased the IFD content to 109% (P=0.96, n=5) compared with the *E. coli* OP50 fed control (Figure 10 {D}). The IFD for the treatment with 100mM sodium acetate was decreased to 90% of the control but the difference was not significant (Figure 10 {D}, P=0.97, n=5). Sodium propionate at the concentration of 0.3mM slightly increased IFD (Figure 11 {D}, P=0.0636, n=5). Tributyrin at the concentrations of 0.5 and 3mM did not significantly change the IFD (Figure 12 {D}, P=1 and P=0.88, respectively).

3.3.6 Amylose starch sustained the PPR

Amylose starch consists of 60% amylose starch and 40% amylopectin (Zheng et al., 2010). Concentrations of 0.5, 1, and 3% amylose starch were used to feed wild type *C. elegans* N2 and *daf-16(mgDf50)I* mutant. In the wild type *C. elegans* N2, the 0.5, 1, and 3% amylose starch treatments sustained the PPR (P<0.05, Figure 13) compared with the control treated with *E. coli* OP50 only. The 0.5, 1, and 3% amylose starch treatments did not significantly sustain the PPR in the presence of 2% glucose (Figure 13). In the *daf-16(mgDf50)I* strain, the 0.5, 1, and 3% of amylose starch treatments increased the PPR in this strain (Figure 13). In the presence of 2% glucose (Figure 13).



Figure 13 Amylose starch sustained the PPR **3.4 Discussion** 

The mean survival times of *E. coli* OP50 fed control for the wild type N2 and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans* were 24.9 and 21.7days, respectively. Sodium butyrate significantly increased the lifespan of the wild type *C. elegan*, but it did not significantly increase the lifespan of the *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans*. The low dose of sodium acetate and tributyrin significantly increased the lifespan of the wild type and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans*, but the high dose of sodium acetate and tributyrin did not significantly increase the lifespan, but the high dose of sodium acetate and tributyrin did not significantly increase the lifespan, in fact, they slightly reduced the lifespan. Sodium propionate at 7mM did not significantly increase the lifespan for both the wild type and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III C. elegans*. The effect of SCFAs on the lifespan is dependent on the insulin signaling gene *daf-2*, but not dependent on *daf-16*.

The results for the *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans* strain demonstrated that sodium butyrate increased the lifespan in a *sir-2.1* gene dependent way. Low dose of sodium acetate also increased the lifespan in a *sir-2.1* gene dependent way, but the high dose of sodium acetate decreased the lifespan in both strains. Tributyrin increased the lifespan also in a *sir-2.1* gene dependent way. Sodium propionate at 7mM did not significantly increase the lifespan in both the wild type N2 and *sir-2.1(ok434)IV C. elegans* strains.

Sodium butyrate can increase the lifespan and the daf-2 and sir-2.1 genes are necessary to adjust the lifespan of *C. elegans*. Sodium acetate can increase the lifespan of *C. elegans* but the dosage is important. High dosage of sodium acetate is harmful to the healthspan of *C. elegans*. Sodium acetate adjusts the lifespan of *C. elegans* in daf-2 and sir-2.1 dependent way. Tributyrin also increases the lifespan of *C. elegans* in a daf-2 and sir-2.1 genes dependent way.

The lifespan of *C. elegans* as well as other organisms such as flies, yeast, and possibly mammals is regulated by the insulin signaling pathway gene *daf-16* as *daf-16* protein plays an important role in the regulation of insulin signaling pathway in *C. elegans* (Lin et al., 2001). How the SCFAs regulate the lifespan through insulin signaling pathway is still not fully understood. Therefore, *C. elegans daf-16(mgDf50) I* (GR1307) which is a strain that has a complete elimination of *daf-16* coding region was used in this study. The results from this study indicate that the effect of SCFAs on the lifespan of *C. elegans* is independent of the insulin signaling gene *daf-16*.

The results from this study demonstrate that sodium butyrate, low dose sodium acetate and low dose tributyrin are beneficial in extending the lifespan of *C. elegans* and in the reduction of intestinal fat deposition. Sodium butyrate has the best effect among all the SCFAs tested. Previous studies by other researchers have also shown similar effects (Zheng et al., 2010, Zheng et al., 2008, Keenan et al., 2013). High dose of sodium acetate negatively affected the lifespan. The *daf-16* gene is a key factor in the insulin signaling pathway of *C. elegans* to regulate the longevity gene expression, but our results demonstrated that the regulation of longevity by SCFAs is independent on the *daf-16* gene.

# **3.5 References**

- 1. BACKHED, F., DING, H., WANG, T., HOOPER, L. V., KOH, G. Y., NAGY, A., SEMENKOVICH, C. F. & GORDON, J. I. 2004. The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101, 15718-15723.
- 2. CUMMINGS, J. H., POMARE, E. W., BRANCH, W. J., NAYLOR, C. P. & MACFARLANE, G. T. 1987. Short chain fatty acids in human large intestine, portal, hepatic and venous blood. *Gut*, 28, 1221-7.
- 3. EATON, S. B. 2006. The ancestral human diet: what was it and should it be a paradigm for contemporary nutrition? *Proc Nutr Soc*, 65, 1-6.
- 4. EVERARD, A. & CANI, P. D. 2013. Diabetes, obesity and gut microbiota. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 27, 73-83.
- 5. FLINT, H. J. 2011. Obesity and the gut microbiota. *J Clin Gastroenterol*, 45 Suppl, S128-32.
- 6. HENNINGSSON, A. M., BJORCK, I. M. & NYMAN, E. M. 2002. Combinations of indigestible carbohydrates affect short-chain fatty acid formation in the hindgut of rats. *J Nutr*, 132, 3098-104.
- KEENAN, M. J., JANES, M., ROBERT, J., MARTIN, R. J., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., PELKMAN, C., TULLEY, R., GOITA, M., DURHAM, H. A., ZHOU, J. & SENEVIRATHNE, R. N. 2013. Resistant starch from high amylose maize (HAM-RS2) reduces body fat and increases gut bacteria in ovariectomized (OVX) rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21, 981-4.
- 8. KING, D. E., MAINOUS, A. G., 3RD & LAMBOURNE, C. A. 2012. Trends in dietary fiber intake in the United States, 1999-2008. *J Acad Nutr Diet*, 112, 642-8.
- 9. KORPELA, K., FLINT, H. J., JOHNSTONE, A. M., LAPPI, J., POUTANEN, K., DEWULF, E., DELZENNE, N., DE VOS, W. M. & SALONEN, A. 2014. Gut microbiota signatures predict host and microbiota responses to dietary interventions in obese individuals. *PLoS One*, 9, e90702.

- LEY, R. E., HAMADY, M., LOZUPONE, C., TURNBAUGH, P. J., RAMEY, R. R., BIRCHER, J. S., SCHLEGEL, M. L., TUCKER, T. A., SCHRENZEL, M. D., KNIGHT, R. & GORDON, J. I. 2008. Evolution of Mammals and Their Gut Microbes. *Science*, 320, 1647-1651.
- 11. LIN, K., HSIN, H., LIBINA, N. & KENYON, C. 2001. Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. *Nat Genet*, 28, 139-45.
- LOUIS, P., DUNCAN, S. H., MCCRAE, S. I., MILLAR, J., JACKSON, M. S. & FLINT, H. J. 2004. Restricted distribution of the butyrate kinase pathway among butyrateproducing bacteria from the human colon. *J Bacteriol*, 186, 2099-106.
- 13. MACFARLANE, S. & MACFARLANE, G. T. 2003. Regulation of short-chain fatty acid production. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 62, 67-72.
- 14. POKUSAEVA, K., FITZGERALD, G. F. & VAN SINDEREN, D. 2011. Carbohydrate metabolism in Bifidobacteria. *Genes Nutr*, 6, 285-306.
- 15. RAINEY FA, H. B., SMALL A 2009. Genus I. clostridium. In: De Vos P, Garrity GM, Jones D, Krieg NR, Ludwig W, et al, editors. Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology. *Springer*, 774–781.
- 16. ROEDIGER, W. E. 1982. Utilization of nutrients by isolated epithelial cells of the rat colon. *Gastroenterology*, 83, 424-9.
- SANTACRUZ, A., MARCOS, A., WARNBERG, J., MARTI, A., MARTIN-MATILLAS, M., CAMPOY, C., MORENO, L. A., VEIGA, O., REDONDO-FIGUERO, C., GARAGORRI, J. M., AZCONA, C., DELGADO, M., GARCIA-FUENTES, M., COLLADO, M. C., SANZ, Y. & GROUP, E. S. 2009. Interplay between weight loss and gut microbiota composition in overweight adolescents. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 1906-15.
- 18. SCHEPPACH, W. 1994. Effects of short chain fatty acids on gut morphology and function. *Gut*, 35, S35-8.
- 19. SEKIROV, I., RUSSELL, S. L., ANTUNES, L. C. & FINLAY, B. B. 2010. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol Rev*, 90, 859-904.

- 20. SIMPSON, H. L. & CAMPBELL, B. J. 2015. Review article: dietary fibre-microbiota interactions. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 42, 158-79.
- 21. SOLIS, G. M. & PETRASCHECK, M. 2011. Measuring Caenorhabditis elegans life span in 96 well microtiter plates. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*.
- 22. TOPPING, D. L. & CLIFTON, P. M. 2001. Short-chain fatty acids and human colonic function: roles of resistant starch and nonstarch polysaccharides. *Physiol Rev*, 81, 1031-64.
- 23. VINOLO, M. A., RODRIGUES, H. G., NACHBAR, R. T. & CURI, R. 2011. Regulation of inflammation by short chain fatty acids. *Nutrients*, *3*, 858-76.
- WALKER, A. W., INCE, J., DUNCAN, S. H., WEBSTER, L. M., HOLTROP, G., ZE, X., BROWN, D., STARES, M. D., SCOTT, P., BERGERAT, A., LOUIS, P., MCINTOSH, F., JOHNSTONE, A. M., LOBLEY, G. E., PARKHILL, J. & FLINT, H. J. 2011. Dominant and diet-responsive groups of bacteria within the human colonic microbiota. *ISME J*, 5, 220-30.
- 25. WONG, J. M., DE SOUZA, R., KENDALL, C. W., EMAM, A. & JENKINS, D. J. 2006. Colonic health: fermentation and short chain fatty acids. *J Clin Gastroenterol*, 40, 235-43.
- YUAN, Y., KADIYALA, C. S., CHING, T. T., HAKIMI, P., SAHA, S., XU, H., YUAN, C., MULLANGI, V., WANG, L., FIVENSON, E., HANSON, R. W., EWING, R., HSU, A. L., MIYAGI, M. & FENG, Z. 2012. Enhanced energy metabolism contributes to the extended life span of calorie-restricted Caenorhabditis elegans. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 31414-26.
- ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-8.
- ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F. L. & MARTIN, R. 2008. Butyrate, a short chain fatty acid from fermented resistant starch reduced fat droplets in C. elegans: a new model for evaluating the effect of resistant starch on body fat. . *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, 16, S185-S185.

# CHAPTER 4: *PROWASHONUPANA* BARLEY DIETARY FIBER REDUCES BODY FAT AND INCREASES INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN *CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS* MODEL

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Obesity costs the US health care system over \$147 billion to nearly \$210 billion a year and predisposes to diabetes which generates even higher costs (Ogden et al., 2006, Cawley J, 2012). Only limited medications are available to treat obesity, and surgical treatments are second-line obesity treatments. Diet intervention, exercise, and lifestyle modification have been promoted by the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), and other government institutions, but sustainable weight loss has been elusive. In an intensive diet and behavior modification program with meal replacements, adults lost 22.6-25.5±1% of their body weight temporarily, but maintained only a 5% weight loss after 3 years (Kress et al., 2006, Wadden and Frey, 1997).

Daily consumption of non-digestible fiber may offer a strategy to increase energy expenditure and reduce body fat by stimulation of mitochondrial fat oxidation (Madhujith et al., 2004, Chandrasekara and Shahidi, 2011, John and Shahidi, 2010). Average daily consumption of dietary fiber in the United States is currently 3 to 10 g/day, 4 to 13 fold less than recommended (Goldring, 2004, Anderson and Akanji, 1991). Non-digestible carbohydrate, fermented to SCFAs in the lower gastrointestinal tract, increases satiety hormone PYY and GLP-1. These hormones augment fat oxidation (lower respiratory quotient), elevate energy expenditure (Zhou et al., 2006, Zhou et al., 2008, Keenan et al., 2006), and inhibit body fat accretion in rodents (Keenan et al., 2006, Shen et al., 2009). The most efficient SCFA, butyrate, stimulates the production of PYY, GLP-1 (Zhou et al., 2006) and prevents diet-induced insulin resistance which is directly related to a shorter lifespan in mice, a reduced cell survival, and a

decreased lifespan in the *C. elegans* model organism (Gao et al., 2009, Abate and Blackwell, 2009). A diet supplemented with  $\beta$ -glucans at 4g/day for 14 weeks in 7 healthy overweight and obese subjects increased fasting PYY, GLP-1, and increased post-meal satiety in humans (Greenway et al., 2007). We found that fermentable carbohydrate or RS, endogenous gut fermentation products of rodents fed RS, or the exogenous SCFA, butyrate, all reduce intestinal fat deposition (IFD) in the wild type *C. elegans* (N2) (Zheng et al., 2010). The lipid oxidation pathway including cluster differentiation transport protein (CD36), carnitine palmitoyltranferase-1 (CPT-1), acetyl co-enzyme A carboxylase (ACC), and acetyl CoA synthetase ACS have been identified using genetically manipulated *C. elegans* (see review (Zheng and Greenway, 2012)).

Barley is the fourth most important cultivated foodstuff, and contains 62-77% starch (w/w) which is composed of 25-35% atypical amylose starch with 3–5% RS<sub>3</sub> and  $\beta$ -glucan (Asare et al., 2011, Vasanthan and Bhatty, 1998), a mixture that provides a distinctive amylose– amylopectin interaction (Tang et al., 2001, Lifschitz et al., 2002, Behall et al., 2005, Rendell et al., 2005, Dongowski et al., 2002). Barley also contains high levels of functional lipids, such as, total phytosterols (1.2-9.6% of barley oil) and total tocotrienols (0.3-0.6% of barley oil) which are 6-12 fold higher than in palm oil (0.05%) and 4-8 fold higher than in rice bran oil (0.08%) (Moreau et al., 2007). The barley variety *Prowashonupana* (PWB) contains 17% β-glucan and 15% fermentable starch (Rendell et al., 2005). These carbohydrates delay or decrease the absorption of dietary fats and lower the postprandial glycemic response (Lifschitz et al., 2002). Dietary fermentable fiber such as RS is present in a variety of cereals and offers the opportunity to reduce body fat and control body weight. We demonstrated that RS<sub>2</sub> from corn (Ingredion Incorporated, Westchester, Illinois, USA) induced a 23% reduction of intestinal fat deposition in wild type *C. elegans* (Zheng et al., 2010). The specific PWB used in the present study has a lower RS content compared to high amylose corn starch, but has significantly more soluble  $\beta$ glucan than most other barleys, which are linked to half of the PWB fiber (Behall et al., 2005, Rendell et al., 2005). Retrograded amylose starch, RS<sub>3</sub>, and  $\beta$ -glucan of PW barley provide distinctive amylose–amylopectin and amylopectin- $\beta$ -glucan interactions that increase the viscosity and delay energy absorption in the GI tract (Asare et al., 2011, Vasanthan and Bhatty, 1998, Tang et al., 2001, Moreau et al., 2007) reducing the glycemic peak by 50%, lowering low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol in healthy humans, decreasing fat accumulation in humans and rodents (Wursch and Pi-Sunyer, 1997), augmenting immunity by activating the dectin-1 receptor and activating multiple genetic signaling pathways, including the DAF-2/insulin-like receptor (ILR) pathways. The details of the mechanism by which insulin-resistance is improved, however, are unclear (Tsoni and Brown, 2008, Engelmann and Pujol, 2011).

*C. elegans* is a small, free-living soil nematode, a multicellular eukaryotic organism, distributed widely around the world. *C. elegans* is the first animal to have its genome completely sequenced and conserves 65% of the genes associated with human disease (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). *C. elegans daf-2*, is a homolog of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptor in humans and is the only gene encoding the insulin/IGF-1 like receptor in *C. elegans* (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). Decreased *daf-2* signaling increases *C. elegans* lifespan (Kramer et al., 2003, Koga et al., 1999) which fully depends upon *daf-16* (Patel et al., 2008), since *daf-16* null mutations completely suppress the extension of lifespan by *daf-2 (e1370)III* null mutant (Hertweck et al., 2004, Tissenbaum and Ruvkun, 1998, Burks et al., 2000, Yu et al., 2010, Hunt et al., 2011). Hyperglycemia (2% glucose) causes insulin resistance in N2 and *daf-2(e1370)III* null mutants, and reduces pharyngeal movement, a surrogate marker directly related to lifespan (Abate and Blackwell, 2009). *sir-2.1* overexpression prolongs *C. elegans* lifespan

(Frojdo et al., 2011). In fact, doubling *C. elegans sir-2.1* gene number induces a 50% increase in the lifespan that is DAF-16/FOXO dependent (Tissenbaum and Guarente, 2001, Dorman et al., 1995), and the null mutant of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* has a shorter lifespan than the N2 (Gami and Wolkow, 2006), which recently became controversial, because RNA interference (RNAi) did not suppress the longevity (Burnett et al., 2011). The *gcy-8* gene (thermotaxis) is a subtype of guanylyl cyclase (GCYs) which has been proven to promote fat storage and mediate satiety, as does *cck*.

Two thirds of the genes associated with human diseases have homologs in *C. elegans*, and the *C. elegans* intestine has similarities to the human gastrointestinal track (You et al., 2008). Over 300 genes have been shown to cause a reduction in body fat when inactivated, and inactivation of more than 100 genes has shown an increased fat storage (Ashrafi et al., 2003). The genes governing lipid metabolism do not necessarily overlap with genes governing the aging process (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). Not only does the *C. elegans* model organism offer reduced costs when screening for bioactive substances, the translucent bodies of the worms are convenient for analysis of intestinal fat deposition (IFD) by lipid—staining dyes. Nile red fluorescent dye has been validated through lipid-extraction, separation with thin layer chromatography, and quantification with gas chromatography (Ashrafi et al., 2003). Recently, Nile red staining *in vitro* has been recommended as being superior to coherent anti-Stokes Raman scattering (CARS) microscopy (Yen et al., 2010).

The goal of the current study was to determine the effects of PWB on IFD, insulinresistance, and hyperglycemia-impaired lipid metabolism using the *C. elegans* N2, and null mutants, *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, or *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III*. Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR), a surrogate marker of *C. elegans* lifespan (Chow et al., 2006b, Finley et al., 2013b), was also monitored to determine effect of PWB on healthspan.

#### 4.2 Materials and methods

*C. elegans* strains and their standard lab food source, *Escherichia coli (E. coli*, OP50, *Uracil auxotroph)*, were provided by the *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center (University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA). The *C. elegans* model is not regulated by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUC) nor does it require IACUC approval (Zheng et al., 2013).

#### 4.2.1 Culture of *E. coli* (OP50)

OP50 were cultured by the standard method described elsewhere (Zheng et al., 2010). Briefly,  $10\mu$ l± of stock *E. coli* solution was added to Luria Broth (LB) medium and the medium was incubated at 37°C for 48h. The OP50 were then sub-cultured in Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> *E.coli*/Coliform Count Plates (3M Corporate, MN, USA) at 37°C for 24h, and the colonies of OP50 were confirmed to be at a density of  $5x10^8 - 5x10^{11}$ cfu/ml at which time the *C. elegans* were allowed to eat *ad libitum*.

# 4.2.2 Culture of *C. elegans*

*C. elegans* N2, *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III* null mutants were used in this study. Each strain was age synchronized, grown on NGM agar plates ( $\emptyset$ 35 mm), transferred to a new dish every other day, and stored in a low temperature incubator (Revco Tech., Nashville, NC, USA) at 20°C or 15°C (*daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III*) throughout the experiments. Mature gravid *C. elegans* were transferred individually onto the agar plates and treated with a lysis solution consisting of NaOH (1M, 500 µl, v/v) and sodium hypochlorite solution (5.25%, 200 µl, v/v) to dissolve the *C. elegans* body and to release the viable eggs. Stock solutions have been previously described in detail. One day prior to the

experiment, 200µl of a feeding media containing E. coli was added to the agar dish.

4.2.3 Diet composition

*Prowashonupana* barley (PWB, Sustagrain<sup>®</sup>, Ardent Mills Corporate, Denver, CO, USA) were powdered using a centrifugal mill with a 0.75mm sieve (Retsch ZM 200; Haan, Germany), autoclaved at 121°C, and suspended in distilled deionized water (DDH<sub>2</sub>O, 5% w/v). Detailed nutritional data of PWB by Ardent Mills Corporate is listed in Table 9.

Table 9 Nutritional data of *Prowashonupana* barley (Sustagrain<sup>®</sup> Barley<sup>1</sup>), reported on a 100g basis.

Content	Quantity (g)	Content	Quantity (mg)
Calories	390 kCal	Vitamin A	0 IU
Calories from Fat	60 kCal	Vitamin C	0
Fat	6.5	Sodium	12
Saturated Fat	1.8	Calcium	33
Cholesterol	0	Iron	3.6
Carbohydrates	64.3	Vitamin B1 (Thiamin)	0.6
Total Diatany Fibar	20	Vitamin B2	0.3
Total Dietaly Fibel	50	(Riboflavin)	
Beta glucan	15	Vitamin B3 (Niacin)	4.6
Soluble Fiber	12	Potassium	452
Protein	18	Zinc	2.8
1			

<sup>1</sup><u>http://www.ardentmills.com/uploads/Ardent\_Mills\_Sustagrain.pdf</u>

Control animals were fed with OP50 only. The experimental groups larval stage 2 (L2) were fed supplementary *Prowashonupana* barley (PWB, 0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%) that had no additives. To create insulin resistance, two percent glucose was added to an additional group of each strain, with and without PWB (Table 10). The dietary nutrient composition is listed in Table 11 (Feijo Delgado et al., 2013). *C. elegans* were transferred to fresh dishes every other day receiving treatment (50µl).

Table 10 PWB diet composition

	Dosage (%)								
Treatments Without glucose		With glucose							
(50µl)	0	0.5	1	3		0	0.5	1	3
OP50 ( $2 \times 10^9$ cfu/ml, µl)	10	10	10	10		10	10	10	10
PWB (5%, μl)	0	5	10	30		0	5	10	30
Glucose (50%, μl)	0	0	0	0		2	2	2	2

Table 11 Diet ingredient composition

Nutrionto	DWP dist (mg/ml)	OP50 (ma/ml)	PWB treatment (mg/plate)				
Nutrents	P w D ulet (Ing/IIII)	OF 50 (IIIg/IIII)	0	0.5%	1%	3%	
Beta-glucan	150	-	0.000	0.012	0.023	0.069	
Total dietary fiber	300	-	0.000	0.018	0.037	0.110	
Carbohydrate	643	7.5	0.375	1.983	3.590	10.020	
Protein	180	37.5	1.875	2.325	2.775	4.575	
Fat	65	5.0	0.250	0.413	0.575	1.225	

## 4.2.4 Pharyngeal movement (pumping rate, PPR)

Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) as a surrogate marker of *C. elegans* lifespan (Chow et al., 2006a, Finley et al., 2013a, Kang et al., 2007) was also monitored for the effect of these compounds. Animals were examined periodically using a stereomicroscope (Nikon SMZ1500, Melville, NY) with transmitted light. The pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) was recorded manually by independent observers and the animals were returned to the incubators.

# 4.2.5 Fluorescence microscopy

The lipophilic dye, Nile red, was selected to stain the intestinal fat deposition. Prior to fixing the animals, an S-basal (see below) solution was added to the dish to wash the animals. The solution containing the animals was centrifuged for 20 seconds at 805G and this procedure was repeated twice. Animals were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde over 2h at 4°C and washed with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for 5 min x 3. Nile red (50  $\mu$ l) was applied to the

specimens for 10 min. Ten microliters of Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotechnology Associates, AL, USA) was applied to a glass slide followed by  $20\mu$ l of the medium containing Nile red stained animals. A cover glass was mounted on the glass slide. The slides were viewed with an epifluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse, *Ti*) equipped with a Texas Red filter. Fluorescent micrographs were taken with a digital camera (Andor, DU-885k, Concord, MA, USA). The micrographs were analyzed using NIS elements (Nikon). Line profiles of the optical densities (arbitrary units, % of control) of Nile red labelled IFD were determined for adult animals (larval stage 4 [L4]).

## 4.2.6 Quantitative RT-PCR

4.2.6.1 Reagents

The Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent (T9424), chloroform (C2432), and isopropanol (I9516) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Taqman PCR core kit (N8080228), MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (N8080018), and RNase Inhibitor (N8080119) were obtained from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY, USA). RNase-free micro tubes and pipette tips were used in isolating RNA and in quantitative RT-PCR.

### 4.2.6.2 RNA isolation

Total RNA was extracted using the Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent as described elsewhere (Ye et al., 2007). *C. elegans* samples were homogenized in 1ml Trizol<sup>®</sup> Reagent (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) per 50-100 mg of tissue. The samples went through 5 freeze-thaw cycles in which they were frozen in liquid nitrogen and thawed in a 37°C water bath. The homogenized samples were vortexed at room temperature to allow the complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Two hundred microliters of cold pure chloroform per 1ml of Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent were added and the samples were vortexed for 15s before being incubated at room temperature for

5min. The samples were centrifuged at 12,000g for 10 min at 4°C, and the top aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube. A 600µl aliquot of cold isopropanol per 1ml of Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent was used for the initial homogenization. The samples were then incubated at room temperature for 10min, vortexed for 15s, and centrifuged at 12,000g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet was washed once with 1ml cold 75% ethanol. The sample was vortexed and centrifuged at 7,500g for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed completely and the RNA pellet was briefly air-dried. The RNA pellet was re-suspended in 0.1% diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water and stored at -80°C. The RNA concentration was analysed with a Nanodrop<sup>®</sup> ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Wilmington, DE, USA).

# 4.2.6.3 Quantitative RT-PCR

The mRNA levels of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* were determined using Taqman<sup>®</sup> quantitative RT-PCR (Figure 14). The following components were added in one-step RT-PCR: 2.2µl H<sub>2</sub>O, 1µl 10× Taqman<sup>®</sup> buffer A, 2.2µl 25mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> solution, 0.3µl 10mM dATP, 0.3µl 10mM dCTP, 0.3µl 10mM dGTP, 0.3µl 10mM dUTP, 0.05µl 20U/µl RNase inhibitor, 0.05µl 50U/µl MuLV reverse transcriptase, 0.05µl 5U/µl Amplitaq gold<sup>®</sup>, 0.25µl Taqman<sup>®</sup> probe and primers, and 3µl 5ng/µl RNA. The PCR reaction was conducted in triplicate using a Taqman<sup>®</sup> probe and primers set (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) for *ckr-1*(Ce02408606\_m1), *gcy-*8(Ce02456184\_g1), *cpt-1*(Ce02440434\_m1), and *cpt-2*(Ce02459919\_g1). The mRNA signal was normalized over a eukaryotic 18S rRNA (Hs99999901-s1) internal control. The reaction was conducted using a 7900 HT Fast real-time PCR system (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). Reverse transcription was done at 48°C for 30min, and AmpliTaq gold<sup>®</sup> activation (denaturation) was done at 95°C for 10min. Amplification of the DNA involved 40 cycles of 15s at 95°C and 1min at 60°C. Data was analyzed using the Sequence Detector Software (Life

Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). The relative quantification of gene expression  $(2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct})$  was calculated.



Figure 14 The procedures of animal culture, DNA or RNA extraction, and qRT-PCR in *C. elegans* model organism (http://www.gene-quantification.de/chemistry.html).

## 4.2.7 Statistical analysis

All data were presented as mean  $\pm$  sem. Student *t*-test, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for IFD, analysis of co-variance (ANCOVA) was used to compare the slopes of PPR data, and principal component analyses (PCA) was conducted using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC, USA). Statistical significance was set at P $\leq$ 0.05.

#### 4.3 Results

Changes of IFD indicated by fluorescent intensity of Nile red and alterations in lifespan suggested by reduced PPR indicating aging, with or without 2% glucose, were quantified in this study. The IFD was reduced in N2, and null mutants of *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* and *daf-16(mgDf50)I*.

These reductions were reversed in the presence of 2% glucose. The PPRs declined in all groups as the animals aged. PWB treatment, however, increased the PPR in all groups compared to their control that did not receive PWB treatment. These responses were reversed in the presence of 2% glucose.



Figure 15 Intestinal fat deposition was significantly reduced in the *C. elegans* (N2) that received the PWB (0.5% or 3%) compared to a control group.

## 4.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)

Post PWB treatment, the fluorescence intensity of Nile Red was dose-dependently reduced by 19 to 44% (0.5 or 3.0%, n=6, P<0.05) in N2 (Figure 15), by 18 to 28% (0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%, n=9, P<0.01) in *daf-16(mgDf50)I* (Figure 16b), or by 18 to 36% (0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%, n=9, P<0.01) in *the sir-2.1(ok434)IV* (Figure 16d). The reduction in N2 or *daf-16(mgDf50)I* was reversed in presence of 2% glucose (Figure 16a and 16b). In *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III*, PWB did not have statistically significant effect on IFD (Figure 16c). In *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, only in presence of 2% glucose, PWB (0.5 or 3.0%) induced a 40-50% reduction of the fluorescence intensity in a dose-dependent manor (n=3, P<0.05) (Figure 16d).



Figure 16 IFD was reduced in mutant *C. elegans*.

a) N2 Fluorescence intensity of Nile red was reduced in the PWB (0.5%, 1%, or 3%) treated animals. The fluorescence intensity of Nile red reduced by PWB treated animals was reversed in the presence of 2% glucose. b) daf-16(mgDf50)I: The fluorescence intensity of Nile red reduced by PWB treated animals was no different compared with control animals with or without glucose. c) daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III: Fluorescence intensity of Nile red was not reduced in the PWB (0.5% or 3%) treated animals. PWB treatment reduced Nile red fluorescence intensity in the presence of 2% glucose. d) sir-2.1(ok434)IV: Fluorescence intensity of IFD stained by Nile red in animals that received the PWB (0.5%, 1%, or 3%).

# 4.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)

The PWB treatment dose-dependently elevated the PPR in N2 (1.0 or 3.0%, P<0.05)

(Figure 17a), daf-16(mgDf50)I (0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%, Fig. 17b), daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65)III (0.5,

1.0, or 3.0%, Fig. 17c), or *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* (3.0%, Fig. 17d) (n = 20animals/3 dishes, P<0.05) without additional 2% glucose. In the presence of additional 2% glucose, the PWB treatment dose-dependently elevated the PPR in N2 (0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%, P<0.05) (Figure 17e), *daf-16(mgDf50)I* (0.5 or 1.0%, Figure 17f), *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III* (0.5, 1.0, or 3.0%, Figure 17g), or *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* (3.0%, Figure 17h) (n = 20animals/3 dishes, P<0.05).



Figure 17 PPR of *C. elegans* was reduced in all groups with aging. An elevation of the PPR was observed in animals that received the PWB in a) N2 (P<0.05), b) daf-16(mgDf50)I groups (P<0.05), c) daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III (P<0.05) or d) sir-2.1(ok434)IV (P<0.05). Similar results were observed in the presence of glucose in e) N2 (P<0.05), f) daf-16(mgDf50)I groups (P<0.05), g) daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III (P<0.05) or h) sir-2.1(ok434)IV (P<0.05).

## 4.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression

PWB feeding (0.5, 1, and 3%) dose-dependently reduced mRNA expression of *cpt*-1 (20-30%), *cpt*-2 (30-40%), *ckr*-1 (30-40%), and *gcy*-8 (30-50%) in N2. The reduction was observed in *daf*-16 deficient mutant as *cpt*-1 (30%), *cpt*-2 20-30%, *ckr*-1 (40%), and *gcy*-8 (40%).



Figure 18 PWB dose-dependently altered mRNA expressions of cpt-1, cpt-2, ckr-1, and gcy-8 in the *C. elegans* model.

a) Reduced in N2 and was reversed by additional glucose; b) Elevated in *daf-16* mutant with reduction on *cpt-1* with further augmentation by glucose; and c) Decreased in *daf-16/daf-2* mutant and further reduced by glucose with an initial increase except *cpt-1*; d) Did not change in *sir-2.1* mutant while further reduced in presence of glucose.

In *daf-16/daf-2* mutant, *cpt-1* was reduced by 30% while other three mRNA expressions were elevated by *cpt-2* (50%), *ckr-1* (70-60%), and *gcy-8* (80%). Although there was a 20% reduction in *gcy-8*, feeding did not change the other three mRNA expressions in the *sir-2.1* mutant. In presence of glucose, however, these mRNA expressions were increased in N2 by 10% and in the mutant *daf-16* by 40%, while mRNA expression was reduced in the mutant *sir-2.1* by 50% after an initial increase of 30% and in the *daf-16/daf-2* by 10-50% after an initial reduction of 40-60% (P<0.05, Figure 18).

4.3.4 Principal component analyses (PCA)



Figure 19 Principal component analyses (PCA) showed the relationships of the lipid metabolic related mRNAs (ckr-1, cpt-1, cpt-2, and gcy-8), PPR slope, and IFD with two strong factors.

Two factors explained the results of PCA. IFD has a strong negative effect with factor 1 in N2, while it has weak relationship with factor 1 in other strains. IFD has a strong positive relationship with factor 2 in *daf-16*, *daf-16/daf-2*, and *sir-2.1* null mutants. PPR slope has a strong negative relationship with factor 2 in *daf-16/daf-2*, and *sir-2.1* null mutants, but there was a strong positive relationship with factor 1 in *daf-16* mutant. IFD and PPR have an inverse relationship in all strains. *cpt-1*, *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, and *cpt-2* have strong positive relationship with factor 1 but these 4 genes have an indirect relationship with factor 2 (Figure 19).

#### **4.4 Discussion**

PWB induced significant reductions of IFD in N2 (40%) and daf-16(mgDf50)I (25%) deficient mutants, but not in the daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III deficient mutant. The PPR was elevated with all varieties of animals fed PWB. On the contrary, reduced fluorescence intensity and elevated PPR were detected in daf-16/daf-2(m65)III deficient mutant in the presence of an additional 2% glucose. PWB reduced cpt-1, cpt-2, ckr-1, and gcy-8, which was reversed in sir-2.1 deficient mutant suggesting that the major pathway of this effect is mediated by sir-2.1. It appeared that glucose reversed the effect of PWB in the N2. Dissimilarly, daf-16 deficiency had only a reduction of cpt-1 with elevations on cpt-2, ckr-1, and gcy-8, all of which had an initial reduction. Additional glucose augmented the PWB effects to a greater degree than in N2. Thus, daf-16 seemed to be playing an inhibitory role on lipid and glucose metabolism. PWB had similar effects in daf-16/daf-2 mutant as in N2. Unlike N2, the effect of additional glucose in daf-16/daf-2 mutant was eliminated by an initial increase in cpt-2, ckr-1, and gcy-8 followed by further reduction. These findings indicated that daf-2 mediated the PWB effect but to a lesser degree than sir-2, and facilitated glucose metabolism.

Hyperlipidemia is often co-existent with hyperglycemia. Insulin-resistance induces hyperglycemia in rodent diabetes due to an increased peroxisome proliferator activated receptor- $\alpha$  (PPAR $\alpha$ ) (Hostetler et al., 2008). Deletion of nuclear hormone receptor-49 (*nhr*-49), a homologue of PPARa in C. elegans, prevents hyperlipidemia and restores insulin-sensitivity comparable to that seen in PPAR $\alpha$  null mice (Atherton et al., 2008). In the current study, the PWB (3.0%) induced more than a 40% reduction in the IFD, which was daf-16 or sir-2.1 dependent since the effect was not seen in the daf-16/daf-2 mutant. The effect of reducing or not reducing insulin sensitivity in the treatment groups described above was reversed when decreased insulin-sensitivity was created by excessive glucose, and produced IFD reduction in daf-16/daf-2 mutant insulin-resistance model. Since daf-16 has a central role in mediating the downstream insulin signaling pathways and is the major target of the *daf-2* pathway which negatively regulates daf-16 (Lee et al., 2009, Kenyon et al., 1993), possibly, PWB/β-glucans indirectly affected insulin-sensitivity by affecting hyperglycemia impaired lipid metabolism and served as a unique functional food in addition to providing a source of RS. *daf-2* is the only gene that encodes the insulin/IGF-1 like receptor in C. elegans and the genes governing lipid metabolism do not necessarily overlap with genes governing the aging process (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). We found that neither sir-2.1 nor daf-16 was required for the PWB diet to reduce IFD. Due to increased fat oxidation (with decreased RQ) and increased energy expenditure (Zhou et al., 2008, Keenan et al., 2006, Shen et al., 2009), rodents that received RS had significantly greater body fat reduction with continually elevated serum levels of the hormones PYY and GLP-1 rather than peaks of these hormones in serum only after food consumption to signal satiety (Zhou et al., 2008, Keenan et al., 2006). In agreement with the rodent studies, the reduced IFD suggested an increased fat oxidation and increased energy

expenditure rather than an augmented satiety or reduced food intake. Glucose appeared to increase gcy-8 gene expression which promotes fat storage. This effect is lost in the presence of the *sir-2.1* deficient mutant or with the lack of *daf-2/daf-16*, which suggest that the additional glucose induced insulin resistance is dependent on *daf-2* pathway and is suppressed by *sir-2.1*. The other genes do not seem to play much of a role, but the small increase in *cpt-2* with glucose is reversed in *sir-2.1* deficient mutant and the lack of both *daf-2/daf-16*. Since *cpt-2* gene expression in the *daf-16* deficient mutant did not change, the effect of glucose on *cpt-2* was thought to be through *daf-2* and that *sir-2.1* inhibited that effect.

Extra glucose reduces C. elegans lifespan which may be independent of insulinsensitivity and changes in body fat. As indicated by a surrogate marker of aging PPR, PWB sustained healthspan or lifespan. However, the PPR was not increased and was reduced with aging when an additional 2% glucose was added to all the strains tested except the daf-16/daf-2 deficient mutant. Like IFD, the effect of PWB on PPR was reversed in the daf-16/daf-2 deficient mutant with addition of glucose suggesting an independent mechanism which may involve a pathway outside of daf-2 or daf-2/daf-16 (Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Engelmann and Pujol, 2011), or that absence of the *daf-2* promoted insulin sensitivity despite high levels of glucose. The PPR was dose-dependently elevated in the N2, or daf-16, and daf-2/daf-16 null mutants indicating an independency on *daf-2 or daf-2/daf-16* as their absence eliminated the elevation of PPR. The sir-2.1 gene is related to the co-regulator/genes (Kyrylenko et al., 2003) and is partially responsible for aging in C. elegans (Lakowski and Hekimi, 1998, Houthoofd et al., 2003). Apparently, the effect of improved healthspan or lifespan was partially dependent of *sir*-2.1 in the present study, which was more robust than in the daf-16 mutant. The daf-2/daf-16mutant showed increase in PPR suggested the effect was insulin/IGF-1 like receptor pathway

dependent, which was consistently absent in *daf-16* mutant.

# 4.5 Conclusions

Our data demonstrated that PWB reduced IFD, decreased insulin-resistance, and improved healthspan or lifespan in the *C. elegans* model system which appeared to be primarily mediated via *sir-2.1*, *daf-16*, and *daf-16/daf-2*. *C. elegans* is an attractive *in vivo* animal model for initial studies of nutrition interventions prior to confirmation in higher animal species. The identified optimal functional food components may be incorporated in various ways into daily diet, because these are already known to have acceptability as food, and have been tested in clinical trials. A broader test of other sources of the functional components of PWB, such as,  $\beta$ -glucan, may provide more advantageous weight loss and obesity prevention. This could result in future improvements in public health.

## **4.6 References**

- 1. ABATE, J. P. & BLACKWELL, T. K. 2009. Life is short, if sweet. *Cell Metabolism*, 10, 338-339.
- 2. ANDERSON, J. W. & AKANJI, A. O. 1991. Dietary fiber--an overview. *Diabetes Care*, 14, 1126-1131.
- 3. ASARE, E. K., JAISWAL, S., MALEY, J., BAGA, M., SAMMYNAIKEN, R., ROSSNAGEL, B. G. & CHIBBAR, R. N. 2011. Barley Grain Constituents, Starch Composition, and Structure Affect Starch in Vitro Enzymatic Hydrolysis. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 4743-4754.
- 4. ASHRAFI, K., CHANG, F. Y., WATTS, J. L., FRASER, A. G., KAMATH, R. S., AHRINGER, J. & RUVKUN, G. 2003. Genome-wide RNAi analysis of Caenorhabditis elegans fat regulatory genes. *Nature*, 421, 268-72.
- 5. ATHERTON, H. J., JONES, O. A., MALIK, S., MISKA, E. A. & GRIFFIN, J. L. 2008. A comparative metabolomic study of NHR-49 in Caenorhabditis elegans and PPARalpha in the mouse. *FEBS Letters*, 582, 1661-1666.
- 6. BEHALL, K. M., SCHOLFIELD, D. J. & HALLFRISCH, J. 2005. Comparison of hormone and glucose responses of overweight women to barley and oats. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 24, 182-188.
- 7. BURKS, D. J., FONT DE, M. J., SCHUBERT, M., WITHERS, D. J., MYERS, M. G., TOWERY, H. H., ALTAMURO, S. L., FLINT, C. L. & WHITE, M. F. 2000. IRS-2 pathways integrate female reproduction and energy homeostasis. *Nature*, 407, 377-382.
- BURNETT, C., VALENTINI, S., CABREIRO, F., GOSS, M., SOMOGYVARI, M., PIPER, M. D., HODDINOTT, M., SUTPHIN, G. L., LEKO, V., MCELWEE, J. J., VAZQUEZ-MANRIQUE, R. P., ORFILA, A. M., ACKERMAN, D., AU, C., VINTI, G., RIESEN, M., HOWARD, K., NERI, C., BEDALOV, A., KAEBERLEIN, M., SOTI, C., PARTRIDGE, L. & GEMS, D. 2011. Absence of effects of Sir2 overexpression on lifespan in C. elegans and Drosophila. *Nature*, 477, 482-485.
- 9. CAWLEY J, M. C. 2012. The Medical Care Costs of Obesity: An Instrumental Variables Approach. *Journal of Health Economics*, 31, 219-230.

- 10. CHANDRASEKARA, A. & SHAHIDI, F. 2011. Determination of antioxidant activity in free and hydrolyzed fractions of millet grains and characterization of their phenolic profiles by HPLC-DAD-ESI-MS n *Journal of Functional Foods*, 3, 144-158.
- 11. CHOW, D. K., GLENN, C. F., JOHNSTON, J. L., GOLDBERG, I. G. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2006a. Sarcopenia in the Caenorhabditis elegans pharynx correlates with muscle contraction rate over lifespan. *Experimental Gerontology*, 41, 252-260.
- 12. CHOW, D. K., GLENN, C. F., JOHNSTON, J. L., GOLDBERG, I. G. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2006b. Sarcopenia in the Caenorhabditis elegans pharynx correlates with muscle contraction rate over lifespan. *Experimental Gerontology* 41, 252-60.
- 13. DONGOWSKI, G., HUTH, M., GEBHARDT, E. & FLAMME, W. 2002. Dietary fiberrich barley products beneficially affect the intestinal tract of rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 3704-3714.
- 14. DORMAN, J. B., ALBINDER, B., SHROYER, T. & KENYON, C. 1995. The age-1 and daf-2 genes function in a common pathway to control the lifespan of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics*, 141, 1399-1406.
- 15. ENGELMANN, I. & PUJOL, N. 2011. Innate Immunity in C. elegans. Advances in *Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 708, 105-121.
- FEIJO DELGADO, F., CERMAK, N., HECHT, V. C., SON, S., LI, Y., KNUDSEN, S. M., OLCUM, S., HIGGINS, J. M., CHEN, J., GROVER, W. H. & MANALIS, S. R. 2013. Intracellular water exchange for measuring the dry mass, water mass and changes in chemical composition of living cells. *PLoS One*, 8, e67590.
- 17. FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, C., HOLIDAY.D.L, KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013a. Legumes reduced intestinal fat deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.
- 18. FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, C., HOLLIDAY, D. L., KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013b. Legumes reduced intestinal fat deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.

- FROJDO, S., DURAND, C., MOLIN, L., CAREY, A. L., EL-OSTA, A., KINGWELL, B. A., FEBBRAIO, M. A., SOLARI, F., VIDAL, H. & PIROLA, L. 2011. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase as a novel functional target for the regulation of the insulin signaling pathway by SIRT1. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 335, 166-176.
- 20. GAMI, M. S. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2006. Studies of Caenorhabditis elegans DAF-2/insulin signaling reveal targets for pharmacological manipulation of lifespan. *Aging Cell*, 5, 31-37.
- GAO, Z., YIN, J., ZHANG, J., WARD, R. E., MARTIN, R. J., LEFEVRE, M., CEFALU, W. T. & YE, J. 2009. Butyrate Improves Insulin Sensitivity and Increases Energy Expenditure in Mice. *Diabetes*, 58, 1509-1517.
- 22. GOLDRING, J. M. 2004. Resistant starch: safe intakes and legal status. *Journal of AOAC International*, 87, 733-739.
- GREENWAY, F., O'NEIL, C. E., STEWART, L., ROOD, J., KEENAN, M. & MARTIN, R. 2007. Fourteen weeks of treatment with Viscofiber increased fasting levels of glucagon-like peptide-1 and peptide-YY. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 10, 720-724.
- 24. HERTWECK, M., GOBEL, C. & BAUMEISTER, R. 2004. C. elegans SGK-1 is the critical component in the Akt/PKB kinase complex to control stress response and life span. *Developmental Cell*, 6, 577-588.
- 25. HOSTETLER, H. A., HUANG, H., KIER, A. B. & SCHROEDER, F. 2008. Glucose directly links to lipid metabolism through high affinity interaction with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 2246-2254.
- 26. HOUTHOOFD, K., BRAECKMAN, B. P., JOHNSON, T. E. & VANFLETEREN, J. R. 2003. Life extension via dietary restriction is independent of the Ins/IGF-1 signalling pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Experimental Gerontology*, 38, 947-954.
- 27. HUNT, P. R., SON, T. G., WILSON, M. A., YU, Q. S., WOOD, W. H., ZHANG, Y., BECKER, K. G., GREIG, N. H., MATTSON, M. P., CAMANDOLA, S. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2011. Extension of lifespan in C. elegans by naphthoquinones that act through stress hormesis mechanisms. *PLOS ONE*, 6, e21922.
- 28. JOHN, J. & SHAHIDI, F. 2010. Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of Brazil nut (Bertholletia excelsa). *Journal of Functional Foods*, 2, 196-209.

- 29. KANG, C., YOU, Y. J. & AVERY, L. 2007. Dual roles of autophagy in the survival of Caenorhabditis elegans during starvation. *Genes Dev*, 21, 2161-71.
- KEENAN, M. J., ZHOU, J., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., RAGGIO, A. M., BATEMAN, H. G., TODD, E., JONES, C. K., TULLEY, R. T., MELTON, S., MARTIN, R. J. & HEGSTED, M. 2006. Effects of resistant starch, a non-digestible fermentable fiber, on reducing body fat. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 1523-34.
- 31. KENYON, C., CHANG, J., GENSCH, E., RUDNER, A. & TABTIANG, R. 1993. A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. *Nature*, 366, 461-4.
- KOGA, M., TAKE-UCHI, M., TAMEISHI, T. & OHSHIMA, Y. 1999. Control of DAF-7 TGF-(alpha) expression and neuronal process development by a receptor tyrosine kinase KIN-8 in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Development*, 126, 5387-5398.
- 33. KRAMER, J. M., DAVIDGE, J. T., LOCKYER, J. M. & STAVELEY, B. E. 2003. Expression of Drosophila FOXO regulates growth and can phenocopy starvation. *BMC Developmental Biology*, 3, 5.
- 34. KRESS, A. M., HARTZELL, M. C., PETERSON, M. R., WILLIAMS, T. V. & FAGAN, N. K. 2006. Status of U.S. military retirees and their spouses toward achieving Healthy People 2010 objectives. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 20, 334-341.
- 35. KYRYLENKO, S., KYRYLENKO, O., SUURONEN, T. & SALMINEN, A. 2003. Differential regulation of the Sir2 histone deacetylase gene family by inhibitors of class I and II histone deacetylases. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 60, 1990-1997.
- 36. LAKOWSKI, B. & HEKIMI, S. 1998. The genetics of caloric restriction in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95, 13091-13096.
- 37. LEE, S. J., MURPHY, C. T. & KENYON, C. 2009. Glucose shortens the life span of C. elegans by downregulating DAF-16/FOXO activity and aquaporin gene expression. *Cell Metabolism*, 10, 379-91.
- 38. LIFSCHITZ, C. H., GRUSAK, M. A. & BUTTE, N. F. 2002. Carbohydrate digestion in humans from a beta-glucan-enriched barley is reduced. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 2593-6.

- 39. MADHUJITH, T., AMAROWICZ, R. & SHAHIDI, F. 2004. Phenolic antioxidants in beans and their effects on inhibition of radical-induced DNA damage. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 81, 691-696.
- 40. MOREAU, R. A., FLORES, R. A. & HICKS, K. B. 2007. Composition of Functional Lipids in Hulled and Hulless Barley in Fractions Obtained by Scarification and in Barley Oil. *Cereal Chemistry*, 84, 1-5.
- 41. OGDEN, C. L., CARROLL, M. D., CURTIN, L. R., MCDOWELL, M. A., TABAK, C. J. & FLEGAL, K. M. 2006. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 295, 1549-1555.
- 42. PATEL, D. S., GARZA-GARCIA, A., NANJI, M., MCELWEE, J. J., ACKERMAN, D., DRISCOLL, P. C. & GEMS, D. 2008. Clustering of genetically defined allele classes in the Caenorhabditis elegans DAF-2 insulin/IGF-1 receptor. *Genetics*, 178, 931-946.
- 43. RENDELL, M., VANDERHOOF, J., VENN, M., SHEHAN, M. A., ARNDT, E., RAO, C. S., GILL, G., NEWMAN, R. K. & NEWMAN, C. W. 2005. Effect of a barley breakfast cereal on blood glucose and insulin response in normal and diabetic patients. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 60, 63-7.
- 44. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L. & ZHOU, J. 2009. Dietary resistant starch increases hypothalamic POMC expression in rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 40-5.
- 45. TANG, H., ANDO, H., WATANABE, K., TAKEDA, Y. & MITSUNAGA, T. 2001. Physicochemical properties and structure of large, medium and small granule starches in fractions of normal barley endosperm. *Carbohydrate Research*, 330, 241-248.
- 46. TISSENBAUM, H. A. & GUARENTE, L. 2001. Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 410, 227-230.
- 47. TISSENBAUM, H. A. & RUVKUN, G. 1998. An insulin-like signaling pathway affects both longevity and reproduction in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics*, 148, 703-717.
- 48. TSONI, S. V. & BROWN, G. D. 2008. beta-Glucans and dectin-1. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1143, 45-60.
- 49. VASANTHAN, T. & BHATTY, R. S. 1998. Enhancement of Resistant Starch (RS3) in Amylomaize, Barley, Field Pea and Lentil Starches. *Starch Stärke*, 50, 286-291.
- 50. WADDEN, T. A. & FREY, D. L. 1997. A multicenter evaluation of a proprietary weight loss program for the treatment of marked obesity: a five-year follow-up. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 22, 203-212.
- 51. WURSCH, P. & PI-SUNYER, F. X. 1997. The role of viscous soluble fiber in the metabolic control of diabetes. A review with special emphasis on cereals rich in beta-glucan. *Diabetes Care*, 20, 1774-1780.
- 52. YE, J., GAO, Z., YIN, J. & HE, Q. 2007. Hypoxia is a potential risk factor for chronic inflammation and adiponectin reduction in adipose tissue of ob/ob and dietary obese mice. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 293, E1118-E1128.
- 53. YEN, K., LE, T. T., BANSAL, A., NARASIMHAN, S. D., CHENG, J. X. & TISSENBAUM, H. A. 2010. A comparative study of fat storage quantitation in nematode Caenorhabditis elegans using label and label-free methods. *PLoS One*, 5.
- 54. YOU, Y. J., KIM, J., RAIZEN, D. M. & AVERY, L. 2008. Insulin, cGMP, and TGF-beta signals regulate food intake and quiescence in C. elegans: a model for satiety. *Cell Metabolism*, 7, 249-257.
- 55. YU, Y. B., DOSANJH, L., LAO, L., TAN, M., SHIM, B. S. & LUO, Y. 2010. Cinnamomum cassia Bark in Two Herbal Formulas Increases Life Span in Caenorhabditis elegans via Insulin Signaling and Stress Response Pathways. *PLOS ONE*, 5, 1-10.
- 56. ZHENG, J., BARAK, N., BECK, Y., VASSELLI, J. R., KING, J. F., KING, M. L., WE, W. Q., FITZPATRICK, Z., JOHNSON, W. D., FINLEY, J. W., MARTIN, R. J., KEENAN, M. J., ENRIGHT, F. M. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2013. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research.
- 57. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-8.

- 58. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2012. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *International journal of obesity*, 36, 186-94.
- 59. ZHOU, J., HEGSTED, M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., KEENAN, M. J., XI, X., RAGGIO, A. M. & MARTIN, R. J. 2006. Peptide YY and proglucagon mRNA expression patterns and regulation in the gut. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 683-9.
- 60. ZHOU, J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., SHEN, L., DANNA, S. C., TRIPATHY, S., HEGESTED, M. & KEENAN, M. J. 2008. Dietary resistant starch up-regulates total GLP-1 and PYY in a sustained daylong manner through fermentation in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295, E1160-1166.

# CHAPTER 5: THE EFFECT OF OATS ON LIPID METABOLISM AND INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN THE CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS MODEL

# **5.1 Introduction**

Modern lifestyle-related chronic diseases, such as obesity, insulin resistance, and type II diabetes, are major health challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Cordain et al., 2005). Changes in dietary habits and lifestyle are among the primary causes for this undesirable development, which is already being seen in the younger population.

An inverse connection of longevity and fat mass is characteristic of humans above 25±5% body fat when accompanied by obesity related disease (Padwal et al., 2011). Both obesity and aging decrease insulin sensitivity, impair the immune response, increase inflammation, weaken the gut-bloodstream barrier, and decrease physical mobility (Padwal et al., 2011). Promotion of dietary intervention, exercise, and lifestyle modification, including second-line obesity treatments, to sustain weight loss has been elusive (Kress et al., 2006, Ogden et al., 2006). Even though a direct relationship between calorie restriction and healthspan has been observed in animal models (Ingram et al., 2002, Lee et al., 2006), controlling food intake in humans is difficult, mainly transient, and often unsustainable as it involves multiple factors including psychological factors.

*C. elegans* is well-suited to obesity studies. Lipid oxidation pathways are present in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) model, such as, cluster differentiation transport protein (CD36), carnitine palmitoyltranferase-1 (CPT-1), acetyl co-enzyme A carboxylase (ACC) and acetyl CoA synthetase (ACS). Resistant starch and short chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition (IFD) in *C. elegans* demonstrating that the model can be used to evaluate bioactive components from gut fermentation (Zheng et al., 2010, Zheng and Greenway, 2012, Finley et al.,

2013) . *C. elegans* is a small, free-living soil nematode, a multicellular eukaryotic organism, distributed widely around the world. *C. elegans* is the first animal to have its genome completely sequenced and conserves 65% of the genes associated with human disease (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). *C. elegans* deposits fat for energy storage along its intestinal tract of its transparent body (Hostetler et al., 2008). Thus, lipid-staining dyes such as Nile Red can be visualized directly and quantitated photometrically in the intact *C. elegans* (Fei et al., 2004). Food intake and transport in *C. elegans* is regulated by pharyngeal movements and relaxation in the terminal bulb of the pharynx. The PPR declines with age due to sarcopenia, and PPR is a surrogate marker of aging (Chow et al., 2006).

Many dietary interventions with enriched non-digestible but fermentable carbohydrates may reinforce optimal nutrition, enhance physiological function, reduce obesity, improve metabolic dysfunction, limit disease (Ogden et al., 2006), and produce anticancer effects in humans (Cassidy et al., 1994, Higgins, 2004). The mechanisms of these interventions have been reported to be due to increased mRNA expression of the GLP-1 precursor, proglucagon and PYY in rodents (Zhou et al., 2006), improved glucose tolerance (Keenan et al., 2012, Zhou et al., 2008), increased phase I xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes which are a hallmark of long-lived mice (Steinbaugh et al., 2012), promotion of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation, and increased energy expenditure in *Drosophila* or adult rodents at ages analogous to 56–65 years in humans (Keenan et al., 2006, Shen et al., 2011, Zhou et al., 2008). Consequently, fermentable dietary fiber reduces body fat accumulation (Keenan et al., 2006, Shen et al., 2009), plasma cholesterol and triglycerides (de Deckere et al., 1993), and insulin resistance (Gao et al., 2009) in rodents and humans.

In addition to RS, oats (Avena sativa, Table 12) contain the soluble fermentable dietary  $\beta$ -

glucan fiber and the unique phytoalexins avenanthramides (avns). Avns provide safe, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and anti-angiogenic properties (Chen et al., 2007, Meydani, 2009, Chu et al., 2013). Consuming oats introduces a hypocaloric intervention through caloric dilution (Greenway et al., 2007, Saltzman et al., 2001); reduces low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol (Davy et al., 2002), body fat (Weickert et al., 2006), and coronary heart disease risk factors in human clinical trials (Chang et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2012); increases fasting PYY, GLP-1, post-meal satiety, and insulin sensitivity (Huang et al., 2011); and elevates endothelium nitric oxide production (Andersson and Hellstrand, 2012, Juvonen et al., 2009). Like resistant starch,  $\beta$ -glucans are fermentable dietary fibers resistant to digestion and high-temperature cooking. An association was detected between total fermentable phenolics, a reduction in triacylglycerols and fewer aorta inflammatory lesions in mice (Brito et al., 2012).

Content	Quantity (%)	Content	Quantity (ppm)			
Beta-glucan	4.6	Ave 2c	5.4			
Insoluble dietary fiber	7.3	Ave 2f	8.8			
Starch	60.9	Ave 2p	5.3			
Protein	13	Ave 5p	1.2			
Lipids	6.6	Ave total	20.8			
Moisture	10.3					

Table 12 Composition of oats (Quaker<sup>®</sup> Oats)\*

Decreased *daf-2* signaling, the only homolog of the human insulin and insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptor gene in *C. elegans*, increases *C. elegans*' lifespan in a DAF-16/FOXO-dependent manner (Hertweck et al., 2004, Patel et al., 2008, Tissenbaum and Ruvkun, 1998), which is reversed by hyperglycemia (Abate and Blackwell, 2009). Furthermore, doubling the *C. elegans sir-2.1* gene number increases lifespan by 50% in a *daf-16*-dependent manner (Burnett et al., 2011, Tissenbaum and Guarente, 2001). We hypothesized that oat consumption

would reduce IFD, improve insulin resistance created by added glucose (2%) to the *C. elegans* feeding media, improve hyperglycemia-impaired lipid metabolism, and increase healthspan through *daf-16* and/or *sir-2.1* pathway(s). A number of genes in *C. elegans* have been proven to promote fat storage and mediate satiety, for example, guanylyl cyclases (GCYs) and the CCK receptor. The objectives of this study were to quantify IFD by the fluorescence intensity of Nile red staining, to evaluate healthspan by counting PPR, and to determine the genetic pathway(s) using *daf-16* and/or *sir-2.1* deficient mutants.

# **5.2 Methods and materials**

*C. elegans* strains and their standard lab food source *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*, OP50, *Uracil auxotroph*) were obtained from the *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center (University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN). The *C. elegans* model does not require Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUC) regulation or approval (Zheng et al., 2013).

#### 5.2.1 Culture of *E. coli* (OP50)

OP50 were cultured by the standard method described elsewhere (Zheng et al., 2010). Briefly, approximately 10µl of stock *E. coli* solution was added to media and incubated at 37°C for 24h. The OP50 were then sub-cultured in Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> (3M Corporate, St. Paul, MN) at 37°C for 24h, and the colonies were confirmed to be at a density of  $5 \times 10^8 - 5 \times 10^{11}$  cfu/ml and the *C. elegans* were allowed to eat *ad libitum*.

# 5.2.2 Culture of *C. elegans*

*C. elegans* wild type (N2), and null mutants *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III* were used in this study (Table 1). They were grown on Nematode Growth Media (NGM) agar plates ( $\emptyset$ 35mm), and stored in a low-temperature incubator (Revco Tech., Nashville, NC) at 20°C or 15°C (*daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III*). *C. elegans* were age-

synchronized. Mature gravid *C. elegans* were transferred individually onto the agar plates and treated with a NaOH (1M) and sodium hypochlorite solution (5.25%, 5:2 ratio) solution to dissolve the body and release viable eggs (Zheng et al., 2010). One day prior to the experiment, 200µl of a feeding media containing *E. coli* was added to the agar dish.

#### 5.2.3 Diet composition

Oats (Quaker<sup>®</sup> Oats instant flakes, PepsiCo Inc., Chicago, IL, Table 12) were powdered using a centrifugal mill with a 0.75mm sieve (Retsch ZM 200; Haan, Germany), autoclaved at 121°C, and suspended in distilled deionized water (DDH<sub>2</sub>O, 5% w/v).

Control *C. elegans* were fed with OP50 only. The experimental groups were fed OP50 supplemented with 0.5%, 1.0%, or 3.0% oats at the larval stage L2 (Table 13). Two percent glucose was added to an additional group of each strain with the oats. The dietary nutrient composition is listed in Table 14 (Feijo Delgado et al., 2013). *C. elegans* were transferred to fresh dishes every other day receiving treatment (50µl).

Volume (50µl)		Dosage (%)										
Treatments	Wi	thout	gluc	ose	With glucose							
Dose (%)	0	0.5	1	3	0	0.5	1	3				
OP50 ( $2 \times 10^9$ cfu/ml, µl)	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10				
Oats (5%, µl)	0	5	10	30	0	5	10	30				
Glucose (50%, µl)	0	0	0	0	2	2	2	2				

Table 13 Oats treatment composition

Table 14 Diet ingredient composition

Nutrianta	Oat diat (ma/ml)	OP50 (mg/ml)	Oat treatment (mg/plate)					
Nutrents	Oat thet (Ing/IIII)	OP30 (Ing/IIII)	$\begin{array}{c c} 0 \ (mg/ml) & Oat \ treatment \ (mg/p) \\ \hline 0 \ 0.5\% \ 1\% \\ \hline 0 \ 0.000 \ 0.012 \ 0.023 \\ - \ 0.000 \ 0.018 \ 0.037 \\ \hline 7.5 \ 0.375 \ 0.527 \ 0.680 \\ 37.5 \ 1.875 \ 1.908 \ 1.940 \\ 5.0 \ 0.250 \ 0.267 \ 0.283 \\ \end{array}$	3%				
Beta-glucan	0.046	-	0.000	0.012	0.023	0.069		
Insoluble dietary fiber	0.073	-	0.000	0.018	0.037	0.110		
carbohydrate	0.609	7.5	0.375	0.527	0.680	1.289		
Protein	0.130	37.5	1.875	1.908	1.940	2.070		
Lipids	0.066	5.0	0.250	0.267	0.283	0.349		

5.2.4 Pharyngeal movement (pumping rate, PPR)

*C. elegans* were examined periodically using a stereomicroscope (Nikon SMZ1500, Melville, NY) with transmitted light. The PPR was recorded manually by independent observers then were returned to the incubators (Finley et al., 2013, Zheng et al., 2014).

# 5.2.5 Fluorescence microscopy

Lipophilic dye, Nile red, was used to stain for intestinal fat deposition (IFD) (Zheng et al., 2010). S-basal solution was added to the dish to wash the *C. elegans*. The solution containing the *C. elegans* was centrifuged for 20s at 805g and this procedure was repeated twice. *C. elegans* were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde over 2h at 4°C and washed with PBS for 5min x 3. Nile red (50µl) was applied to the specimens for 10min. Ten microliters of Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotechnology Associates, Birmingham, AL) was applied to a glass slide followed by 20µl of the medium containing Nile red stained *C. elegans*. A cover glass was mounted on the glass slide, and the slides were viewed with an epifluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse, *Ti*) equipped with a Texas Red filter. Fluorescent micrographs were taken with a digital camera (Andor, DU-885k) and were analyzed using Nikon-Elements (version 3.22.11). Optical densities (arbitrary units, % of control) of Nile red labeled IFD were determined for adult *C. elegans* (larvae stage 4).

### 5.2.6 Reagents

Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent (T9424), chloroform (C2432), and isopropanol (I9516) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Taqman PCR core kit (N8080228), MuLV Reverse

Transcriptase (N8080018), and Ribonuclease (RNase) Inhibitor (N8080119) were obtained from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). RNase free micro tubes and pipette tips were used in RNA isolation and quantitative RT-PCR.

#### 5.2.7 RNA isolation

Total RNA was extracted using the Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent as described elsewhere [66]. *C.elegans* samples were homogenized in 1ml Trizol<sup>®</sup> Reagent per 50-100 mg of tissue. Samples went through 5 freeze-thaw cycles in which they were frozen in liquid nitrogen and thawed in a 37°C water bath. The homogenized samples were vortexed at room temperature to allow the complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Two hundred microliters of cold pure chloroform was added and the samples were vortexed for 15s and incubated at room temperature for 5min. The samples were centrifuged at 15,616G for 10 min at 4°C, and the top aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube. A 600µl cold isopropanol was used for the initial homogenization, and the samples were incubated at room temperature for 10min, vortexed for 15s, and centrifuged at 15,616G for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet was washed once with 1ml cold 75% ethanol. The sample was vortexed and centrifuged at 6,100G for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed completely and the RNA pellet was briefly air-dried. The RNA pellet was re-suspended in 0.1% diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)treated water and stored at -80°C. The RNA concentration was analyzed with a Nanodrop® ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Wilmington, DE).

#### 5.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR

The mRNA levels of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* were determined using Taqman<sup>®</sup> quantitative RT-PCR. The following components were added in one-step RT-PCR:  $2.2\mu$ l H<sub>2</sub>O,  $1\mu$ l 10× Taqman<sup>®</sup> buffer A,  $2.2\mu$ l 25mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> solution,  $0.3\mu$ l 10mM dATP,  $0.3\mu$ l 10mM

dCTP, 0.3µl 10mM dGTP, 0.3µl 10mM dUTP, 0.05µl 20U/µl RNase inhibitor, 0.05µl 50U/µl MuLV reverse transcriptase, 0.05µl 5U/µl Amplitaq gold<sup>®</sup>, 0.25µl Taqman<sup>®</sup> probe and primers, and 3µl, 5ng/µl RNA. The PCR reaction was conducted in triplicate using a Taqman<sup>®</sup> probe and primer set (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) for Cholecystokinin receptor homolog (*ckr-1*, Ce02408606\_m1), guanylyl cyclase-8 (*gcy-8*, Ce02456184\_g1), carnitine palmitoyltranferase-1 (*cpt-1*, Ce02440434\_m1), and carnitine palmitoyltranferase-2 (*cpt-2*, Ce02459919\_g1). The mRNA signal was normalized over a eukaryotic 18S rRNA (Hs99999901-s1) internal control. The reaction was conducted using a 7900 HT Fast real-time PCR system (Life Technologies). Reverse transcription was added at 48°C for 30min, and AmpliTaq gold<sup>®</sup> activation (denaturation) was performed at 95°C for 10min. Amplification of the DNA involved 40 cycles of 15s at 95°C and 1min at 60°C. Data were analyzed using the Sequence Detector Software (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). The relative quantification of gene expression (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct</sup>) was calculated.

# 5.2.9 Statistics

All data were presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. Student *t*-tests and ANOVA were used for IFD, and ANCOVA was used to compare the slopes of PPR data (SAS 9.4). Statistical significance was set at P $\leq$ 0.05. Principal component analyses (PCA) was performed to cluster the factors of the oats results (SAS 9.4). Power analyses were performed to predict the sample size to achieve 80% power for PPR (minimum n=7) and IFD (n=5) with statistical significance as 0.05.

#### **5.3 Results**

5.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)

Oat feeding reduced IFD by 30% (0.5% and 1.0%) in the N2 strain (P<0.05), and the addition of glucose to the oats increased IFD. IFD decreased by 17% in response to 0.5% oats and 37% in response to 1.0% oats in the *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, and increased with glucose treatment compared to the group that did not receive glucose (P<0.05). The *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III* showed a similar dose-dependent reduction in IFD in response to oat feeding as well as in the presence of glucose (P<0.05). IFD was mildly lower following oat (0.5% and 1.0%) consumption in the *sir-2.1(ok434)IV* (P>0.05) (Figure 20).



Figure 20 Nile Red staining of the intestinal fat deposition in *C. elegans* post Oat feeding in the absence or presence of 2% glucose.

# 5.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)

The PPRs declined in all groups as the *C. elegans* aged. The oat treatment (0.5%, 1.0%, or 3%) increased the PPR in N2, *daf-16*, and *sir-2.1* mutants (n=24 *C. elegans*/3dishes, P<0.001-0.05). The PPR in N2 was increased in oat group (0.5%, 1.0%, or 3%) in presence of glucose (P<0.005-0.03). This increase persisted in the presence of glucose at a low dose in *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutant (P<0.05) (Figure 21).



Figure 21 Oat feeding affected pharyngeal pumping rate, a surrogate marker of lifespan in *C. elegans.* 

5.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression

Oat feeding (0.5% and 1%) increased the mRNA expression of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* in the *C. elegans* N2, and *sir-2.1* and *daf-16* deficient strains (P<0.01). Additional glucose further increased these mRNA expressions in N2 and *sir-2.1*. In the *daf-16* deficient strain, *ckr-1* and *gcy-8* were increased after oat feeding (P<0.01). All four genes tested were elevated in response to glucose treatment alone, and oat consumption in the presence of glucose significantly reduced mRNA expression of the four genes (P<0.01). Oat feeding with glucose reduced mRNA expression of all four genes in *daf-16/daf-2* deficient strains (P<0.01). Oats (0.5%) plus glucose increased *cpt-1* and *cpt-2* (P<0.01, Figure 22).



Figure 22 Oat feeding altered gene expression of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* by qRT-PCR in *C. elegans*. 5.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)

PCA analyses revealed two theoretical strong factors that played important roles in the relationship of the components that were tested in this study (Figure 23, Table 15). Inverse relationship between the IFD and the PPR was detected in N2, *daf-16/daf-2* and *sir-2.1* mutants. The PPRs were strongly and positively related to the two factors in the three strains. By contrast,

the IFDs were strongly and positively related to the factor 1 in the N2 and the *daf-16/daf-2* double mutant, which was negatively associated in the *sir-2.1* mutant. The IFD or PPR seemed weakly related to the *ckr-1*, *cpt-1*, *cpt-2*, and *gcy-8*. The *ckr-1*, *cpt-1*, *cpt-2*, and *gcy-8* had strong positive relationships with factor 1 N2, *daf-16/daf-2* and *sir-2.1* mutants. A loose but positive relationship of the 4 genes with the factor 2 was seen in the *daf-16* mutant, while the IFD was negatively related to the factor 1 and the PPR did not have any association with either the factors or the 4 genes.

Relation to factors	Factor 1						_	Factor 2						
	PPR	IFD	ckr- 1	<i>gcy-</i> 8	cpt- 1	cpt- 2	PP	R	IFD	ckr- 1	gcy- 8	cpt- 1	<i>cpt-</i> 2	
N2	11	24	99	98	100	100	94	ŀ	-90	1	15	2	-6	
daf- 16(mgDf50)I	-20	-15	95	98	29	64	2		77	20	7	93	73	
daf- 16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65)III	-24	64	93	87	90	99	93	3	-73	29	30	9	8	
sir- 2.1(ok434)IV	-17	-34	98	78	96	98	95	5	-89	-3	52	24	-7	

Table 15 PCA description: factor 1 and factor 2

#### **5.4 Discussion**

The effect of oat consumption paired with or without 2% glucose was evaluated in the *C*. *elegans* model by observing changes in IFD determined by the fluorescent intensity of Nile red, alterations in healthspan indicated by PPR, and variations in selected mRNA expression indicated by PCR in this study. The IFD was reduced in N2, and the *daf-16* and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants. Apart from natural age-related decline of the PPR in all groups, oat treatment sustained the PPR in N2 with or without glucose. Oat treatment also sustained the PPR in *daf-16* and *sir-2.1* mutants without glucose. Low dose oat treatment (0.5%) increased the PPR in the

presence of glucose. Oat consumption increased mRNA expression of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* genes, which were greater in N2 than in the *sir-2.1* mutant, and additional glucose further increased the expression by 1.5-fold in both strains. The effects of oats on healthspan and IFD in N2 was mediated by *daf-2* and partially depended on *daf-16*, with and without the presence of hyperglycemia.



Figure 23 Scatterplot of principle component analysis (PCA) showing the two strong factors in relationships with *ckr-1*, *cpt-1*, *cpt-2*, *gcy-8*, PPR slope, and IFD.

Hyperglycemia often coexists with hyperlipidemia. In C. elegans, inactivation of over

300 genes has been shown to reduce IFD, and inactivation of more than 100 genes to increase fat storage (Ashrafi et al., 2003). Oat consumption significantly reduced IFD in the N2, *daf-16*, and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants, whereas the presence of glucose increased IFD. However, oats reduced IFD even when there was insulin resistance, as seen in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient group and other groups with additional glucose. Glucose did not attenuate the oat-induced IFD reduction in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant suggesting an indirect improvement in insulin sensitivity through lipid metabolism activating other pathway(s), such as the serotonin pathway. In rodent diabetes, hyperglycemia is associated with an increase in peroxisome proliferator activator alpha (PPARa) activity associated with insulin-resistance (Hostetler et al., 2008). In a *C. elegans* model, deletion of the nuclear hormone receptor-49 (*nhr-49*), a homologue of PPARa, prevents hyperlipidemia and restores insulin-sensitivity in a manner similar to PPARa null mice (Atherton et al., 2008). The reduced IFD following oat consumption in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant suggests that oats may improve hyperglycemia-impaired lipid metabolism.

Reduced food intake, reduced lipid metabolism, and a reduction in metabolic turn over in N2 are associated with an extension of lifespan (Burnett et al., 2011). Unlike the N2, or *daf-16/daf-2* and *daf-16* deficient mutants, the IFD was only mildly reduced by the same amount of oat consumption in the *sir-2.1* deficient mutant with increased mRNA expression of the four genes similar to N2 suggesting increased lipid metabolism. The ability of both the wild type and mutant nematodes to sustain the PPR indicates that oat consumption improved healthspan independent of the *sir-2.1* pathway which relates to the co-regulator/genes in the aging process in *C. elegans* (Houthoofd et al., 2003, Kyrylenko et al., 2003). Our data is in agreement with the literature that shows involvement of *sir-2.1* in lipid metabolism has multiple factors similar to lifespan (Burnett et al., 2011), and either a higher dose is required in the absence of the *sir-2.1* 

gene pathway or the *sir-2.1* pathway was not critically involved in the IFD reduction.

Hyperglycemia reduced the *C. elegans* lifespan (Lee et al., 2009) and completely suppressed the long lifespan of daf-2(-) insulin/IGF-1 receptor mutants in *C. elegans* (Ogden et al., 2006). The daf-16 gene plays a central role in activating the downstream insulin signaling pathways and is the major target of the daf-2 which negatively regulates daf-16 (Kenyon et al., 1993, Lee et al., 2009). In the present study, oat feeding increased PPR and decreased IFD which were mediated by the daf-16/daf-2 pathways. The benefit from oats' may be attributed to its being high in fibers,  $\beta$ -glucan, proteins, and unique avens.

Although activation of the CCK receptor does not change circulating triacylglycerol or adipose tissue, it increases glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, and decreases liver triacylglycerol in mice (Irwin et al., 2013, Kissileff et al., 1981). Similarly in humans, activation of CCK pathway does not appear to play a central role in long-term energy balance but signals postprandial satiety (Jordan et al., 2008, Kissileff et al., 1981). However, ckr-1, the analogous gene in the *C. elegans* species, increased in response to oat consumption which decreased IFD in the presence of glucose and preserved PPR, suggesting ckr-1 has potential role in the lipid metabolism. The gcy-8 is exclusively expressed in AFD neurons and contributes to thermotaxic behavior (Inada et al., 2006). Increased expression of gcy-8 may indicate an increase in metabolic rate. In the daf-16 deficient mutant, the mRNA expression of ckr-1 and gcy-8 were increased in response to oat feeding. This effect was reversed in presence of glucose that initially elevated cpt-1 and cpt-2 followed by a reduction when oats were added.

An elevated *cpt-1* or *cpt-2* suggests an augmented lipid beta-oxidation and turn-over. Expression of all four genes was reduced in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant when treated with oats, and *cpt-1* and *cpt-2* expression increased nearly 2-fold with additional glucose. The reduced *cpt-1* or *cpt-2* in *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant suggests that the *C. elegans* were either unable to utilize/metabolize the nutrients from the food as seen in *daf-16* deficient mutant, or were unable to adequately down-regulate metabolic turnover as observed in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant, thus reducing IFD. In the three strains N2, *daf-16/daf-2* and *sir-2.1* mutants, the factor 2 of the PCA was closely related to healthspan, which is inversely related to IFD, and the factor 1 had strong positive relationships with *cpt-2*, and *gcy-8*. The PCA data showed an inverse relationship of the *daf-16* to the IFD, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2*.

The exclusive and unique avns in oats are fermentable polyphenols that also resist digestion and provide health benefits. A high  $\beta$ -glucan concentration increases viscosity in the GI tract, delays nutrient absorption, decreases the glycemic peak by 50%, lowers LDL cholesterol, reduces body fat in humans and rodents (Wursch and Pi-Sunyer, 1997), counteracts obesity-related inflammation (Meydani, 2009), and enhances immunity in *C. elegans* by activating the dectin-1 receptor and DAF-2/insulin-like receptor (ILR) pathways (Engelmann and Pujol, 2011, Tsoni and Brown, 2008). These avns, along with the  $\beta$ -glucan content of oats make oats a unique food that may aid in lowering body fat and controlling body weight. Future studies will investigate possible synergistic effects of avns and  $\beta$ -glucan, as well as the role of the serotonin pathway in improving hyperglycemia-induced hyperlipidemia and increasing healthspan.

This study had limitations as well. *C. elegans* have 2/3 of genes that are related human diseases. Thus, *C. elegans* is utilized as a stage for use in high-through put screening to search for nutritional interventions for health prior to confirmatory studies in higher animal models and human clinical trials. Compensatory pathways that exist in higher animals may be not discovered by the present study using *C. elegans*. Active components of the oats extract will be

further tested in follow up studies using higher animal species.

In conclusion, our data indicates that oats have unique properties which induce an improvement in insulin sensitivity, reduce intestinal fat deposition, and extend healthspan in the *C. elegans* model organism giving support to our study hypothesis. As part of a healthy diet oats are an appropriate food to improve public health. Avns and  $\beta$ -glucan are functional food components of oats that can be incorporated into the daily diet in various ways. *C. elegans* is an attractive *in vivo* animal model for initial studies of nutrition interventions prior to confirmation in higher animal species.

# **5.5 References**

- 1. ABATE, J. P. & BLACKWELL, T. K. 2009. Life is short, if sweet. *Cell Metabolism*, 10, 338-339.
- 2. ANDERSSON, K. E. & HELLSTRAND, P. 2012. Dietary oats and modulation of atherogenic pathways. *Mol.Nutr.Food.Res.*, 56, 1003-1013.
- 3. ASHRAFI, K., CHANG, F. Y., WATTS, J. L., FRASER, A. G., KAMATH, R. S., AHRINGER, J. & RUVKUN, G. 2003. Genome-wide RNAi analysis of Caenorhabditis elegans fat regulatory genes. *Nature*, 421, 268-72.
- 4. ATHERTON, H. J., JONES, O. A., MALIK, S., MISKA, E. A. & GRIFFIN, J. L. 2008. A comparative metabolomic study of NHR-49 in Caenorhabditis elegans and PPARalpha in the mouse. *FEBS Letters*, 582, 1661-1666.
- 5. BRITO, L. F., QUEIROS, L. D., PELUZIO, M. C., RIBEIRO, S. M., MATTA, S. L. & QUEIROZ, J. H. 2012. Effect of dry coffee residues fermented with Monascus ruber on the metabolism of Apo E mice. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia*, 99, 747-754.
- BURNETT, C., VALENTINI, S., CABREIRO, F., GOSS, M., SOMOGYVARI, M., PIPER, M. D., HODDINOTT, M., SUTPHIN, G. L., LEKO, V., MCELWEE, J. J., VAZQUEZ-MANRIQUE, R. P., ORFILA, A. M., ACKERMAN, D., AU, C., VINTI, G., RIESEN, M., HOWARD, K., NERI, C., BEDALOV, A., KAEBERLEIN, M., SOTI, C., PARTRIDGE, L. & GEMS, D. 2011. Absence of effects of Sir2 overexpression on lifespan in C. elegans and Drosophila. *Nature*, 477, 482-485.
- 7. CASSIDY, A., BINGHAM, S. A. & CUMMINGS, J. H. 1994. Starch intake and colorectal cancer risk: an international comparison. *Br J Cancer*, 1994/05/01, 937-942.
- CHANG, H. C., HUANG, C. N., YEH, D. M., WANG, S. J., PENG, C. H. & WANG, C. J. 2013. Oat prevents obesity and abdominal fat distribution, and improves liver function in humans. *Plant.Foods Hum.Nutr.*, 68, 18-23.
- 9. CHEN, C. Y., MILBURY, P. E., COLLINS, F. W. & BLUMBERG, J. B. 2007. Avenanthramides are bioavailable and have antioxidant activity in humans after acute consumption of an enriched mixture from oats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 137, 1375-1382.

- CHOW, D. K., GLENN, C. F., JOHNSTON, J. L., GOLDBERG, I. G. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2006. Sarcopenia in the Caenorhabditis elegans pharynx correlates with muscle contraction rate over lifespan. *Experimental Gerontology* 41, 252-60.
- 11. CHU, Y. F., WISE, M. L., GULVADY, A. A., CHANG, T., KENDRA, D. F., JAN-WILLEM VAN, K. B., SHI, Y. & O'SHEA, M. 2013. In vitro antioxidant capacity and anti-inflammatory activity of seven common oats. *Food Chem.*, 139, 426-431.
- 12. CORDAIN, L., EATON, S. B., SEBASTIAN, A., MANN, N., LINDEBERG, S., WATKINS, B. A., O'KEEFE, J. H. & BRAND-MILLER, J. 2005. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 341-354.
- 13. DAVY, B. M., DAVY, K. P., HO, R. C., BESKE, S. D., DAVRATH, L. R. & MELBY, C. L. 2002. High-fiber oat cereal compared with wheat cereal consumption favorably alters LDL-cholesterol subclass and particle numbers in middle-aged and older men. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76, 351-358.
- 14. DE DECKERE, E. A., KLOOTS, W. J. & VAN AMELSVOORT, J. M. 1993. Resistant starch decreases serum total cholesterol and triacylglycerol concentrations in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 123, 2142-2151.
- 15. ENGELMANN, I. & PUJOL, N. 2011. Innate Immunity in C. elegans. Advances in *Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 708, 105-121.
- 16. FEI, Y. J., LIU, J. C., INOUE, K., ZHUANG, L., MIYAKE, K., MIYAUCHI, S. & GANAPATHY, V. 2004. Relevance of NAC-2, an Na+-coupled citrate transporter, to life span, body size and fat content in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Biochemical Journal*, 379, 191-198.
- FEIJO DELGADO, F., CERMAK, N., HECHT, V. C., SON, S., LI, Y., KNUDSEN, S. M., OLCUM, S., HIGGINS, J. M., CHEN, J., GROVER, W. H. & MANALIS, S. R. 2013. Intracellular water exchange for measuring the dry mass, water mass and changes in chemical composition of living cells. *PLoS One*, 8, e67590.
- FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, C., HOLIDAY.D.L, KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013. Legumes reduced intestinal fat deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.

- 19. GAO, Z., YIN, J., ZHANG, J., WARD, R. E., MARTIN, R. J., LEFEVRE, M., CEFALU, W. T. & YE, J. 2009. Butyrate Improves Insulin Sensitivity and Increases Energy Expenditure in Mice. *Diabetes*, 58, 1509-1517.
- GREENWAY, F., O'NEIL, C. E., STEWART, L., ROOD, J., KEENAN, M. & MARTIN, R. 2007. Fourteen weeks of treatment with Viscofiber increased fasting levels of glucagon-like peptide-1 and peptide-YY. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 10, 720-724.
- 21. HERTWECK, M., GOBEL, C. & BAUMEISTER, R. 2004. C. elegans SGK-1 is the critical component in the Akt/PKB kinase complex to control stress response and life span. *Developmental Cell*, 6, 577-588.
- 22. HIGGINS, J. A. 2004. Resistant starch: metabolic effects and potential health benefits. *Journal of AOAC International*, 87, 761-768.
- 23. HOSTETLER, H. A., HUANG, H., KIER, A. B. & SCHROEDER, F. 2008. Glucose directly links to lipid metabolism through high affinity interaction with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 2246-2254.
- 24. HOUTHOOFD, K., BRAECKMAN, B. P., JOHNSON, T. E. & VANFLETEREN, J. R. 2003. Life extension via dietary restriction is independent of the Ins/IGF-1 signalling pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Experimental Gerontology*, 38, 947-954.
- 25. HUANG, X. F., YU, Y., BECK, E. J., SOUTH, T., LI, Y., BATTERHAM, M. J., TAPSELL, L. C. & CHEN, J. 2011. Diet high in oat beta-glucan activates the gut-hypothalamic (PYY(3)(-)(3)(6)-NPY) axis and increases satiety in diet-induced obesity in mice. *Mol.Nutr Food Res*, 55, 1118-1121.
- 26. INADA, H., ITO, H., SATTERLEE, J., SENGUPTA, P., MATSUMOTO, K. & MORI, I. 2006. Identification of guanylyl cyclases that function in thermosensory neurons of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics.*, 172, 2239-2252.
- 27. INGRAM, S. L., PRASAD, B. M. & AMARA, S. G. 2002. Dopamine transportermediated conductances increase excitability of midbrain dopamine neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5, 971-978.
- 28. IRWIN, N., FRIZELLE, P., O'HARTE, F. P. & FLATT, P. R. 2013. Metabolic effects of activation of CCK receptor signaling pathways by twice-daily administration of the

enzyme-resistant CCK-8 analog, (pGlu-Gln)-CCK-8, in normal mice. *Journal of Endocrinology*, 216, 53-59.

- JORDAN, J., GREENWAY, F. L., LEITER, L. A., LI, Z., JACOBSON, P., MURPHY, K., HILL, J., KLER, L. & AFTRING, R. P. 2008. Stimulation of cholecystokinin-A receptors with GI181771X does not cause weight loss in overweight or obese patients. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 83, 281-287.
- JUVONEN, K. R., PURHONEN, A. K., SALMENKALLIO-MARTTILA, M., LAHTEENMAKI, L., LAAKSONEN, D. E., HERZIG, K. H., UUSITUPA, M. I., POUTANEN, K. S. & KARHUNEN, L. J. 2009. Viscosity of oat bran-enriched beverages influences gastrointestinal hormonal responses in healthy humans. *Journal of Nutrition*, 139, 461-466.
- KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., BROWN, I. L., BIRKETT, A., NEWMAN, S. S., SKAF, J., HEGSTED, M., TULLEY, R. T., BLAIR, E. & ZHOU, J. 2012. High-amylose resistant starch increases hormones and improves structure and function of the gastrointestinal tract: a microarray study. *J.Nutrigenet.Nutrigenomics.*, 5, 26-44.
- KEENAN, M. J., ZHOU, J., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., RAGGIO, A. M., BATEMAN, H. G., TODD, E., JONES, C. K., TULLEY, R. T., MELTON, S., MARTIN, R. J. & HEGSTED, M. 2006. Effects of resistant starch, a non-digestible fermentable fiber, on reducing body fat. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 1523-34.
- 33. KENYON, C., CHANG, J., GENSCH, E., RUDNER, A. & TABTIANG, R. 1993. A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. *Nature*, 366, 461-4.
- 34. KISSILEFF, H. R., PI-SUNYER, F. X., THORNTON, J. & SMITH, G. P. 1981. Cterminal octapeptide of cholecystokinin decreases food intake in man. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 34, 154-160.
- 35. KRESS, A. M., HARTZELL, M. C., PETERSON, M. R., WILLIAMS, T. V. & FAGAN, N. K. 2006. Status of U.S. military retirees and their spouses toward achieving Healthy People 2010 objectives. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 20, 334-341.
- KYRYLENKO, S., KYRYLENKO, O., SUURONEN, T. & SALMINEN, A. 2003. Differential regulation of the Sir2 histone deacetylase gene family by inhibitors of class I and II histone deacetylases. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 60, 1990-1997.

- LEE, G. D., WILSON, M. A., ZHU, M., WOLKOW, C. A., DE, C. R., INGRAM, D. K. & ZOU, S. 2006. Dietary deprivation extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Aging Cell*, 5, 515-524.
- LEE, S. J., MURPHY, C. T. & KENYON, C. 2009. Glucose shortens the life span of C. elegans by downregulating DAF-16/FOXO activity and aquaporin gene expression. *Cell Metabolism*, 10, 379-91.
- 39. MEYDANI, M. 2009. Potential health benefits of avenanthramides of oats. *Nutrition Reviews*, 67, 731-735.
- 40. OGDEN, C. L., CARROLL, M. D., CURTIN, L. R., MCDOWELL, M. A., TABAK, C. J. & FLEGAL, K. M. 2006. Prevalence of overweight and obesity in the United States, 1999-2004. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 295, 1549-1555.
- 41. PADWAL, R. S., PAJEWSKI, N. M., ALLISON, D. B. & SHARMA, A. M. 2011. Using the Edmonton obesity staging system to predict mortality in a population-representative cohort of people with overweight and obesity. *CMAJ.*, 183, E1059-E1066.
- 42. PATEL, D. S., GARZA-GARCIA, A., NANJI, M., MCELWEE, J. J., ACKERMAN, D., DRISCOLL, P. C. & GEMS, D. 2008. Clustering of genetically defined allele classes in the Caenorhabditis elegans DAF-2 insulin/IGF-1 receptor. *Genetics*, 178, 931-946.
- 43. SALTZMAN, E., DAS, S. K., LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., DALLAL, G. E., CORRALES, A., SCHAEFER, E. J., GREENBERG, A. S. & ROBERTS, S. B. 2001. An oatcontaining hypocaloric diet reduces systolic blood pressure and improves lipid profile beyond effects of weight loss in men and women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 131, 1465-1470.
- 44. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L. & ZHOU, J. 2009. Dietary resistant starch increases hypothalamic POMC expression in rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 40-5.
- 45. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., RAGGIO, A., WILLIAMS, C. & MARTIN, R. J. 2011. Dietary-resistant starch improves maternal glycemic control in Goto-Kakizaki rat. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 55, 1499-508.
- 46. STEINBAUGH, M. J., SUN, L. Y., BARTKE, A. & MILLER, R. A. 2012. Activation of genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism is a shared signature of mouse models with extended lifespan. *Am.J.Physiol Endocrinol.Metab*, 303, E488-E495.

- 47. TISSENBAUM, H. A. & GUARENTE, L. 2001. Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends lifespan in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature*, 410, 227-230.
- 48. TISSENBAUM, H. A. & RUVKUN, G. 1998. An insulin-like signaling pathway affects both longevity and reproduction in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics*, 148, 703-717.
- 49. TSONI, S. V. & BROWN, G. D. 2008. beta-Glucans and dectin-1. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1143, 45-60.
- 50. WEICKERT, M. O., MOHLIG, M., SCHOFL, C., ARAFAT, A. M., OTTO, B., VIEHOFF, H., KOEBNICK, C., KOHL, A., SPRANGER, J. & PFEIFFER, A. F. 2006. Cereal fiber improves whole-body insulin sensitivity in overweight and obese women. *Diabetes Care*, 29, 775-780.
- 51. WURSCH, P. & PI-SUNYER, F. X. 1997. The role of viscous soluble fiber in the metabolic control of diabetes. A review with special emphasis on cereals rich in beta-glucan. *Diabetes Care*, 20, 1774-1780.
- ZHANG, J., LI, L., SONG, P., WANG, C., MAN, Q., MENG, L., CAI, J. & KURILICH, A. 2012. Randomized controlled trial of oatmeal consumption versus noodle consumption on blood lipids of urban Chinese adults with hypercholesterolemia. *Nutr.J.*, 11, 54.
- 53. ZHENG, J., BARAK, N., BECK, Y., VASSELLI, J. R., KING, J. F., KING, M. L., WE, W. Q., FITZPATRICK, Z., JOHNSON, W. D., FINLEY, J. W., MARTIN, R. J., KEENAN, M. J., ENRIGHT, F. M. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2013. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research.
- 54. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-8.
- 55. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2012. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *International journal of obesity*, 36, 186-94.
- 56. ZHENG, J., GREENWAY, F. L., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., JOHNSON, W. D., KING, J. F., KING, M. J., GAO, C., CHU, Y. F. & FINLEY, J. W. 2014. Effects of three intense

sweeteners on fat storage in the C. elegans model. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 215C, 1-6.

- 57. ZHOU, J., HEGSTED, M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., KEENAN, M. J., XI, X., RAGGIO, A. M. & MARTIN, R. J. 2006. Peptide YY and proglucagon mRNA expression patterns and regulation in the gut. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 683-9.
- 58. ZHOU, J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., SHEN, L., DANNA, S. C., TRIPATHY, S., HEGESTED, M. & KEENAN, M. J. 2008. Dietary resistant starch up-regulates total GLP-1 and PYY in a sustained daylong manner through fermentation in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295, E1160-1166.

# CHAPTER 6: THE EFFECT OF WHEAT BRAN BYPRODUCT ON LIFESPAN AND FAT DEPOSITION ON CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS MODEL

# **6.1 Introduction**

Obesity are affecting more than one-third of the adults and 17% of the youth in the U.S. (Popkin et al., 2012). Obesity are related with chronic diseases including type II diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, high blood pressure, high cholesterol, fatty liver disease, atherosclerosis, hypertension, sleep apneas, and certain types of cancers (Hotamisligil et al., 1994). Obesity related chronic diseases increasingly endanger the public health and costs more than \$140 billion to the U.S health care system.

Obesity is still a non-cure epidemic disease. Although anti-obesity drugs have been approved by FDA and exist in the market, the side effects of these drugs and the limited weight loss have narrowed their usage. For example, sibutramine resulted in a weight loss of 4.5 kg after 1 year treatment compared with placebo (Arterburn et al., 2004). Sibutramine may cause blood pressure increase, dizziness or blurred vision; back pain, dry mouth, headache, nausea, and nervousness (Snow et al., 2005, Bray and Greenway, 2007, Greenway and Bray, 2010). Surgical treatments are used for excessive obese patients but high cost, side effects, and weight regain have restricted the utilization of surgery. Surgery also has potential dangers to cause mortality. For example, early mortality rates for Roux-en-Y gastric bypass (RYGB) range from 0.3% to 1% (Snow et al., 2005). Safe and effective obesity treatments are in a growing demand. Fermentable dietary fiber, RS, presents an emerging solution to obesity.

The consumption of cereals decreased dramatically in the "Western" style diet in the past decades (Adam et al., 2001). The decreased dietary fiber intake is related with the decreasing consumption of cereals which may be one of the reasons contributing to the development of

health disorders (Delzenne and Cani, 2005). The dietary guidelines claim that at least half of recommended total grain intake should be whole grains (USDA, 2005). However, less than 5 percent of Americans consume the minimum recommended amount of whole grains, which for many is about 3 ounce-equivalents per day. On average, Americans eat less than 1 ounce-equivalent of whole grains per day (USDA, 2010). The consumption of higher amounts of dietary fiber such as whole-grain foods lower the prevalence of obesity, coronary heart disease, type II diabetes, and certain cancers (Anderson, 2004, Hauner et al., 2012).

Wheat bran by-product (WBP) is the byproduct from milled refined grains production. Although refined grains has extended shelf life and a finer texture, refined grain foods contain higher solid fats, added sugars, and sodium. WBP is high in non-digestible form of carbohydrates. WBP is also high in vitamins, minerals, and dietary fiber while the refining grains are low in these essential nutrients (USDA, 2010) but low in saturated fat, trans-fat, monoand oligo- saccharides, calories. WBP can be used to make many food products, such as cookies, bread, cereal, pasta, and cereal bar. Bran, though not a whole grain, is an excellent source of dietary fiber. Therefore, WBP can supply a good source of essential nutrient, especially dietary fiber.

The purpose of this study is to investigate the effect of WBP on health or lifespan and fat metabolism in *C. elegans* model. Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR) as a surrogate marker of *C. elegans* lifespan (Finley et al., 2013, Kang et al., 2007, Chow et al., 2006) was also monitored for the effect of WBP. Nile red, a lipophilic dye, stained intestinal fat deposition (IFD) was also performed by fluorescence microscope. *C. elegans* is a small, free-living soil nematode, multicellular eukaryotic organism distributed widely around the world. *C. elegans* is the first animal to have its genome completely sequenced and conserves 65% of the genes associated

with human disease (Shen et al., 2009). In *C. elegans*, 305 genes are responsible for reducing body fat and 112 genes are responsible for increasing fat storage (Ashrafi et al., 2003). Compared with a rodent model, small size, short lifespan, quick turn over, complete genetic information and their easy maintenance in the laboratory make *C. elegans* a valuable animal model while greatly reducing the time and costs required to obtain answers to research questions (Zheng and Greenway, 2011). The nematode *C. elegans* has been used extensively as a model organism for biological, neurobiology and behavioral biology research (Kuriyama and Makita, 1982). We can learn the effect of WBP on lifespan and fat deposition in *C. elegans* and directly apply to more complex organisms.

# 6.2 Materials and methods

*C. elegans* strains and the standard laboratory food source *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*, OP50, *Uracil auxotroph*) were obtained from *Caenorhabditis* Genetics Center (CGC, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN).

#### 6.2.1 Culture of *E.coli*, OP50

*E. coli* OP50 were cultured by the standard method described elsewhere (Zheng et al., 2010). Briefly, 10 µl of stock *E. coli* solution was added into LB broth solution containing 0.2% streptomycin and incubate at 37°C shake incubator overnight and was stored at 4 °C. The *E. coli* OP50 was then sub-cultured in Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> *E.coli*/Coliform Count Plates (3M Corp., St. Paul, MN) at 37°C for 24h to confirm the concentration of *E. coli* OP50. Densities of  $5 \times 10^8 - 5 \times 10^{11}$  cfu/mL were selected. The animals were allowed to eat *ad libitum*.

# 6.2.2 Culture of *C. elegans*

*C. elegans* wild type (N2), and null mutants *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I* and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III*, were used in this study. *C. elegans* was cultured on Standard

Nematode Growth Medium (NGM) Plates (Ø35mm) at 20°C or 15°C low temperature incubators. *C. elegans* was chunked to new plates seeded with OP50 each week. In order to obtain uniform aged *C. elegans* to reduce the variation in the experimental results, the mature gravid *C. elegans was* collected from a NGM agar plate with 1ml deionized water into a 1.5ml micro centrifuge tube. *C. elegans* was treated with NaOH (1M) and sodium hypochlorite solution (5.25%, 5:2 ratio) lysis solution to dissolve the *C. elegans* body and release viable eggs. The eggs were allowed to hatch overnight with gentle rocking (Fisher scientific, Waltham, MA) at room temperature. The growth of the larvae was halted at the L1 stage and spread onto OP50 pre-seeded plates.

# 6.2.3 Wheat bran (WBP) Preparation

WBP was supplied by Ardent Milles Corporate (Denver, CO). WBP was milled by Retsch<sup>®</sup> ZM200 (Newtown, PA) and was sieved through a 80µm sieve, and then was incorporated to the standard feeding medium as described by Zheng *et al.* (Zheng et al., 2010). Control animals were fed with *E. coli* OP50 only. The experimental groups were fed with additional WBP (containing 0.5%, 1.0%, or 3.0% WBP) in absence or presence of 2% glucose. *C. elegans* was transferred to a new agar plate pre-seeded with OP50 and treatments with a worm picker every other day under stereo microscope (Nikon, Melville, NY).

#### 6.2.4 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)

Digital images were taken with Retiga 4000R. The locomotion was monitored daily with ImagePro Plus (Media Cybernetics, Inc., Bethesda, MD). The pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR), a surrogate marker of lifespan, was counted every other day under a stereo microscope Nikon SMZ-1500 (Melville, NY).

6.2.5 Nile red staining for intestinal fat deposition (IFD)

Lipophilic dye, Nile red (Ashrafi et al., 2003, Yen et al., 2010), was used to stain for intestinal fat deposition (IFD). Prior to fixing the animals, the animals grown on the NGM agar plate was washed with S-Basal buffer (1ml/plate). The solution containing the animals was centrifuged at 2200×g for 20 seconds and this procedure was repeated twice. The animals were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde solution for 30 minutes at 4°C and washed with PBS for 5min ×3. Nile red solution (50µl) was added to the specimens for 30 minutes. Ten microliters of fluoromount-G solution (Southern Biotechnology Associates, Birmingham, AL) was applied on a glass slide. Ten microliters of the specimen containing Nile Red stained *C. elegans was* applied on to the glass slide. Then, a cover glass was mounted on the glass slide. The sample slides were viewed with a Nikon Eclipse *Ti* fluorescence microscope (Nikon Instrument, Melville, NY) equipped with a Texas Red filter. Fluorescent micrographs were taken with a digital camera (Andor, DU-885K). The micrographs were analyzed using NIS-elements AR3.22.11 software (Nikon Instrument, Melville, NY). Line profiles of the optical densities of Nile Red labeled IFD (arbitrary units, % of control) were determined for each group.

# 6.2.6 Reagents for qRT-PCR

The Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent (T9424), chloroform (C2432), and isopropanol (I9516) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Taqman PCR core kit (N8080228), MuLV Reverse Transcriptase (N8080018), and RNase Inhibitor (N8080119) were obtained from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). RNase free micro tubes and pipette tips were used in RNA extraction and quantitative RT-PCR.

# 6.2.7 RNA extraction

The total RNA was extracted using the Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent as described elsewhere (Ye et al., 2007). Briefly, 50-100 mg of *C.elegans* tissue was homogenized in 1ml Trizol<sup>®</sup> Reagent. The

samples went through 5 freeze-thaw cycles repeating frozen in liquid nitrogen and thawed in a 37°C water bath. The homogenized samples were vortexed at room temperature to allow the complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Cold pure chloroform (200µl) per 1ml of Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent was added and the samples were vortexed for 15s and incubated at room temperature for 5min. The samples were centrifuged at 12,000×g for 10 min at 4°C, and the top aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube. A 600µl aliquot of cold isopropanol per 1ml of Trizol<sup>®</sup> reagent was used for the initial homogenization, and the samples were incubated at room temperature for 10min, vortexed for 15s, and centrifuged at 12,000×g for 10min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet was washed once with 1ml cold 75% ethanol. The sample was vortexed and centrifuged at 7,500×g for 5min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed completely and the RNA pellet was briefly air-dried. The RNA pellet was re-suspended in 0.1% diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC)-treated water and stored at -80°C. The RNA concentration was analyzed with a Nanodrop<sup>®</sup> ND-1000 spectrophotometer (Wilmington, DE).

#### 6.2.8 Quantitative RT-PCR

The total RNA levels of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* were determined using Taqman quantitative RT-PCR. All experiments were conducted at least three times. The PCR reaction was conducted in triplicates using Taqman probe and primers set for *ckr-1*(Ce02408606\_m1), *gcy-8*(Ce02456184\_g1), *cpt-1*(Ce02440434\_m1), and *cpt-2*(Ce02459919\_g1) from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). The mRNA signal was normalized over eukaryotic 18S rRNA (4331182) internal control from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). The reaction was conducted with a 7900 HT Fast real-time PCR system (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). Reverse transcription was done at 48°C for 30 minutes; AmpliTaq gold activate was carried out at 95°C for 10 minutes; Amplification conditions are: 40 cycles of 15 s at 95°C and 1 minutes at

60°C. Post-PCR data analysis was performed using the Sequence Detector Software (Applied Biosystems). A mean value of the duplicates was used for the analysis of relative mRNA level of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2*.

#### 6.2.9 Statistical Analyses

All results were expressed as mean±sem. The data for the pharyngeal pumping rate were analyzed with ANCOVA method by SAS 9.4. The data for IFD and qRT-PCR were analyzed by ANOVA with Dunnett's test to compare the effects of the treatments (SAS 9.4). Statistical significance was set as P $\leq$ 0.05. Principle component analyses (PCA) was performed to cluster the factors of the oats results (SAS 9.4).

# 6.3 Results

6.3.1 Intestinal fat deposition (IFD)

WBP feeding at 0.5%, 1% and 3% reduced IFD by 27%, 17.5%, and 28%, respectively in the N2 strain (P<0.05), and in the presence of additional 2% glucose to the WBP also decreased IFD by 8.7%, 20%, and 22.8%. IFD decreased by 30%, 26%, and 30% in response to 0.5%, 1%, and 3% WBP feeding in the *daf-16(mgDf50)I* in the absence of glucose (P<0.05). The *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III* strain showed a similar dose-dependent reduction in IFD in response to WBP treatment. In the presence of glucose, WBP feeding did not significantly affect the IFD in the *daf-16(mgDf50)I* and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III* mutants. In the *sir-*2.1(*ok434)IV* mutant, the IFD was mildly lowered by WBP feeding (0.5%, 1%, and 3%, P>0.05) and increased by 8% and 26% by WBP (1% and 3%, P<0.05) in the presence of glucose (Figure 24).

6.3.2 Pharyngeal pumping rate (PPR)

PPR is a surrogate maker for lifespan and is declined in all groups as the animal aged. The WBP treatment (0.5%, 1%, or 3%) increased the PPR in N2, daf-16(mgDf50)I, and sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutants (n = 18 animals/3 dishes, P<0.05). In the daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65) III mutant, the PPR was not significantly mediated by WBP treatment (n = 18 animals/3 dishes). In the presence of glucose, the PPR was also persisted by 3% WBP feeding in the daf-16(mgDf50)I, by 0.5%, 1%, and 3% PWB in sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutants (n = 18 animals/3 dishes, P<0.05) (Figure 25).



Figure 24 The Nile Red stained fluorescence intensity of the C. elegans intestinal fat deposition.


Figure 25 Pharyngeal movement was sustained by the WBP treatment in *C. elegans*.

# 6.3.3 Lipid metabolism gene expression

WBP feeding at 0.5%, 1% and 3% did not significantly affect the mRNA expression of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* in the wild type *C. elegans* (N2) in the absence of glucose (P>0.05).

WBP feeding (3%) increased the mRNA expression of ckr-1, gcy-8, cpt-1, and cpt-2 in the daf-16(mgDf50)I mutant (P<0.05). The four mRNA expression was increased by 1% and 3% WBP treatments in the daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65) III mutant (P<0.05). In the sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutant, 1% WBP feeding slightly increased these four mRNA expression in the absence of glucose (P>0.05). In the presence of glucose, 0.5% and 1% WBP increased these four mRNA expression in N2 (P<0.05). In the daf-16(mgDf50)I mutant, 1% WBP feeding increased mRNA ckr-1, gcy-8, and cpt-2 expression (P<0.05). The WBP treatment did not have significantly effect on the four mRNA expression in the daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65) III and sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutants (Figure 26).

## 6.3.4 Principal component analysis (PCA)

Two factors were utilized in PCA test to determine the relationship of IFD, PPR, *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* (Figure 27). Indirect relationship between the IFD and the PPR was detected in N2, *daf-16*, and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants. The PPRs were strongly and positively related to the factor 1 in the three strains. By contrast, the IFDs were strongly and negatively related to the factor 1 in the N2 and the *daf-16/daf-2* double mutant, while it was weakly associated with factor 1 in the *daf-16* and *sir-2.1* mutant. The *cpt-1* and *cpt-2* have strong positive relation with PPR and strong negative relation with IFD while *ckr-1* and *gcy-8* are weakly associated with factor 1 in *daf-16* deficient mutants. In *daf-16/daf-2* double mutant, gcy-8 has strong positive relation with PPR and strong negative relation with IFD, but another three, *ckr-1*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* are weakly related to PPR and IFD. In *sir-2.1* deficient mutant, the IFD was weakly related to PPR while *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, and *cpt-1* strongly and negatively related with PPR.



Figure 26 The effect of WBP feeding on the mRNA ckr-1, gcy-8, cpt-1, and cpt-2 expression

## 6.4 Discussion

The effect of WBP consumption was indicated by the fluorescence intensity of Nile Red staining intestinal fat deposition (IFD), alterations in healthspan indicated by PPR, and variations in selected mRNA expression determined by qRT-PCR in four strains of *C. elegans* model with or without 2% glucose. The IFD was reduced in N2, and the *daf-16* and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants. The PPR declined with the age process of *C. elegans*, but the WBP treatment sustained the PPR in N2, *daf-16*, and *sir-2.1* deficient mutants without glucose. The PPR was also persisted by 3% WBP in *daf-16* deficient mutant and WBP (0.5, 1, and 3%) in *sir-2.1* mutant.

WBP feeding slightly increased the mRNA expression of *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* genes in N2 in the absence of glucose, but it significantly increased these four genes expression with additional glucose. In the *daf-16* and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants, these four mRNA expressions were up-regulated by WBP consumption.



Figure 27 Principal component analysis

Wheat bran as a byproduct of the milling industry has been demonstrated as an excellent source of dietary fiber (Pruckler et al., 2015). Wheat bran rich diet that has a relatively low glycemic-index (GI) and high fiber content has been associated with low appetite, high satiety response, and reduced the risk of developing type 2 diabetes (Silva et al., 2015). Our data indicate that WBP consumption has positive effect on the healthspan or lifespan in N2 but this

effect was not mediated by *daf-16* and partially mediated by *daf-2*. In the presence of glucose, the effect of WBP consumption on IFD has direct relationship with *daf-16* which is one of the key factors in the insulin signaling pathway. The effects of WBP consumption on IFD were mediated by *sir-2.1* gene which is a critical factor in the aging of *C. elegans* and other animal models.

C. elegans is the first animal to have its genome completely sequenced and more than 65% of the genes relating to human disease are conserved in C. elegans (Shen et al., 2009). In C. elegans, 305 genes are responsible for reducing body fat and 112 genes are responsible for increasing fat storage (Ashrafi et al., 2003). Hyperglycemia often coexists with hyperlipidemia. daf-16, daf-2, and age-1 are important factors in the insulin signaling pathway in C. elegans (Zheng and Greenway, 2012). The decrease in the intestinal fat deposition of C. elegans is directly indicated by the reduction of fluorescence intensity of Nile red staining which linearly correlated with the amount of body fat with a correlation coefficient of 0.998 in a previous publication (Chen et al., 2009). The reduction of fluorescence intensity of intestinal fat deposition was likely a result of a decrease in energy expenditure and muscular activity. The current study focused on the ability of fermentable fiber and RS rich WBP to reduce IFD. WBP consumption significantly reduced IFD in N2, daf-16, and daf-16/daf-2 deficient mutants, whereas the presence of glucose slightly increased IFD in daf-16 and daf-16/daf-2 deficient mutants. WBP reduced IFD even when there was insulin resistant as seen in N2 with additional glucose. However, glucose attenuated the WBP-induced IFD reduction in the daf-16 and daf-16/daf-2 deficient mutants that demonstrated that insulin signaling pathway is directly related to the lipid metabolism. Hyperglycemia is responsible for an increase in peroxisome proliferator activator alpha (PPAR $\alpha$ ) activity associated with insulin-resistance (Hostetler et al., 2008). The

reduced IFD induced by WBP consumption in the *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutant suggests that WBP may improve hyperglycemia-impaired lipid metabolism.

*daf-16, age-1, daf-2,* and serotonin receptors are related in regulating lifespan in *C. elegans* and lipid metabolism plays an important role in longevity. The PPR as a surrogate lifespan is directly proportional to the lifespan of *C. elegans.* A previous study showed that legumes that are rich in resistant starch and dietary fibers decreased IFD and increased PPR (Finley et al., 2013).

Resistant starch or Short-chain fatty acids reduce IFD in *C. elegans* (Zheng et al., 2010), increased satiety hormones GLP-1 and PYY in rodents and humans (Zhou et al., 2008, Greenway et al., 2007). In the presence of glucose, *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* are endorsed by the WBP consumption while they are slightly increased by WBP in N2. In *daf-16* and *daf-16/daf-2* deficient mutants, *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* were increased by the WBP feeding, but the presence of glucose attenuate the effect. In the *sir-2.1* null mutant, *ckr-1*, *gcy-8*, *cpt-1*, and *cpt-2* were least affected by the WBP consumption with or without additional glucose.

## **6.5 References**

- 1. ADAM, A., LEVRAT-VERNY, M. A., LOPEZ, H. W., LEUILLET, M., DEMIGNE, C. & REMESY, C. 2001. Whole wheat and triticale flours with differing viscosities stimulate cecal fermentations and lower plasma and hepatic lipids in rats. *J Nutr*, 131, 1770-6.
- 2. ANDERSON, J. W. 2004. Whole grains and coronary heart disease: the whole kernel of truth. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1459-60.
- 3. ARTERBURN, D. E., CRANE, P. K. & VEENSTRA, D. L. 2004. The efficacy and safety of sibutramine for weight loss: a systematic review. *Arch Intern Med*, 164, 994-1003.
- 4. ASHRAFI, K., CHANG, F. Y., WATTS, J. L., FRASER, A. G., KAMATH, R. S., AHRINGER, J. & RUVKUN, G. 2003. Genome-wide RNAi analysis of Caenorhabditis elegans fat regulatory genes. *Nature*, 421, 268-72.
- 5. BRAY, G. A. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2007. Pharmacological treatment of the overweight patient. *Pharmacol Rev*, 59, 151-84.
- 6. CHEN, W., ZHANG, C., SONG, L., SOMMERFELD, M. & HU, Q. 2009. A high throughput Nile red method for quantitative measurement of neutral lipids in microalgae. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 77, 41-47.
- CHOW, D. K., GLENN, C. F., JOHNSTON, J. L., GOLDBERG, I. G. & WOLKOW, C. A. 2006. Sarcopenia in the Caenorhabditis elegans pharynx correlates with muscle contraction rate over lifespan. *Experimental Gerontology*, 41, 252-260.
- 8. DELZENNE, N. M. & CANI, P. D. 2005. A place for dietary fibre in the management of the metabolic syndrome. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 8, 636-40.
- 9. FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, C., HOLIDAY.D.L, KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013. Legumes reduced intestinal fat deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.

- GREENWAY, F., O'NEIL, C. E., STEWART, L., ROOD, J., KEENAN, M. & MARTIN, R. 2007. Fourteen weeks of treatment with Viscofiber increased fasting levels of glucagon-like peptide-1 and peptide-YY. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 10, 720-724.
- 11. GREENWAY, F. L. & BRAY, G. A. 2010. Combination drugs for treating obesity. *Curr.Diab.Rep.*, 10, 108-115.
- HAUNER, H., BECHTHOLD, A., BOEING, H., BRONSTRUP, A., BUYKEN, A., LESCHIK-BONNET, E., LINSEISEN, J., SCHULZE, M., STROHM, D. & WOLFRAM, G. 2012. [Carbohydrate intake and prevention of nutrition-related diseases]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*, 137, 389-93.
- 13. HOSTETLER, H. A., HUANG, H., KIER, A. B. & SCHROEDER, F. 2008. Glucose directly links to lipid metabolism through high affinity interaction with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283, 2246-2254.
- HOTAMISLIGIL, G. S., BUDAVARI, A., MURRAY, D. & SPIEGELMAN, B. M. 1994. Reduced tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor in obesity-diabetes. Central role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *J Clin Invest*, 94, 1543-9.
- 15. KANG, C., YOU, Y. J. & AVERY, L. 2007. Dual roles of autophagy in the survival of Caenorhabditis elegans during starvation. *Genes Dev*, 21, 2161-71.
- 16. KURIYAMA, H. & MAKITA, Y. 1982. Modulation of noradrenergic transmission in the guinea-pig mesenteric artery: an electrophysiological study. *Journal of Physiology*, 335, 609-627.
- 17. POPKIN, B. M., ADAIR, L. S. & NG, S. W. 2012. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. *Nutr Rev*, 70, 3-21.
- 18. PRUCKLER, M., LORENZ, C., ENDO, A., KRALER, M., DURRSCHMID, K., HENDRIKS, K., SOARES DA SILVA, F., AUTERITH, E., KNEIFEL, W. & MICHLMAYR, H. 2015. Comparison of homo- and heterofermentative lactic acid bacteria for implementation of fermented wheat bran in bread. *Food Microbiol*, 49, 211-9.
- 19. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L. & ZHOU, J. 2009. Dietary resistant starch increases hypothalamic POMC expression in rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 40-5.

- 20. SILVA, F. M., KRAMER, C. K., CRISPIM, D. & AZEVEDO, M. J. 2015. A highglycemic index, low-fiber breakfast affects the postprandial plasma glucose, insulin, and ghrelin responses of patients with type 2 diabetes in a randomized clinical trial. *J Nutr*, 145, 736-41.
- SNOW, V., BARRY, P., FITTERMAN, N., QASEEM, A., WEISS, K. & CLINICAL EFFICACY ASSESSMENT SUBCOMMITTEE OF THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF, P. 2005. Pharmacologic and surgical management of obesity in primary care: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 525-31.
- 22. USDA, H. A. 2010. Dietary Guidelines for Americans. Available: http://www.cnpp.usda.gov/publications/dietaryguidelines/2010/policydoc/policydoc.pdf.
- 23. YE, J., GAO, Z., YIN, J. & HE, Q. 2007. Hypoxia is a potential risk factor for chronic inflammation and adiponectin reduction in adipose tissue of ob/ob and dietary obese mice. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 293, E1118-E1128.
- 24. YEN, K., LE, T. T., BANSAL, A., NARASIMHAN, S. D., CHENG, J. X. & TISSENBAUM, H. A. 2010. A comparative study of fat storage quantitation in nematode Caenorhabditis elegans using label and label-free methods. *PLoS One*, 5.
- 25. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids reduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-8.
- 26. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2011. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *Int J Obes (Lond)*.
- 27. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2012. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *International journal of obesity*, 36, 186-94.
- ZHOU, J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., SHEN, L., DANNA, S. C., TRIPATHY, S., HEGESTED, M. & KEENAN, M. J. 2008. Dietary resistant starch up-regulates total GLP-1 and PYY in a sustained daylong manner through fermentation in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295, E1160-1166.

## CHAPTER 7: GUT MICROBIOTA IN WILD TYPE CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS: STIMULATION BY MEDIA CONTAINING DIETARY FIBER FROM PROWASHONUPANA BARLEY

## 7.1 Introduction

Obesity is a rapidly increasing epidemic disease affecting a large population in developed countries without an effective cure. Safe and effective anti-obesity diets and new innovative treatment strategies are a pressing need and in high demand (Bray and Greenway, 2007). A present emerging solution affecting metabolism and providing health benefits includes the use of the dietary carbohydrate prebiotic resistant starch (RS) and its fermented products that include short chain fatty acids (SCFAs). Dietary fermentable fibers reduce energy intake by dilution of the energy density, increase satiety, elevate fat oxidation, reduce body fat, stimulate the growth of beneficial bacterial microorganisms in the colon, maintain bowel health (Tachon et al., 2013), increase gene expression of PYY and proglucagon in primary colon and cecal epithelial cells (Zhou et al., 2008), and lower plasma lipid levels, especially cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations in rodent studies (Dethlefsen et al., 2007).

Previous studies support the interaction of host and host microbiota being critical for the fitness of host organisms including development, reproduction, metabolism, immunity, and lifespan in *C. elegans*, mammals, and humans (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013). In addition, altering the microbiota through dietary changes or antibiotic usage could affect the health of the host (Maurice et al., 2013, Ikeda et al., 2007). Foods with prebiotics, including resistant starch (RS), stimulate the growth of beneficial bacterial microorganisms in the colon (Tachon et al., 2013). The colon microbiota utilizes fermentable carbohydrates as an energy source and produce SCFAs, predominantly acetate, propionate, and butyrate, among others. Increasing lines of

evidence support the concept that the gastrointestinal (GI) tract microbiota have the capacity to impact nutrition-related syndromes like type II diabetes, obesity, and aging (Turnbaugh et al., 2009).

The *C. elegans* model organism is a practical animal model for study of human diseases. We developed a platform using C. elegans to screen different sources of prebiotics and pharmaceutical compounds (Zheng et al., 2010, Finley et al., 2013, Zheng et al., 2014, Zheng and Greenway, 2012). The intestine is the largest organ in C. elegans and harbors a vast population of symbiotic microbes (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013). These nematodes have both an aerobic and an anaerobic metabolism and can survive under a hypoxic condition (Burnell et al., 2005). Oxygen or "hypoxia gradient"-oxygen deprivation diffuses bidirectionally between the intestinal tract and the external environment (Burnell et al., 2005). Zheng et al. in 2010 have demonstrated that high amylose maize RS2, its endogenous fermentation products from cecal contents of rodents fed, and their exogenous SCFA added to the media reduced in vivo intestinal fat deposition (IFD) and promoted healthspan in C. elegans (Zheng et al., 2010, Zheng and Greenway, 2012). This was also demonstrated as well with a legume (Finley et al., 2013) and *Prowashonupana* barley (PWB) which consists of 17% β-glucan and 15% fermentable starch with high amounts of complex carbohydrate (Finley et al., 2013, Rendell et al., 2005, Lifschitz et al., 2002, O'Donnell et al., 2013). These data suggested the possibility of anaerobic bacteria in the C. elegans intestinal tract fermenting dietary fibers.

Colonic anaerobic microbiota *Bifidobacteriumgenus*, *Bacteroides-Prevotella group*, *Lactobacilli, and Clostridia spp.* are necessary for fermentation of dietary fibers in humans or rodents (Keenan et al., 2013). *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* comprise more than 20 clostridia species and their total amounts were quantified using reported primers (RajilicStojanovic et al., 2007). Bacteroides-Prevotella group primers were used to enumerate the Bacteroides-Prevotella group including Prevotella and Porphyromonas spp. Bacteroides spp. that are anaerobic Gram-negative bacillus bacteria (Duncan et al., 2003). Bifidobacteriumgenus primers were used to quantify Bifidobacterium spp. that are classified under phylum Actinobacteria (Bartosch et al., 2004), a strictly Gram-positive anaerobic branched rod producing lactic and acetic acid but not CO<sub>2</sub> (Van der Meulen et al., 2006). Lactobacillus spp. primers were quantified from the genus Lactobacillus under phylum Firmicutes, which consume wide varieties of carbohydrate as a fermentation energy source which grow under aerobic conditions or intestinal anaerobic conditions (Van Dyke and McCarthy, 2002).

Although direct identification of *C. elegans* intestinal microbiota has not been reported, we and others (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013) hypothesized that feeding resistant starch to *C. elegans* should closely resemble the effect of colonic fermentation of prebiotics and produce fermentation compounds in the large intestine as in rodents or in humans, by the intestinal anaerobic microbiota. This pilot study tested whether PWB, higher in fermentable fiber and protein and lower in starch than other barley, would increase *C. elegans* intestinal anaerobic microbiota. The alterations of the population of the four predominant intestinal bacterial DNA were quantified by qRT-PCR including *Bifidobacteriumgenus*, *Bacteroides-Prevotella group*, *Lactobacillus spp., and Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* in wild type *C. elegans* treated by PWB.

## 7.2 Materials and methods

#### 7.2.1 C. elegans preparation

Using the *C. elegans* model organism does not require approval by Institutional Animal Care & Use Committees (IACUC). Wild type *C. elegans* (N2) and the standard laboratory food

source Escherichia coli (E. coli, OP50) were obtained from the Caenorhabditis Genetics Center (CGC, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN). Sterile techniques were used to avoid contamination with undesired bacteria. The detailed procedures were previously published (Zheng et al., 2010, Gao et al., Finley et al., 2013). An E. coli pellet was inoculated into a LB (Luria-Bertani) broth solution containing 0.2% streptomycin, incubated at 37°C overnight, and stored at 4°C, then plated on petrifilm (3M<sup>TM</sup> Petrifilm<sup>TM</sup> E. coli/Coliform Count Plates 6404, 3M Corp., Minneapolis, MN) at 37°C for 24h. E. coli OP50 was heat treated in a 70°C water bath (Thermo Fisher, Waltham, MA) for 15 minutes (Houthoofd et al., 2003). Densities of  $5 \times 10^8$  to  $5 \times 10^{11}$  colony forming units (cfu/ml) were selected and fed to the *C. elegans ad libitum* (Zheng et al., 2010, Yuan et al., 2012). The mixed stages of life cycled C. elegans were cultured in nematode growth medium (NGM) agar dish (Ø100mm, n=5 dishes/group) in a low temperature incubator (20°C, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) for one week. Milled PWB (Ardent Milles, Denver, CO) was sieved (80µm) to a fine powder and incorporated to the standard feeding medium as previously described (Zheng et al., 2010). Control animals were fed the E. coli (OP50) only, the experimental group received additional PWB (1% w/v) for one week, followed by removal of OP50 for 3 days for both groups to removal of unwanted bacteria when nematodes were harvested for measuring intestinal bacteria. The animals then were harvested and washed with sterilized M9 buffer x5 to remove any external bacteria (Montalvo-Katz et al., 2013), and total material of  $30\pm5$ mg/dish ( $\approx7\times10^3$   $\sim8\times10^3$  C. elegans) was recovered. To differentiate the intestinal anaerobic bacterial DNA from extra-intestinal C. elegans' DNA, the supernatant of the last wash was also saved for DNA extraction. Both negative DNA results of the supernatant and the aerobic experimental condition would support the DNA extracted from the nematodes as being of intestinal origin.

#### 7.2.2 Anaerobic bacteria culture

Five bacteria were cultured individually overnight and serial dilutions were made for analysis of four genera of bacteria: *Lactobacillus plantarum* strain ATCC 4163, *Clostridium coccoides* strain ATCC 29236, *Bacteroides fragilis* strain ATCC 23745, *Bifidobacterium longum* strain ATCC 15708, *E. coli* strain ATCC 25922, and all were used to construct standard curves for four genera and the *E.coli* strain was used for the total bacterial (16S universal) domain standard curve (Keenan et al., 2013, Senevirathne, 2010).

Five culture and quantification conditions were used to determine the total cfu/ml. Luria Broth (Difco Laboratories, Detroit, Michigan, USA) was used to grow total *E. coli* aerobically at 37°C for 24 hrs. de *Man-Rogosa*-Sharpe Agar (MRS agar, Difco Laboratories, Detroit, Michigan, USA) was used to culture *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Brewer Modified Thioglycollate medium (TMBM plates, BD Diagnostic Systems, Sparks, Maryland) was used to culture *Bifidobacterium longum* and *Bacteroides fragilis* and determine bacterial counts. A reinforced Clostridial agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) was used for *Clostridium coccoides* counts. The MRS agar plates were anaerobically incubated at 30°C for 48 hr, while the TMBM agar plates and the reinforced *Clostridial* agar plates were anaerobically incubated at 37°C for 3 to 4 days in a chemically generated anaerobic system using an *anaerobic box* GasPak<sup>TM</sup> EZ (Mitsubishi Gas Chemical America, Inc., New York, NY).

Serial dilutions of each bacterial extraction were prepared for generating standard curves and DNA quantification (ng/µl). Ct values from the *C. elegans* were quantified from the standard curves of high efficiency ( $\underline{E=10^{-1/slope}}$ , >90%) to determine the amount of DNA extraction (ng/µl). The intestinal bacterial DNA (cfu/ml) was determined (slope/efficiency) with the following criteria: *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (-3.38/97.6%), *Bifidobacteriumgenus* (- 3.60/90%), and *Clostridium* Cluster XIVa and XIVb (-3.43/96%), *Lactobacillus spp.* (-3.39/97%), and 16S universal (-3.48/94%).

#### 7.2.3 Genomic DNA extraction

The method of modified rapid isolation of genomic DNA from human and animal stool samples by Keenan *et al* has been described elsewhere (Keenan et al., 2013). Briefly, in this study the DNA of each bacterial serial dilution or the intestinal bacteria from the *C. elegans* was isolated using the QIAamp DNA Stool Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Valencia, CA) and quantified (Nanodrop<sup>®</sup> ND-1000 spectrophotometer, Wilmington, DE).

## 7.2.4 Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) assay

DNA extracted from the *C. elegans* was used for qRT-PCR assay ( $2ng/\mu l$ ). The primers were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA): *Bacteroides Prevotella group* (Bartosch et al., 2004), *Bifidobacterium genus* (Bartosch et al., 2004), *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa* and *XIVab* (Matsuki et al., 2002) and *Lactobacillus spp*. (Haarman and Knol, 2006) (Table 16). Primers targeting universal hypovariable regions of the16S ribosomal DNA gene (16SrDNA) were used to estimate the total bacterial counts (Belenguer et al., 2006). The amplification thresholds (Ct) of all samples were analyzed in duplicate (SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green PCR master mix, ABI PRISM 7900 Sequence Detection System, and SDS 2.4, Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY). The amount of bacterial DNA extraction from the anaerobic culture was quantified by qRT-PCR (Ct), which was correlated with the bacteria populations (cfu/ml), and standard curves were generated (Figure 28). The amount of unknown DNA of intestinal bacteria extracted from the *C. elegans* was quantified using the standard curves.

7.2.5 Statistical analysis

Data were presented as mean $\pm$ sem. A factorial arrangement of the treatments (two-way ANOVA) with Dunnett's test was used to compare the effects of the treatments (SAS 9.4). Statistical significance is set as P $\leq$ 0.05.

Table 16 Quantitative real-time PCR primers used to profile intestinal samples

Targeted bacteria	Sequence of oligonucleotide	Reference
16S Universal Primers	F – GTGSTGCAYGGYYGTCA	(Belenguer et
	R-ACGTCRTCCMCNCCTTCCTC	al., 2006)
Bacteroidetes group	$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{G} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{G} \mathbf{G} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{T} \mathbf{G}$	(Bartosch et
including <i>Prevotella</i> and		
Porphyromonas	R-GGGTGGTAATGCCGGATG	al., 2004)
Bifidobacterium spp.	F – GGGTGGTAATGCCGGATG	(Bartosch et
	R- TAAGCCATGGACTTTCACACC	al., 2004)
Clostridium Cluster IV		
(Clostridium lantum		(Van Dyke
(Closinalian lepian	F – TTACTGGGTGTAAAGGG	and
subgroup, includes	$\mathbf{R}_{-}$ TAGAGTGCTCTTGCGTA	McCarthy
Faecalibacterium	R- Monoroererroeora	and a second sec
prausnutzii)		2002)
Clostridium Cluster XIVa		
and XIVb (Clostridium	F – AAATGACGGTACCTGACTAA	(Matsuki et
coccoides – Eubacterium	R- CTTTGAGTTTCATTCTTGCGAA	al., 2002)
<i>rectale</i> subgroup)		ull, 2002)
		(Haarman
Lactobacillus spp.	F – TGGATGCCTTGGCACTAGGA	
	R- AAATCTCCGGATCAAAGCTTACTTAT	and Knol,
		2006)

## 7.3 Results

The anaerobic bacteria (cfu/ml) were detected in the extracted total genomic DNA by specific primer sets that represented several genera, which indicated that it was of intestinal origin (Table 16) because no bacterial DNA was detected in the last wash supernatant of the nematodes done before DNA extraction of the nematodes.

The amount of unknown DNA of intestinal bacteria extracted from the *C. elegans* was quantified by qRT-PCR, and the populations of the target bacteria were calculated using the

standard curves. The bacterial counts in control group were: *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (0.56 cfu/ml), *Bifidobacteriumgenus* (1.4 cfu/ml), or *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* (6.26x10<sup>4</sup> cfu/ml), or *Lactobacillus spp.* (4.01x10<sup>8</sup> cfu/ml). *Lactobacillus spp.* had the highest population which was  $7.16 \times 10^8$ -fold higher than *Bacteroides-Prevotella group*, or  $2.86 \times 10^8$ -fold more than *Bifidobacteriumgenus*, or  $6.4x10^3$ -fold greater than *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb*, while the population of *Lactobacillus spp.* did not change in PWB treated group (2.21x10<sup>8</sup> cfu/ml, P=0.2251, n=5). PWB treatment increased the bacterial counts in *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (2.64 cfu/ml, P=0.007), *Bifidobacteriumgenus* (3.51 cfu/ml, P<0.001), and *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* (3.96x10<sup>5</sup> cfu/ml, P=0.0353, Figure 29). Post PWB treatment, the *Lactobacillus spp.* was reduced (50%) while other anaerobic bacterial species was increased in the following order: *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* (633%), *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (472%), or *Bifidobacteriumgenus* (250%, Figure 30).



Figure 28 Standard curves for Lactobacillus spp., Clostridium Cluster XIVa and XIVb, Bacteroides-Prevotella group, Bifidobacteriumgenus and E. coli (ATCC 25922).



149

Figure 29 Total population by colony-forming units (cfu/ml) of the tested bacteria in the wild type *C. elegans*.



Figure 30 PWB (1%) treatment increased the total DNA of the tested bacteria (P<0.05). The increase of the anaerobic bacteria was in the following order: *Clostridium* Cluster XIVa and XIVb (633%) > *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (472%) > *Bifidobacterium genus* (250%).

## 7.4 Discussion

We previously demonstrated that dietary fibers reduce IFD and promote healthspan in the *C. elegans* model organism (Zheng et al., 2010, Finley et al., 2013), as has been shown by others in rodents (Tachon et al., 2013) and humans (Rendell et al., 2005). The fact that "Oxygen or 'hypoxia gradient'-oxygen deprivation diffuses bidirectionally between the intestinal tract and the external environment" (Burnell et al., 2005) supports the hypothesis that *C. elegans* intestinal tract contain anaerobic bacteria and prebiotics can alter the bacteria microbiota composition to improve the health of the host (Burnell et al., 2005). This pilot study tested whether anaerobic bacteria inhabited the intestine of the *C. elegans* and if a prebiotic, PWB can increase specific genera of anaerobic bacteria. Four predominant intestinal bacteria normally found in humans

and rodents were detected and quantified by qRT-PCR in wild type *C. elegans* by specific DNA primer sets representing at the genus level of taxonomy. These anaerobic bacteria, except four *Lactobacillus spp.*, were increased in the PWB (1%) treated group. The majority of species in the human GI tract belong to two phyla, the *firmicutes* and *Bacteroides-Prevotella group* (Turnbaugh et al., 2006). *Lactobacillus spp.*, and *Clostridium* Cluster *XIVa and XIVb* are members of phylum *Firmicutes* (Bell, 1969). *Bacteroides spp*, *Bifidobacterium spp*, and *Lactobacillus spp* ferment RS to produce acetate, propionate, succinate, and lactate, but not butyrate (Sekirov et al., 2010, Haarman and Knol, 2006, Duncan et al., 2003, Louis et al., 2007, Dethlefsen et al., 2007). *Clostridium* Cluster *IV* and *Clostridium* Cluster *XIV* are two major bacterial genera that have species that produce butyrate (Belenguer et al., 2006, Louis et al., 2007). The high population of *Lactobacillus spp*.in the present study is likely due to the survival characteristics in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions based on the oxygen gradient mentioned earlier.

Prebiotic intake, like type 2 RS from high-amylose maize, is directly associated with an increase in the total bacterial population in fecal samples and their production of fermentation products like SCFAs. SCFA's stimulate production of gut satiety hormones, augment food digestion and GI motility, elevate energy expenditure, promote insulin sensitivity, boost mitochondrial function, augment drug metabolism, inhibit pathogens, produce vitamins, and enhance the health of the host in species ranging from *C. elegans*, rodents, to human (Zheng et al., 2010, Cabreiro and Gems, 2013, Keenan et al., 2013, Turnbaugh et al., 2006, Dethlefsen et al., 2007, Wang et al., 1996, Flint, 2012). In addition, prebiotics alter the composition and population of intestinal microbiota by enhancing the growth of beneficial bacteria which extract

energy from polysaccharides including RS (Turnbaugh et al., 2006) and regulate host metabolism by the xenobiotic cues perceived in the intestine (Cabreiro and Gems, 2013, Shen et al., 2009).

Freshly isolated *C. elegans* from the wild often harbor diverse bacteria in their gut or associated with their bodies (Bumbarger et al., 2013, Foll et al., 1999). To avoid extra-intestinal bacteria contamination, we washed the animals a total of five times and performed bacteria DNA extraction from the supernatant of the last wash from which bacterial DNA was not detected. The control animals had reduced numbers in their anaerobic bacterial populations of CC14a & CC14b, *Bacteroides-Prevotella group*, and *Bifidobacteriumgenus*. The animals receiving the PWB had increases in the intestinal anaerobic bacterial number attributed to the carbohydrate rich in RS of PWB, and to other fibers that reduced dietary energy density. Detection of the elevated levels of DNA from the anaerobic bacteria in the PWB treated animals demonstrated that dietary changes can alter the host-microbiota and increase subgroups of anaerobic bacterial populations. Fermentable dietary fibers in PWB, such as RS or their fermentation products SCFAs, can extend

lifespan and reduce intestinal fat deposition in the *C. elegans* model organism (Zheng et al., 2010), and the microbiota appears to be associated with these improved health effects of fermentable fiber in *C. elegans*.

#### 7.5 Conclusions

This preliminary study demonstrated that four predominant anaerobic bacteria genera were present in the intestine of *C. elegans* and there was an increase in the total bacterial population with PWB (1%) treatment. The detected anaerobic bacterial DNA expression proved the general concept for the first time that the *C. elegans* intestinal tract is inhabited by anaerobic bacteria capable of fermenting dietary fibers. PWB altered the intestinal microbiota of the *C*. *elegans* presumably by intestinal fermentation of dietary fibers. The results will be pursued with further genomic DNA sequencing to determine the full range of different bacterial species in the *C. elegans* intestine. Further mechanistic studies will also be conducted to identify genetic and functional pathways like genetic manipulations of aging and insulin signaling pathways, the use of various fermentable fibers and the fermentation products of those fibers. These studies will expand research on the potential health benefits of dietary carbohydrate consumption in humans.

## 7.6 References

- 1. BARTOSCH, S., FITE, A., MACFARLANE, G. T. & MCMURDO, M. E. 2004. Characterization of bacterial communities in feces from healthy elderly volunteers and hospitalized elderly patients by using real-time PCR and effects of antibiotic treatment on the fecal microbiota. Appl Environ Microbiol, 70, 3575-81.
- 2. BELENGUER, A., DUNCAN, S. H., CALDER, A. G., HOLTROP, G., LOUIS, P., LOBLEY, G. E. & FLINT, H. J. 2006. Two routes of metabolic cross-feeding between Bifidobacterium adolescentis and butyrate-producing anaerobes from the human gut. Appl Environ Microbiol, 72, 3593-9.
- 3. BELL, C. 1969. Transmission from vasoconstrictor and vasodilator nerves to single smooth muscle cells of the guinea-pig uterine artery. Journal of Physiology, 205, 695-708.
- BRAY, G. A. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2007. Pharmacological treatment of the overweight 4. patient. Pharmacol Rev, 59, 151-84.
- 5. BUMBARGER, DANIEL J., RIEBESELL, M., RÖDELSPERGER, C. & SOMMER, RALF J. 2013. System-wide Rewiring Underlies Behavioral Differences in Predatory and Bacterial-Feeding Nematodes. Cell, 152, 109-119.
- BURNELL, A. M., HOUTHOOFD, K., O'HANLON, K. & VANFLETEREN, J. R. 2005. 6. Alternate metabolism during the dauer stage of the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. Exp Gerontol, 40, 850-6.
- 7. CABREIRO, F. & GEMS, D. 2013. Worms need microbes too: microbiota, health and aging in Caenorhabditis elegans. EMBO Mol Med, 5, 1300-10.
- 8. DETHLEFSEN, L., MCFALL-NGAI, M. & RELMAN, D. A. 2007. An ecological and evolutionary perspective on human-microbe mutualism and disease. Nature, 449, 811-8.
- 9. DUNCAN, S. H., SCOTT, K. P., RAMSAY, A. G., HARMSEN, H. J., WELLING, G. W., STEWART, C. S. & FLINT, H. J. 2003. Effects of alternative dietary substrates on competition between human colonic bacteria in an anaerobic fermentor system. Appl Environ Microbiol, 69, 1136-42.
- 10. FINLEY, J. W., SANDLIN, С., HOLIDAY.D.L, KEENAN, M. J., PRINYAWIWATKUL, W. & ZHENG, J. 2013. Legumes reduced intestinal fat 154

deposition in the Caenorhabditis elegans model system. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 1487-1493.

- 11. FLINT, H. J. 2012. The impact of nutrition on the human microbiome. *Nutr Rev*, 70 Suppl 1, S10-3.
- FOLL, R. L., PLEYERS, A., LEWANDOVSKI, G. J., WERMTER, C., HEGEMANN, V. & PAUL, R. J. 1999. Anaerobiosis in the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol*, 124, 269-80.
- 13. GAO, C., GAO, Z., GREENWAY, F. L., JOHNSON, W. D., KEENAN, M. J., ENRIGHT, F. M., MARTIN, R. J., CHU, Y. & ZHENG, J. 2015. Oat consumption reduced intestinal fat deposition and improved healthspan in Caenorhabditis elegans model. *Nutrition Research*.
- 14. HAARMAN, M. & KNOL, J. 2006. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of fecal Lactobacillus species in infants receiving a prebiotic infant formula. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 2359-65.
- 15. HOUTHOOFD, K., BRAECKMAN, B. P., JOHNSON, T. E. & VANFLETEREN, J. R. 2003. Life extension via dietary restriction is independent of the Ins/IGF-1 signalling pathway in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Experimental Gerontology*, 38, 947-954.
- 16. IKEDA, T., YASUI, C., HOSHINO, K., ARIKAWA, K. & NISHIKAWA, Y. 2007. Influence of lactic acid bacteria on longevity of Caenorhabditis elegans and host defense against salmonella enterica serovar enteritidis. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73, 6404-6409.
- KEENAN, M. J., JANES, M., ROBERT, J., MARTIN, R. J., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., PELKMAN, C., TULLEY, R., GOITA, M., DURHAM, H. A., ZHOU, J. & SENEVIRATHNE, R. N. 2013. Resistant starch from high amylose maize (HAM-RS2) reduces body fat and increases gut bacteria in ovariectomized (OVX) rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 21, 981-4.
- 18. LIFSCHITZ, C. H., GRUSAK, M. A. & BUTTE, N. F. 2002. Carbohydrate digestion in humans from a beta-glucan-enriched barley is reduced. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 2593-6.

- 19. LOUIS, P., SCOTT, K. P., DUNCAN, S. H. & FLINT, H. J. 2007. Understanding the effects of diet on bacterial metabolism in the large intestine. *J Appl Microbiol*, 102, 1197-208.
- 20. MATSUKI, T., WATANABE, K., FUJIMOTO, J., MIYAMOTO, Y., TAKADA, T., MATSUMOTO, K., OYAIZU, H. & TANAKA, R. 2002. Development of 16S rRNAgene-targeted group-specific primers for the detection and identification of predominant bacteria in human feces. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 68, 5445-51.
- 21. MAURICE, C. F., HAISER, H. J. & TURNBAUGH, P. J. 2013. Xenobiotics shape the physiology and gene expression of the active human gut microbiome. *Cell*, 152, 39-50.
- 22. MONTALVO-KATZ, S., HUANG, H., APPEL, M. D., BERG, M. & SHAPIRA, M. 2013. Association with soil bacteria enhances p38-dependent infection resistance in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Infect Immun*, 81, 514-20.
- 23. O'DONNELL, M. M., O'TOOLE, P. W. & ROSS, R. P. 2013. Catabolic flexibility of mammalian-associated lactobacilli. *Microb Cell Fact*, 12, 48.
- 24. RAJILIC-STOJANOVIC, M., SMIDT, H. & DE VOS, W. M. 2007. Diversity of the human gastrointestinal tract microbiota revisited. *Environ Microbiol*, 9, 2125-36.
- RENDELL, M., VANDERHOOF, J., VENN, M., SHEHAN, M. A., ARNDT, E., RAO, C. S., GILL, G., NEWMAN, R. K. & NEWMAN, C. W. 2005. Effect of a barley breakfast cereal on blood glucose and insulin response in normal and diabetic patients. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 60, 63-7.
- 26. SEKIROV, I., RUSSELL, S. L., ANTUNES, L. C. & FINLAY, B. B. 2010. Gut microbiota in health and disease. *Physiol Rev*, 90, 859-904.
- 27. SENEVIRATHNE, R. N. 2010. Effect of resistant starch on microbial content of the intestinal tract. *PhD Thesis, Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College, Baton Rouge*
- 28. SHEN, L., KEENAN, M. J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L. & ZHOU, J. 2009. Dietary resistant starch increases hypothalamic POMC expression in rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 17, 40-5.

- 29. TACHON, S., ZHOU, J., KEENAN, M., MARTIN, R. & MARCO, M. L. 2013. The intestinal microbiota in aged mice is modulated by dietary resistant starch and correlated with improvements in host responses. *FEMS Microbiol.Ecol.*, 83, 299-309.
- TURNBAUGH, P. J., HAMADY, M., YATSUNENKO, T., CANTAREL, B. L., DUNCAN, A., LEY, R. E., SOGIN, M. L., JONES, W. J., ROE, B. A., AFFOURTIT, J. P., EGHOLM, M., HENRISSAT, B., HEATH, A. C., KNIGHT, R. & GORDON, J. I. 2009. A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. *Nature*, 457, 480-4.
- TURNBAUGH, P. J., LEY, R. E., MAHOWALD, M. A., MAGRINI, V., MARDIS, E. R. & GORDON, J. I. 2006. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*, 444, 1027-31.
- 32. VAN DER MEULEN, R., MAKRAS, L., VERBRUGGHE, K., ADRIANY, T. & DE VUYST, L. 2006. In vitro kinetic analysis of oligofructose consumption by Bacteroides and Bifidobacterium spp. indicates different degradation mechanisms. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 72, 1006-12.
- 33. VAN DYKE, M. I. & MCCARTHY, A. J. 2002. Molecular biological detection and characterization of Clostridium populations in municipal landfill sites. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 68, 2049-53.
- 34. WANG, R. F., CAO, W. W. & CERNIGLIA, C. E. 1996. PCR detection and quantitation of predominant anaerobic bacteria in human and animal fecal samples. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 62, 1242-7.
- YUAN, Y., KADIYALA, C. S., CHING, T. T., HAKIMI, P., SAHA, S., XU, H., YUAN, C., MULLANGI, V., WANG, L., FIVENSON, E., HANSON, R. W., EWING, R., HSU, A. L., MIYAGI, M. & FENG, Z. 2012. Enhanced energy metabolism contributes to the extended life span of calorie-restricted Caenorhabditis elegans. *J Biol Chem*, 287, 31414-26.
- 36. ZHENG, J., ENRIGHT, F., KEENAN, M., FINLEY, J., ZHOU, J., YE, J., GREENWAY, F., SENEVIRATHNE, R. N., GISSENDANNER, C. R., MANAOIS, R., PRUDENTE, A., KING, J. M. & MARTIN, R. 2010. Resistant starch, fermented resistant starch, and short-chain fatty acids feduce intestinal fat deposition in Caenorhabditis elegans *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 4744-4748.

- 37. ZHENG, J. & GREENWAY, F. L. 2012. Caenorhabditis elegans as a model for obesity research. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 36, 186-94.
- 38. ZHENG, J., GREENWAY, F. L., HEYMSFIELD, S. B., JOHNSON, W. D., KING, J. F., KING, M. J., GAO, C., CHU, Y. F. & FINLEY, J. W. 2014. Effects of three intense sweeteners on fat storage in the C. elegans model. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 215C, 1-6.
- 39. ZHOU, J., MARTIN, R. J., TULLEY, R. T., RAGGIO, A. M., MCCUTCHEON, K. L., SHEN, L., DANNA, S. C., TRIPATHY, S., HEGESTED, M. & KEENAN, M. J. 2008. Dietary resistant starch up-regulates total GLP-1 and PYY in a sustained daylong manner through fermentation in rodents. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 295, E1160-1166.

#### **CHAPTER 8: CONCLUSIONS**

This study indicated that SCFAs including butyrate, low dose acetate and tributyrin increased the lifespan of N2 and daf-16(mgDf50)I *C. elegans* while reduced the lifespan in the daf-16/daf-2 deficient and sir-2.1(ok434)IV mutants. The IFD was reduced by butyrate (0.3, 0.6mM), acetate (100mM), propionate (0.3mM), and tributyrin (0.1, 1mM) in N2; and was increased in sir-2.1 null mutant. High dose of sodium acetate or tributyrin negatively affected the lifespan that indicate that SCFAs alter the lifespan of *C. elegans* is in a dose dependent way. The insulin signaling pathway is a key factor in the regulation the lifespan of *C. elegans* model. Our results demonstrated that the regulation of longevity by SCFAs is partially dependent on the daf-16 gene and dependent on daf-2 gene. The SCFAs increased the lifespan of *C. elegans* was dependent on another longevity gene, sir-2.1.

Our data demonstrated that PWB sustained the healthspan in N2, daf-16(mgDf50)I, and daf-16(mgDf50)I; daf-2(m65)III with or without hyperglycemia. High dose of PWB also sustained healthspan of *C. elegans* in *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*. Additionally, the health benefits of PWB also was indicated by the reduction of IFD and the deceleration of insulin-resistance in the *C. elegans* model system which appeared to be primarily mediated via *sir-2.1, daf-16,* and *daf-16/daf-2*. These effects were attenuated by hyperglycaemia on IFD in N2 or *daf-16/daf-2* mutant. The functional components of PWB including  $\beta$ -glucan and phenolics, may provide more advantages in weight loss and obesity prevention.

The N2, *daf-16*, or *sir-2.1* mutant increased the PPR following oat consumption. Oatfeeding decreased IFD in N2, and *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutant with or without hyperglycaemia. Oats also induced an improvement in insulin sensitivity. Unique component, Avns and  $\beta$ -glucan, indicate oats as a functional food can be incorporated into the daily diet in various ways including improve the public health.

Wheat bran also sustained the heathspan in N2, *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*, *daf-16(mgDf50)I*, and *daf-16(mgDf50)I;daf-2(m65)III*. This increase persisted in the presence of glucose at a low dose in *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutant. Wheat bran reduced IFD in N2, *sir-2.1* or *daf-16* null mutants. Wheat bran reduced IFD in N2, and in *daf-16* or *daf-16/daf-2* mutants without hyperglycemia, while hyperglycemia increased IFD in *sir-2.1(ok434)IV*.

The pilot study of gut microbiota in *C. elegans* indicated that four predominant anaerobic bacteria genera were present in the intestine of *C. elegans*. The detected anaerobic bacterial DNA expression provided evidence to indicate that the *C. elegans* intestinal tract is inhabited by anaerobic bacteria capable of fermenting dietary fibers. Intestinal fermentation of dietary fibers altered the intestinal microbiota divisions presumably.

In summary, PWB, oats, wheat bran, and SCFAs reduced the IFD and improved the healthspan in *C. elegans*, and these effects were mediated by the *sir-2.1*, *daf-2*, or *daf-2/daf-16* pathways. This could result in future improvements in public health. The identified optimal functional food components may be incorporated in various ways into daily diet, because these are already known to have acceptability as food, and have been tested in clinical trials. A broader test of other sources of the functional components of PWB, such as,  $\beta$ -glucan, may provide more advantageous weight loss and obesity prevention. *C. elegans* is an attractive *in vivo* animal model for initial studies of nutrition interventions prior to confirmation in higher animal species.

# **APPENDIX:**

Permission letter for using published manuscripts in dissertation

Chenfei Gao, a native of Hebei, China, received his bachelor's degree at the Hebei University of Science and Technology majoring in Biotechnology in 2006. Thereafter, he worked in local agricultural institution. As his interest in food science and nutrition, he made the decision to enter graduate school in the Department of Food Science at Louisiana State University. He entered Louisiana State University in 2009 for his Graduate studies and graduated in August 2011 with a master degree from Department of Food Science. As he is highly passionate in Food Science and nutrition, he continued to study dietary resistant starch and other bioactive compounds that improve health using *C. elegans* model and pursued the Doctor of Philosophy degree in the School of Nutrition & Food Sciences under the supervision of Dr. Jolene Zheng and Dr. Finley. During these years' study, he has gained solid theoretical knowledge in food science and got rich practical experience in conducting research and lab management. He expects to receive his Doctoral degree in Dec 2015 and plans to begin work in food industry upon graduation.